C- Phycocyanin and Celecoxib, selective COX- 2 inhibitors, induce apoptosis in chronic myeioid leukemia cell line - K562

Thesis submitted for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

by

J. SUBHASHINI



Department of Animal Sciences School of Life Sciences University of Hyderabad Hyderabad-500 **046. INDIA**

October 2003 Enrolment No. **99LAPH01**



Dedicated to Almighty & Beloved Parents



University of Hyderabad (A Central University established in 1974 by act of parliament) HYDERABAD - 500 046, INDIA

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that the work embodied in this thesis entitled " *C-Phycocyanin* and *Celecoxib, selective COX-2 inhibitors, induce apoptosis in chronic myeloid leukemia cell line-K562* " has been carried out by me under the supervision of Prof. P. Reddanna and this has not been submitted for any degree or diploma of any other university earlier.

- 24/10/03

Prof. P. Reddanna (Research Supervisor)

Subhal him. J

J. Subhashini (Research Scholar)



University of Hyderabad (Central University established in 1974 by act of parliament) HYDERABAD - 500 046, INDIA

CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that **Miss. J. Subhashini** has carried out the research work embodied in the present thesis under my supervision and guidance for a full period prescribed under the Ph.D. ordinance of this University. We recommend her thesis "*C-Phycocyanin and Celecoxib, selective COX-2 inhibitors, induce apoptosis in chronic myeloid leukemia cell line-K562* " for submission for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy of this University.

Head Department of Animal Sciences

Dean School of Life Sciences

Prof. P. Reddanna

Supervisor

Acknowledgements

I express my deepest sense of gratitude to my *supervisor*, **Prof. P. Reddanna**, for giving me this opportunity to work in his laboratory. His help, advise, dedication and remarkable knowledge covering extraordinarily nimble vision have been invaluable for my thesis work.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Prof. P. R. K. Reddy, Department of Animal Sciences, University of Hyderabad for his suggestions as well as constant encouragement.

I am thankful to the Head, Oept. of. Animal Sciences and the bean, School of life sciences for providing the necessary facilities for my research. Also I would like to thank all my teachers.

I acknowledge the financial assistance from Council of Scientific and Industrial Research.

I express my thankfulness to Or. Ashok Khar, CCMB and **Dr** Sriram Rajagopal, Or. Reddy's Research Foundation, Hyderabad for enabling me obtaining FACS analysis and **ELISA** reader.

Words fail to express my feelings towards my brother, who had been so patient and showed me how to be strong. I would never forget what he had done for me.

Special thanks go to Mahipal and *Mallikarjun*, the two major 'victims' of my innumerable data questions that required subtle judgments. No matter how much I 'tortured' them, they would immediately get back to me with much insightful comments.

This documentation could not have been written without the help of Or. 6. V. Reddy. I appreciate the help, support and encouragement provided by my friends Aparna, Gayathri, Vani, Prabha and Bharghavi who made my stay in this University a memorable event of my life.

I feel happy to have Krishna **Mukar**ji and Roy as my intimate juniors. Here I take the opportunity to thank all my lab members Sreekanth, Anil, Bharath, Arunasree and Chandra Mohan.

My heartfelt thanks to the seniors Or. P. Srinivas Reddy, Or. M. Narasa Reddy, Or. *G.* Kiranmai, Or. C. Madhava Reddy, and Miss Sunitha.

I feel short of words to express my gratefulness to my senior Arun Kumar for his help. My Special thanks go to DRF friends - Mrs. Akhila, Mr. Suresh, Mr. **Ajay** and Mrs. Prashanthi, L VPEI friends Or. Bindu Madhav Reddy and Dr. Sita and my senior Kalavathi.

I am gratified by the tremendous and instantaneous help offered by Shiva Kumar. Assistance from the non teaching employees of the School of Life Sciences, especially Ankinedu garu, and Lab assistants, Nagesh, Balaram and *Shivaram* is appreciated.

Last and most importantly, I would like to thank my family for their greatest love and support. This dissertation is cordially devoted to them.

J. Subhashini

CONTENTS

List of figures	i
List of tables	ii
Abbreviations	iii
Introduction	1
1.1 Cancers	
1.2 Leukemia	
1.3 Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs as chemopreventives	
1.4 Cyclooxygenases	
1.5 Apoptosis	
1.6 Molecular markers of apoptosis	
1.7 Telomerase	
Materials & Methods	34
2.1 Materials	
2.2 Cell culture and treatment	
2.3 Cell proliferation assay	
2.4 Morphological differentiation	
2.5 Analysis of nuclear morphology	
2.6 Scanning electron microscopy	
2.7 Transmission electron microscopy	
2.8 DNA fragmentation assay	
2.9 Quantification of Apoptosis by flow cytometry	
2.10 Preparation of whole cell extracts and immunoblot analysis	
2.11 Detection of cytochrome c release	
2.12 Measurement of PKC activity	
2.13 Extraction, purification and characterization of C-PC	

- 2.14 Assay of telomerase activity
- 2.15 Statistical analysis

Results

- 3.1 Effects of C-PC and Celecoxib on K562 cells
- 3.2 Effect of C-PC and Celecoxib on COX-1 and COX-2 protein expression levels
- 3.3 Morphological and ultrastructural changes
- 3.3.1 Phase contrast microscopy
- 3.3.2 Fluorescence microscopic studies
- 3.3.3 Ultra-structural changes- SEM, TEM
- 3.3.4 C-PC and Celecoxib induced DNA fragmentation in K562 cells
- 3.4 DNA content assay by fluorescence activated cell sorter
- 3.5 Signal transduction pathways
- 3.5.1 C-PC and Celecoxib treatment evokes cytochrome *c* release
- 3.5.2 PARP cleavage in response to C-PC and Celecoxib treatment
- 3.5.3 Bcl-2/Bax ratio modulation
- 3.5.4 c-Myc expression and modulation
- 3.5.5 Effect of C-PC and Celecoxib on PKC activity
- 3.6 Purification of C-PC from Spirulina platensis
- 3.7 Effect of C-PC- mechanistic studies
- 3.7.1 Immunolocalization
- 3.7.2 Expression of stress proteins
- 3.7.3 C-PC suppressing telomerase activity of K562 cell

Discussion	6	
Summary	75	
References	81	

LIST OF FIGURES

- FIG 1: Classification of Leukemia.
- FIG 2: Molecular genetics of CML
- FIG 3: Cyclooxygenase-2: The target for new class of NSAIDs.
- FIG 4: Possible mechanisms of NSAIDs induced apoptosis.
- FIG 5: Role of cyclooxygenase-2 in cancer.
- FIG 6: Structure of C-PC.
- FIG 7: Chemical structure of Celecoxib.
- FIG 8: An overview of apoptotic signaling pathways.
- FIG 9: Telomerase and cancer.
- FIG 10: Telomerase activity assay- TRAP-ELISA method.
- FIG 11: Effect of C-PC on cell proliferation in K562 cells (MTT Assay).
- FIG 12: Effect of Celecoxib on cell proliferation in K562 cells (MTT assay).
- FIG13: Western blot analysis showing the effect of C-PC and Celecoxib on COX-1 protein expression in K562 cells.
- FIG 14: Western blot analysis showing the effects of C-PC and Celecoxib on COX-2 protein expression in K562 cells.
- FIG 15: Phase contrast photomicrographs showing the effect of C-PC and Celecoxib in K562 cells.
- FIG 16: Fluorescence microscopic studies showing C-PC and Celecoxib induced nuclear DNA fragmentation in K562 cells stained with DAPI.
- FIG 17: Scanning electron micrographs showing C-PC treated K562 cells.
- FIG 18: Transmission electron micrographs of C-PC and Celecoxib treated K562 cells.
- FIG19: Agarose gel electrophoresis showing internucleosomal DNA fragmentation induced by C-PC and Celecoxib in K562 cells.
- FIG 20: Quantification of apoptosis by FACS.
- FIG 21: Western blot analysis showing C-PC and Celecoxib induced release of cytochrome c into the cytosol in K562 cells.

- FIG 22: Western blot analysis showing release of cytochrome c into the cytosol in K562 cells treated with C-PC for different time periods.
- FIG 23: Western blot analysis showing the cleavage of PARP in cell extracts of C-PC and Celecoxib treated cells.
- FIG 24: Immunoblot analysis of Bcl-2 expression in K562 cells treated with C-PC and Celecoxib.
- FIG 25: Immunoblot analysis of Bax expression in C-PC and Celecoxib treated K562 cells.
- FIG 26: Immunoblot analysis of c-Myc expression in C-PC and Celecoxib treated K562 cells.
- FIG27A: Effect of C-PC and Celecoxib on PKC activity (15 min)
- Fig27B: Effect of C-PC and Celecoxib on PKC activity (30 min)
- FIG 28: Elution profile of C-PC
- FIG 29: Visible Scanning Spectrum of C-PC purified from Spirulina platensis
- FIG 30: Native PAGE and SDS PAGE of C-PC
- FIG 31: Western blot analysis of C-PC
- FIG 32: Immunolocalization of C-PC by confocal microscopy
- FIG 33: Immunolocalization of C-PC in K562 cells (Native-PAGE)
- FIG 34: Effect of C-PC and Celecoxib on Hsp60 protein expression by immunoblot analysis.
- FIG 35: Effect of C-PC on telomerase activity (TRAP-ELISA Method)
- FIG 36: Proposed mechanism of action of C-PC

LIST OF TABLES

- Table 1: Comparison of cyclooxygenase enzymes
- Table 2: Differences between apoptosis and necrosis
- Table 3: Purification profile of C-PC from Spirulina platensis

ABBREVIATIONS

μCi	micro curie	
μΜ	micro molar	
°C	degree centigrade/ degree celsius	
AA	arachidonic acid	
ATP	adenosine triphosphate	
BCIP	5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphate	
bp	base pair	
COX	cyclooxygenase	
cpm	counts per minute	
C-terminal	carboxy terminal	
DAPI	diamino phenyl indole	
DNA	deoxy ribonucleic acid	
EDTA	ethylene diamine tetra acetic acid	
FACS	fluorescence activated cell sorter	
FBS	fetal bovine serum	
a	gram	
ĥ	hour(s)	
kb	kilobase pair	
kDa	kilodalton	
1	litre	
mg	milligram	
min	minutes	
ml	milliliter	
mM	millimolar	
MTT	3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-	
	diphenyltetrazolium bromide	
NBT	nitroblue tetrazolium	
nm	nanometers	
NSAIDs	non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs	
N-terminal	amino terminal	
OD	optical density	
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis	
PARP	poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase	
PBS	phosphate buffered saline	
PCR	polymerase chain reaction	
PKC	protein kinase C	
pmole	picomole	
rpm	revolutions per minute	
rpm	revolutions per minute	
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate	
TEMED	N,N,N',N'-tetramethylene diamine	
Tris	tris-(Hydroxymethyl) aminoethane	
UV	ultraviolet	

Introduction

1.1 Cancers

Cancer may be a malady of genes, arising from genetic damage of diverse sorts recessive and dominant mutations, large rearrangements of DNA and point mutations, all leading to distortions of either the expression or biochemical function of genes (Armitage and Doll, 1954). Each alteration, whether an initiating or a progression association event, may be mediated through a gross chromosomal change and therefore has the potential to be cytogenetically visible. Three main cytogenetic changes have been detected in cancer cells: chromosomal deletions, inversions and translocations, with translocations being by far the most frequent (Rabbits, 1994; Rowley, 1999). Recurring chromosomal abnormalities have been identified in a variety of cancers more frequently with leukemias, lymphomas and sarcomas. At present, more than 500 recurring cytogenetic abnormalities have been reported in hematological malignancies, a frequency several times higher than that reported in mesenchymal and epithelial cancers, according to the Cancer Genome Anatomy Project/ Cancer Chromosome Aberration Project of the National Cancer Institute. In lymphoid leukemias and lymphomas, chromosomal translocations frequently lead to the transcriptional activation of proto-oncogenes by bringing their coding regions in the vicinity of immunoglobulin or T-cell receptor generegulating elements, thus leading to their inappropriate expression (Kuppers and Dalla-favena, 2001). In addition to proto-oncogene transcriptional activation, chromosomal translocations might cause gene fusions, as frequently observed in human leukemias.

Cancer occurs when cell division gets out of control. Usually, the timing of cell division is under strict constraint, involving a network of signals that work together to say when a cell can divide, how often it should happen and how errors can be fixed. Mutations in one or more of the nodes in this network can trigger cancer, be it through exposure to some environmental factor (e.g. tobacco smoke) or because of a genetic predisposition, or both. The predominant mechanisms for the cancers featured here are (i) impairment of a DNA repair pathway (ii) the transformation of a normal gene into an oncogene and (iii) the malfunction of a tumor supressor gene.

1.1.1 Different Kinds of Cancer

Cancer can originate almost anywhere in the body.

Carcinomas the most common types of cancer arise from the cells that cover external and internal body surfaces. Lung, breast, and colon are the most frequent cancers of this type in the United States of America.

Sarcomas are cancers arising from cells found in the supporting tissues of the body such as bone, cartilage, fat, connective tissue, and muscle.

Lymphomas are cancers that arise in the lymph nodes and tissues of the body's immune system.

Leukemias are cancers of the immature blood cells that grow in the bone marrow and tend to accumulate in large numbers in the bloodstream.

Introduction

1.1.2 What Causes Cancer?

Cancer is often perceived as a disease that strikes for no apparent reason. This is because scientists don't know all the reasons. But many of the causes of cancer have already been identified. Besides heredity, scientific studies point to the existence of three main categories of factors that contribute to the development of cancer: chemicals (e.g., from smoking or diet), radiation, and viruses or bacteria.

1.1.3 Genes and Cancer

Chemicals (e.g., from smoking), radiation, viruses, and heredity all contribute to the development of cancer by triggering changes in a cell's genes. Chemicals and radiation act by damaging genes, viruses introduce their own genes into cells, and heredity passes on alterations in genes from one generation to the next. These altered or mutated genes make a person more susceptible to cancer.

1.1.4 Cancer Prevention

Since exposure to carcinogens (cancer-causing agents) is responsible for triggering most human cancers, people can reduce their cancer risk by taking steps to avoid such agents. Hence the first step in cancer prevention is to identify the behaviors or exposures to particular kinds of carcinogens and viruses that represent the greatest cancer hazard.

Introduction

1.2 Leukemia

1.2.1 Types of leukemia

Leukemia, the term coined by Virchow is a cancer of white blood cells. Leukemia occurs when a white blood cell, whose development is frozen, continues to duplicate itself. The resulting progeny of cells are all in the same stage of development and bear the distinctive hallmarks of the type of ancestral white blood cell that gave rise to them. Based on this understanding, by 1900 leukemia was no longer seen as a single disease. Instead it was imagined akin to a tree with two main limbs that inturn have two primary branches, all of which reflect from what type of cell the leukemia originates (Fig.1). One limb, **myelogenous** leukemia, has its hallmark in the blood and bone marrow either a predominance of immature myeloblasts (acute myeloid leukemia-AML) or mature myeloid cells (chronic myeloid **leukemia-CML**). With the other limb, **lymphocytic** leukemia, the blood and bone marrow is over populated by either precursor B or T cells (acute lymphocytic **leukemia-ALL**) or mature B or T cells (chronic lymphocytic **leukemia-CLL**).

Despite their divergent origins, all types of **leukemias** share the same set of symptoms, just as fever and congestion can be the symptoms for a number of different **microbial** infections. When people develop leukemia, their abnormal white blood cells crowd out or hamper the functioning of their red blood cells, fostering the tiredness and paleness that are the hallmarks of anemia. These white blood cells also do not effectively fight infections, which can be fatal. A lack of functioning cells that clot blood platelets makes people with leukemia prone to



life-threatening bleeding episodes. Leukemia cells that congregate at various spots in the body can also spur a variety of other symptoms, including bone or joint pain, or enlarged organs. Untreated acute leukemia progresses rapidly to death, whereas untreated chronic leukemia can be longer lasting, although just as deadly in the long run. Although leukemia afflicts both adults and children, by the **1920's** it was recognized that the disease mostly attacks children. In 1930 it was considered a relatively rare disease. But by 1960, statistics collected in Great Britain revealed that leukemia had become the second leading cause of death in children.

1.2.2 Chronic myeloid leukemia

Chronic myeloid leukemia (CIVIL) is a cancer of granulocytes (one of the main types of white blood cells). These leukemia cells fill up the bone marrow and thus lead to an increased risk of infection. The disease usually develops very slowly, which is why it is called 'chronic' myeloid leukemia. Chronic myeloid leukemia can occur at any age, but affects more commonly middle-aged and older people. It is rare in children.

It is mainly divided into two phases.

- The chronic phase: The phase when most people are diagnosed. At this phase CML progresses very slowly and is often stable for long periods. It is also called as "stable phase" as it lasts on an average of about 4-5 years.
- ii. The accelerated and blast phase (advanced phase): Leukemia gradually develops into the accelerated phase, during which the disease develops more quickly. During this phase immature cells (blast cells) fill up the

bone marrow. After some months leukemia transforms into blast phase, which is more like an acute leukemia.

CML is a disorder characterized by a massive expansion of progenitor cells in all stages of maturation (Daley et ai, 1990). CML is associated with the Philadelphia chromosome (Ph), a cytogenic abnormality generated by a reciprocal translocation between the bcr gene (break point cluster region) on chromosome 22g and the c-abl (ableson leukemia virus) protooncogene on chromosome 9g (Fialkow et ai, 1997: Caspersson et ai, 1970: Rowley, 1973: Heisterkamp et ai, 1983; Groffen et ai, 1984). The fusion gene produces a chimeric 8.5 kb transcript that codes for the p210 bcr-abl protein (Shlivelman et a/., 1985) (Fig. 2). Bcr-abl signaling causes transformation through several mechanisms (Coretz et ai, 1997; Salgia et ai, 1997). It has been postulated that the altered tyrosine kinase activity of p210 bcr-abl stimulates uncontrolled cell proliferation, leading to the massive clonal expansion of hematopojetic progenitors detected in CML (Stryekmans et ai, 1976; Eaves et ai, 1986). Recent studies revealed that CML progenitors have similar proliferation rates to their normal counterpart and that p210 bcr-abl increases cell survival by inhibiting apoptosis (Bedi et ai, 1994). Thus, p210 bcr-abl may act through an anti-apoptotic mechanism (McGahon ef ai, 1994), Furthermore, inhibition of bcr-abl kinase activity by the tyrosine kinase inhibitor, genestein, induced inhibition of cell growth associated with apoptosis (Carlo-Stella ef ai, 1996). However, a normal reaction of CML cells to death-inducing stimuli has also been observed (Amos ef *ai*, 1995).



Fig. 2: Molecular Genetics of CML

1.2.3 Diagnosis

In the analysis of bone aspirate, if more than 5 % of cells in the preparation are **myeloblasts**, this indicates CML. The type of blast, **lymphoblast** vs. **myeloblast**, is usually determined primarily by morphology, with cytochemistry and immunophenotyping used as supportive evidence. CML can be diagnosed from a peripheral blood smear, but the bone marrow is usually examined for confirmation. The blood smear will show a raised white blood cell count (30,000-400,000/uL), granulocytes at all stages of development, increased eosinophils and basophils, blast cells, and an elevated platelet count (300,000-600,000). Bone marrow will show increased **cellularity**, a relatively low red blood cell count, and small **megakaryocytes**. The patient's lactate dehydrogenase levels in serum will also be high. A cytogenic study will show the presence of the Ph chromosome.

1.2.4 Treatment

The treatment of CML is primarily based on the phase of the disease. The chronic phase will be treated in a slightly different way than the accelerated or blastic phases. The treatment of chronic myeloid leukemia will depend on the stage or phase of the illness. In the chronic phase the aim of treatment is usually to control the condition, often for several years. Treatment can be a drug called interferon alpha, which is given as a small injection under the skin, a drug called **imatinib** (Glivec) or chemotherapy tablets. Sometimes a combination of interferon and chemotherapy may be used. A bone marrow or stem cell transplant may be a suitable treatment for some patients and can cure leukemia in some people. This is more likely to be possible in younger patients who have a brother or sister whose bone marrow is a close match to their own.

Over the last 10 years it has been proposed that understanding signal transduction pathways and how they go awry, would change thinking of medical community about disease therapy in general and cancer therapy in particular (Levitzki, 1990, 1992, 1994, 1995; Levitzki and Gazit, 1995). Researches suggested that signal transduction therapy would become an important therapeutic modality. Today, there are a number of new agents (signal transduction inhibitors) in clinical development. Imatinib (STI571, Glivec) is a small molecule drug selected for its ability to inhibit the Bcr-Abl kinase, the pathogenic molecular abnormality in chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML). It also is an efficient inhibitor of the Kit and platelet-derived growth factor receptor tyrosine kinases. In vitro studies have demonstrated that this drug potently inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis of cells that depend on activation of these kinases. Phase I clinical studies have demonstrated remarkable activity against CML. However, the emergence of resistance, particularly in patients with acute leukemias, has propmpted immense research, and many are concerned about the future prospects of imatinib.

The continuous CML cell line K562, used in the present study, was established by Lozzio & Lozzio (1975) from the pleural effusion of a 53- year old female with chronic myelogenous leukemia in terminal blast crisis. The cell population has been characterized as highly undifferentiated and of the granulocytic series. K562 blasts are multipotential, hematopoietic malignant cells

that spontaneously differentiate into recognizable progenitors of erythrocytic, granulocytic and **monocytic** series.

1.3 Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs as chemopreventives

1.3.1 Epidemiological evidences

Epidemiological studies have shown that chronic intake of aspirin is associated with a reduction in the incidence of colorectal cancer (Thun *et al.*, 1991; Giovannucci *et al.*, 1995). In a clinical trial, Celecoxib (Steinbach ef *al.*, 2000) was found to reduce the number and size of polyps in patients with familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP). The effects of several non-steroidal antiinfflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) on tumor growth have also been demonstrated in animal models of FAP (Oshima *et al.*, 2001) and chemical colon carcinogenesis (Takahashi *et al.*, 1996; Kawamori *et al.*, 1998; Yoshimi *et al.*, 1999; Kishimoto *et al.*, 2000). These observations suggest that NSAIDs have a potent chemopreventive effect.

1.3.2 How do NSAIDs mediate their antineoplastic activity?

NSAIDs inhibit the cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes, COX-1 and COX-2, which catalyse the conversion of arachidonic acid to prostaglandins. COX-1 is expressed constitutively and is required for physiological processes such as maintenance of gastrointestinal **mucosa** and platelet aggregation, whereas COX-2 is induced by cytokines, growth factors, and **mitogens**. NSAIDs vary in their abilities to inhibit COX-1 and COX-2 (Thun ef a/., 2002). Classic NSAIDs not only inhibit COX-2, but also inhibit COX-1, resulting in the common side effect of gastric **mucosal** damage. To reduce the gastrointestinal side effects of NSAIDs,

selective COX-2 inhibitors were developed (Jackson and Hawkey, 2000) (Fig. 3). Selective inhibitors of COX-2 have been demonstrated to induce apoptosis in a variety of cancer cells, including those of colon (Hara et a/., 1997), stomach (Sawaoka et a/., 1998), prostate and breast (Liu et a/., 1998). These observations are consistent with the cancer chemopreventive effects of NSAIDs. The biochemical mechanism underlying COX-2 inhibitor induced apoptosis, however, remains elusive. Tumour inhibition by NSAIDs may be mediated by distinct cellular processes. These processes involve the ability of NSAIDs to restore apoptosis, induce cell-cycle arrest, and inhibit angiogenesis (Chan, 2002; Thun ef a/., 2002). One of the main ways by which NSAIDs exert their effects is modulation of apoptosis, although there is considerable debate about how these effects are mediated. Because COX-2 expression is increased in up to 90% of sporadic colon carcinomas and 40% of adenomas, but not in normal colonic mucosa, NSAIDs were presumed to mediate apoptosis via COX-2 inhibition. The relevance of COX-2 for adenoma formation was genetically demonstrated by a reduced number of adenomas in APCmin/+ mice, the mouse model for FAP, with an additional targeted deletion of COX-2 (Oshima et a/., 1996). However, compounds that do not inhibit COX-2, such as sulindac sulphone, also induce apoptosis in vitro and inhibit colorectal carcinogenesis in animal models. In addition, low dose aspirin, which has virtually no COX-2 inhibitory effects, had a chemopreventive effect (81 mg) in individuals at increased risk for developing colorectal cancer (Baron, 2003). COX-independent mechanisms are also suggested by the finding that some NSAIDs inhibit proliferation and induce cell death in cells that do not express COX-1 and COX-2 (Hanif et a/., 1996).





Compounds that are structurally similar to NSAIDs, but do not inhibit COX, also have **chemopreventive** and proapoptotic properties. COX-dependent and COX-independent mechanisms of apoptosis induction are not mutually exclusive, and it is likely that both have a role in the biological activity of NSAIDs (Fig. 4).

However, the issue of whether COX-2 expression is exclusively responsible or even rate limiting for chronic inflammation-related cancer promotion is not resolved. The precise mechanisms by which chronic inflammation stimulates cancer development are not fully understood and are likely to be complex and **multifactorial** (Coussens and Werbz, 2002). Indeed, NSAIDs have been shown to inhibit other pathways that contribute to inflammation. For example, NSAIDs inhibit activation of NF-kB, which controls the transcription of a variety of **proinflammatory** cytokines, independently of COX inhibition (Tegeder *et al.*, 2001). It is therefore quite possible that NSAIDs inhibit inflammation stimulated carcinogenesis by affecting the function of these different pathways in addition to those of COX-1 or COX-2. However, because these agents are potent inhibitors of COX catalytic activity, it might be difficult to judge the relative contribution of these COX and non-COX mechanisms.

1.4 Cyclooxygenases

1.4.1 Comparison of COX-1 and COX-2

Both COX-1 and COX-2 are **homo-dimeric**, glycosylated, **heme** containing proteins with 2 catalytic sites. These enzymes have similar turnover number and K_m value for AA and O₂. Both isoforms have high structural identity but are different in substrate and inhibitor selectivity (Smith *et al.*, **1996**), and also in their

Fig. 4: POSSIBLE MECHANISMS OF NSAIDs INDUCED APOPTOSIS



intracellular localization. COX-2 accepts a wider range of fatty acids as substrates when compared to COX-1, COX-2 acetylated by aspirin on serine 530 will still oxidize AA to 15-HETE, whereas similarly acetylated COX-1 will not oxidize AA at all. Unlike COX-1 enzyme, COX-2 has valine at position 523 instead of isoleucine. The difference between valine and isoleucine is of a single methyl group. This substitution allows COX-2 inhibitors to access the secondary internal side pocket of the molecule that is obstructed by isoleucine in the COX-1 isoform (Kurumbail et a/., 1996; Vane, 1998). The COX-2 active site is about 20 % larger and has a slightly different shape than that of COX-1 (Luong ef a/., 1996). This difference in active site size and shape is due to three amino acid differences between COX-1 and COX-2: isoleucine 523 to valine 523 in the first shell of the active site, and isoleucine 434 to valine 434 and histidine 513 to arginine 513 in the surrounding second shell. COX-1 is constitutively expressed in most cells at physiological conditions, although there is mild increase (2-4 fold) in response to hormonal or growth factor stimulation. Unlike COX-1, COX-2 expression is minimal in most tissues under basal conditions, but it is dramatically upregulated up to 80 fold in inflamed tissues (macrophages, fibroblasts, chondrocytes, epithelial, endothelial cells etc) with cytokines, growth factors. human chorionic gonadotropin. phorbol esters. bacterial lipopolysaccharides (LPS), ligands of G-protein-coupled receptors and reactive oxygen intermediates; cyclic adenosine monophosphate and serum. For example COX-2 expression and PGE₂ production are greatly enhanced in rheumatoid synovium compared to the less inflamed osteoarthritic synovium, and in animal models of inflammatory arthritis (Crofford et a/., 1994; Anderson et a/., 1996).

This is the result of excessive production of interleukin-1, tumor necrosis factor and growth factors in the rheumatoid joint. This provides for a constant level of enzyme in most cell types to synthesize PGs responsible for homeostatic functions. In contrast, the features of COX-2 gene are those of an "immediate early gene" gene that is not always present but is highly regulated and upregulated during inflammation or pathological process. Both the isoforms have a molecular weight of 72 kDa and are almost identical in length, with just over 600 amino acids, of which 60-65 % sequence is identical between COX-1 and COX-2 from the same species and 85 %- 90% identity among individual isoforms from different species (Shimokawa and Smith, 1992). In certain cell lines a 90 kDa band is seen and is due to post-translational modifications (DeWitt and Smith, 1988). However, the human COX-2 gene at 8.3 kb is a small immediate early gene, whereas human COX-1 originates from a much larger 22 kb gene. The gene product also differs, with the **mRNA** for the inducible enzyme being approximately 4.5 kb and that of constitutive enzyme being 2.8 kb. COX-2 mRNA contains long 3' untranslated regions (3' UTR) containing several different polyadenylation signals and multiple 5'-AUUUA-3' instability sequences that act to mediate rapid degradation of the transcript. These features differentiate the gene for COX-1 into a gene consistent with rapid transcription and mRNA processing for a continuosly transcribed stable message. COX-1 and COX-2 proteins are encoded by separate genes that diverged well before birds and mammals (Reed et al., 1996). The genes for COX-1 and COX-2 are located on separate chromosomes, with COX-1 on chromosome 9 and COX-2 on chromosome 1. The promoter region of the COX-2 gene contains a TATA

sequence and transcription factor response elements which are sensitive to inflammatory mediators accounting for its rapid inducibility. The gene for COX-1 lacks the TATA sequence and immediate early response elements (Table 1).

1.4.2 COX- 2 inhibitors & Cancer treatment

Drugs that demonstrate consistent COX-2 specific inhibition but have no effect on COX-1 throughout their dose ranges are called COX-2 " selective" (Dewitt et a/., 1993; Simon and Smith, 1998), Several studies have demonstrated elevated expression of COX-2 and not COX-1, in different types of human cancer, suggesting that the presence of COX-2 correlates with cancer development (Eberhart et al., 1994; Ristimaki et al., 1997; Zimmermann et al., 1999; Wolff et a/., 1998; Tucker et a/., 1999) (Fig. 5). COX-2 expression in colon cancer cells has been found to promote angiogenesis of co-cultured endothelial cells by stimulating the production of angiogenic factors (Tsujii et a/., 1998). Human gastric and breast (Brown and Lipmann, 2000) tumors express higher levels of COX-2 than surrounding normal tissue. The importance of PGs in tumorigenesis is evidenced by the data demonstrating the ability of the NSAIDs to inhibit growth and metastasis of tumors in vivo (Snyderman et a/., 1995) and most notably, for colon cancer (Rao et a/., 1991; Sheng et a/., 1997). Several population based studies have detected a 40-50 % decrease in relative risk for colorectal cancer in persons who regularly use NSAIDs (Thun et al., 1993: Smalley and DuBois, 1997). Two selective COX-2 inhibitors, Celecoxib and Rofecoxib, have received approval from the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in the United States. The cancer preventive actions of COX-2 inhibitors may

Table 1: Comparison of cyclooxygenase enzymes

Property	COX-1	COX-2
Cellular expression	Constitutive in most tissues in particular, stomach, kidney, monocytes/macrophage and platelet	Inducible in endothelial cells, synoviocyte, chondrocyte, fibroblast, smooth muscle, reproductive tract. Constitutive in CNS, kidney, pancreas, testis.
Range of induced gene expression	2-4 fold	10-80 fold
Rate of gene activation	24 hrs	0.5-4 hrs
Molecular mass	72 kDa (599 amino acids)	72 kDa (604 amino acids)
Relative size of active site	<cox-2< td=""><td>>COX-1</td></cox-2<>	>COX-1
Effect of glucocorticoids	Little or none	Inhibits expression
Endogenous inducers	~	Growth factors, Oncogene expression
Endogenous inhibitors	-	Glucocorticosteroids IL-1
Patho/physiological activity	Cytoprotective	Inflammatory



Fig. 5: Role of Cyclooxygenase-2 in Cancer

involve inhibition of angiogenesis (Tsujii *et a*/,, **1998)** or modulation of mitosis and apoptosis (Watson, 1998).

1.4.3 C-Phycocyanin

Chemoprevention may be an effective way to reduce cancer risk. Natural products have been the mainstay of cancer chemotherapy for the past 30 years. Blue-green algae are the most primitive life forms on earth with nutrient-dense, edible forms like Nostoc, Spirulina, Aphanizomenon species etc. Spirulina is nonnitrogen fixing blue-green algae with over 30 years long history of safe human consumption. Spiruling is gaining attention as a nutraceutical and source of potential Pharmaceuticals. Spirulina with 62% protein content is the world's richest source of Vitamin B-12. It is also rich in beta-carotene and other carotenoids, Vitamin E, minerals (e.g. manganese, copper, iron, zinc, selenium), trace minerals (e.g. selenium) and essential fatty acid (e.g. gamma-linolenic acid). Recent studies have demonstrated antioxidant (Miranda ef a/., 1998), antimutagenic (Chamorro ef a/., 1996), antiviral (Ayehunie ef a/., 1998; Hayashi ef a/., 1996), anticancer (Mishima ef a/., 1998; Chen and Zhang, 1995; Schwartz et a/, 1998. Schwartz and Shklar, 1987), anti-allergic (Kim et a/., 1998; Yang ef a/., 1997), immune enhancing (Hayashi ef a/., 1994; 1998), hepato-protective (Torres-duran et a/., 1998; Gonzalez de rivera ef a/., 1993), blood vessel relaxing (Parades-carbajal ef a/., 1997) and blood lipid-lowering effects (lwata ef a/., 1990) ; Kato ands Takemoto, 1984) of Spirulina extracts. The biological and pharmacological properties of Spirulina were attributed mainly to calciumspirulan and C-Phycocyanin (C-PC) (Hayashi ef a/., 1996). However, C-PC

gained more attention because of its anti-cancer activity and is believed that it might enhance the body's immunity (Zhang *et al.*, **1994)** to fight against diseases.

Phycobiliproteins are water-soluble bile pigment-apoprotein complexes that constitute the major light harvesting antennae for oxygenic photosynthesis in cyanobacteria and red algae (Glazer, 1989). Phycocyanin, allophycocyanin, phycoerythrin and phycoerythrocyanin are the principal phycobiliproteins. C-PC consists of a- and B-subunit polypeptides to which one or more linear tetrapyrrole chromophores are covalently attached (Fig.6). Phycocyanobilin is the chromophore of allophycocyanin and phycocyanin. In both proteins the chromophores are attached by cysteinyl thioether linkages at α -84 and (3-84 positions; in phycocyanin a second Phycocyanobilin is found attached to cysteine β-155 in a loop not found in allophycocyanin. Phycobiliproteins are stable at 2-5°C as ammonium sulfate precipitates. Purified biliproteins may dissociate into subunits under acidic or basic conditions, but are relatively stable at room temperature and neutral pH. Phycobiliproteins have been used in a variety of immunological assays and as fluorescent labels for cell sorting (Jung and Dailey. 1989). In addition, because of the high molar absorbtivity of these proteins at visible wavelength, they are convenient markers in such applications as gel electrophoresis, isoelectric focusing and gel exclusion chromatography.

Spirulina platensis also called as Arthrospira platensis is unicellular filamentous blue green algae. C-PC, the water-soluble non-toxic biliprotein pigment isolated from Spirulina platensis has significant antioxidant (Romay *et* a/., 1998 a; Romay and Gonzalez, 2000) and radical scavenging properties (Vadiraja and Madyastha, 2000). Phycocyanin was shown to inhibit inflammation

in mouse ears (**Romay** ef *al.*, 1998 a, b: Gonzalez *et al.*, 1999) and prevent acetic acid induced colitis in rats (Gonzalez *et al.*, 1999). C-PC is used for the treatment of diseases such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's (**Rimbau** *et al.*, 1999; 2001) and prevents experimental oral and skin cancers (**Morcos** and Henry, **1992**). Of major interest to ongoing research in inflammation as well as cancer is the finding that C-PC selectively inhibits **Cyclooxygenase-2** (Reddy *et al.*, 2000). Recently we have reported that C-PC induces apoptosis in mouse macrophage cell line RAW 264.7(Reddy ef a/., 2003) and rat **histiocytoma** cell line AK5 (Pardhasaradhi *et al.*, 2003).

1.4.4 Celecoxib

Celecoxib (Celebrex also known as SC-58635) (4-[5-(4-methylphenyl)-3trifluoromethyl] 1 H-pyrazol-1-yl) benzene sulfonamide) is a 1,5-diaryl substituted pyrazole (Fig.7) (Penning ef *al.*, 1997). The empirical formula for Celecoxib is C₁₇H₁₄F₃N₃O₂S (MW 381.38). This was the first COX-2 inhibitor approved for use in U.S, for relief of signs and symptoms of rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis, but not for analgesia, in adults. In addition to the analgesic, antipyretic and antiinflammatory activity, it has chemopreventive properties against colon cancer. Peak plasma concentrations occur approximately three hours after an oral dose and, when taken with a high-fat meal, peak concentrations were delayed for about 1-2 h, with an increase in total absorption of 10-20%. Celecoxib is extensively protein bound primarily to plasma albumin (>97%). The apparent volume of distribution (V/F), determined after oral administration is approximately 400 J in humans (5.7 J/kg) (Karim ef *al.*, 1997), which is larger than expected V/F when compared to other NSAIDs, and probably relates to the lipophilic nature of

Fig. 6: Structure of C-Phycocyanin



Fig. 7: Chemical structure of Celecoxib


celecoxib. Celecoxib is hepatically metabolized by the **cytochrome** P450 enzyme, CYP2C9, into three inactive metabolites and eliminated predominantly by the liver with little (<3%) unchanged drug recovered in the feces and urine. Celecoxib inhibits CYP2C9 enzymes and thus may cause elevation of plasma concentrations of drugs metabolized by this **isoenzyme**, such as some (3-blockers, antidepressants and antipsychotics. Celecoxib is well tolerated, with an adverse effect profile similar to placebo. The most commonly reported adverse effects include headache, diarrhoea, rhinitis, nausea, sinusitis, dyspepsia and abdominal pain.

1.5 Apoptosis

1.5.1 Definition

As much as the definition of life may be controversial, the definition of death also may prove problematic. The death of a living cell may result from an external physical injury or it may be an outcome of activating an internal pathway for cell suicide i.e. programmed cell death (PCD). PCD was coined initially to explain the cell death occurring during development, whereas apoptosis was used to describe cell death that exhibits a set of morphological features. The process of cell death and apoptosis are distinct, however, apoptosis often has been used interchangeably with programmed cell death.

Cell death occurs either by necrosis or apoptosis. Necrosis results from physical injury, metabolic block, mutations, toxic substances etc., and not genetically controlled. It is characterized by cell swelling, mitochondrial dilation, dissolution of other organelles, non-caspase proteolytic cascades depending on serine proteases, calpains or cathepsins, plasma membrane rupture and spillage of the **cytoplasmic** contents ultimately leading to the inflammatory response (Denecker *et al.*, 2001). By contrast, apoptosis is a genetically controlled process exhibiting constellation of structural and functional changes including calcium flux, **cytochrome** c redistribution, caspase activation, loss of plasma membrane asymmetry, reduction in cell volume, selective proteolysis of a subset of cellular proteins, **chromatin** condensation, **nucleosomal** DNA fragmentation and ultimately breakdown into apoptotic bodies that are rapidly phagocytosed (Desagher and Martinou, 2000) (Table. 2).

1.5.2 Regulation of Apoptotic pathways

The genetically conserved intrinsic cell suicide program can be divided into three **phases**. i. Initial phase ii. Effector phase and iii. Execution phase. The initial phase comprises the exposure of healthy cells to various extrinsic/ intrinsic death signals including physiological, genetic and environmental factors that trigger apoptosis (**Olie** *et* a/., 1998). During the effector phase, release of cytochrome c from the mitochondrial compartment into cytosol occurs, which is regulated by the **Bcl-2** family proteins (Thornberry and Lazebnik, 1998). Execution phase is characterized by the activated caspases play crucial role in the proteolysis of specific proteins resulting in the apoptotic phenotype (Kidd *et* a/., 2000).

There are three distinct apoptotic pathways that exist in the cell. Of these, the two major pathways i.e. the extrinsic one activated through ligand dependent death receptor **oligomerization** (Fig. 8), the intrinsic pathway acting

Table 2: Differences between apoptosis and necrosis

Apoptosis	Necrosis
Morphological features	
Membrane blebbing, but no loss of integrity Aggregation of chromatin at the nuclear membrane	Loss of Membrane integrity
Begins with shrinking of cytoplasm and condensation of nucleus	Begins with swelling of cytoplasm and mitochondria
Ends with fragmentation of cell into small bodies	Ends with total cell lysis
Formation of membrane bound vesicles (apoptotic bodies)	No vesicle formation, complete lysis
Mitochondria become leaky due to pore formation involving proteins of the Bcl-2 family	Disintegration (swelling) of organelles
Biochemical features	
Tightly regulated process involving activation and enzymatic steps	Loss of regulation of ion homeostasis
Energy (ATP) dependent	No energy requirement
Prelytic DNA fragmentation	Postlytic DNA fragmentation
Physiological significance	
Affects individual cells	Affects group of contiguous cells
Induced by physiological stimuli	Evoked by non-physiological disturbances
Phagocytosis by neighbouring cells or macrophages	Phagocytosis by macrophages
No inflammatory response	Significant inflammatory response

Fig. 8: An Overview of Apoptotic Signaling Pathways



through mitochondrial involvement and the third minor one induced through stress-mediated events involving the **endoplasmic reticulum** have been identified. (**Thornberry**, 1998). These pathways may interact and amplify weak apoptotic signals and shorten cellular execution time.

The intrinsic apoptotic cascade involves formation of "apoptosome" consisting of Apaf-1, Apaf-2 (cytochrome c) and Apaf-3 (procaspase-9) (Chinnaiyan, 1999). The binding of dATP to Apaf-1 induces the formation of a multimeric Apaf-1 that interacts with cytochrome c and procaspase-9. Apoptosome formation leads to the activation of caspase-9, which inturn activates the downstream caspases including caspase-3 that orchestrate the biochemical execution of cells. The extrinsic apoptotic pathway involves the ligand-receptor interactions triggering the activation of proteases whose actions culminate in the destruction of cell structure. A complex containing several components forms at the receptor. Fas ligand activates Fas receptor on the cell membrane followed by FADD (Fas associated death domain) recruitment; TNF receptor (TNF R1) activation leads to TRADD (Tumor necrosis factor receptor associated death domain) binding which in turn interacts with FADD and in either case, FAD binds caspase-8 with a death domain as well as protease activity and may trigger a common pathway (Chang and Yang, 2000).

The death signals mediated by Fas/TNF-R1 receptors usually activate caspases directly, bypassing the need for mitochondria. However, Bid (a proapoptotic Bcl-2 family protein) is cleaved by caspase-8 in response to Fas/TNF-R1 death receptor signals (Yin, 2000) and translocated to miochondria and induces cytochrome c release, which inturn activates the downstream caspases. Such a connection between the two-apoptotic pathways could be important for induction of apoptosis in certain types of cells and is responsible for the pathogenesis of a number of human diseases.

1.6 Molecular markers of apoptosis

1.6.1 Cytochrome c

The complex role of mitochondria in mammalian cell apoptosis came into focus when biochemical studies identified several mitochondrial proteins that are able to activate cellular apoptotic programs directly. Normally, these proteins reside in the **intermembrane** space of mitochondria. In response to a variety of apoptotic stimuli, they are released into the cytosol and (or) the nucleus. They promote apoptosis either by activating caspases and (or) by neutralizing cytosolic inhibitors of this process.

Cytochrome c is encoded in the nucleus as a **procytochrome** c, and undergoes transport across the outer membrane of the mitochondria, where it combines with **heme** to become the mature protein. How cytochrome c crosses the outer membrane of mitochondria is enigmatic, thus providing no clues to how **holo-cytochrome** c might escape. Atleast two competing theories have been proposed. First, a strong correlation has been established between the phenomenon of mitochondrial permeability transition (PT) and apoptosis (Petit *et al.*, 1996). The PT pore remains poorly characterized but appears to consist of several proteins located in both the inner and outer mitochondrial membranes that collaborate with each other at the contact sites where these two membranes come into close apposition. The swelling that follows PT pore opening causes rupture of the outer membrane, because the surface area of inner membrane with its cristae is considerably larger than the surrounding outer membrane. Thus, one model of how **cytochrome** c escapes from mitochondria envisions outer membrane rupture as the culprit, occurring as a secondary consequence of PT pore opening. A second model predicts a specific channel located in the outer membrane that allows release of cytochrome c. Moreover, the antiapoptotic proteins **Bcl-2** and **Bcl-x**_L, which reside in the outer mitochondrial and some other intracellular membranes, prevent release of cytochrome c and activation of caspase-3, while protecting cells from death.

1.6.2 PARP (Poly (ADP-ribose) Polymerase)

Apoptosis is a mechanism by which a cell commits suicide in response to differential stimuli like DNA damage, signals from neighboring cells, or extracellular chemical signals. The DNA repair enzyme poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP), also known as poly (ADP-ribose) synthetase or poly (ADP-ribose) transferase (PADRT), has emerged as a major player along the continuum of cell death. Among the first responses of a cell to DNA damage is the synthesis of poly (ADP-ribose) by the ploy (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP, **PARP-1** EC 2.4.2.30).

PARP plays a multifunctional role in many cellular processes, including DNA repair, recombination, cell proliferation and apoptosis, as well as **genomic** stability (**Menissier-de** *et al.*, 1994; Jeggo, 1998; Szabo and Dawson, 1998; Pieper *et al.*, 1999; Herceg and Wang, 2001). PARP-1 has an estimated molecular weight of **116** kDa and is organised in three major functional domains: a 42 kDa DNA binding domain (DBD) located at the N-terminus, a **16** kDa central

fragment, bearing **15** potential automodification sites, and a 55 kDa catalytic and nucleotide binding domain in the c-terminal fragment. DNA binding domain contains two zinc finger motifs and a nuclear localization signal. This region recognises both the double and single stranded DNA breaks in a nonsequence dependent manner (Menissier-de *et ai*, 1989) through the first and second zinc fingers respectively (Gradwohl *et ai*, **1990**).

PARP is efficiently cleaved and inactivated in programmed cell death into a 24 kDa fragment containing N-terminal DNA binding domain and an 89 kDa peptide comprising the central automodification domain and the C-terminal NAD⁺ binding and catalytic domains. The site of PARP cleavage (DEVD213G in human PARP, DEVE₂₁₆ in bovine PARP) is located within the nuclear localization signal and is highly conserved. Activation of cytosolic proteases and a fairly specific degradation of proteins, including PARP, are important for apoptosis (Pettmann and Henderson, 1998). PARP cleavage may interfere with its key homeostatic function as a DNA double-strand break repair enzyme (Casciola-Rosen *et ai*, 1996), which might facilitate or allow the DNA degradation characteristic of apoptosis (Cohen, 1997).

1.6.3 Internucleosomal DNA fragmentation

The biochemical hallmark of apoptosis is degradation of DNA by endogenous DNases, which cut the internucleosomal regions into doublestranded DNA fragments of 180-200 base pairs (bp) (Wyllie ,1980). The DNA fragments contain blunt ends (Alnemri and Litwack, 1990) as well as single 3¹ overhangs (Didenko and Hornsby, 1996). Internucleosomal fragmentation has been demonstrated in a wide variety of situations and cell types. A variety of caspase substrates are involved in the regulation of DNA structure, repair and replication (Nicholson and Thornberry, 1997). The DNase enzyme responsible for the fragmentation during apoptosis include DNA fragmentation factor (DFF 40) (Liu et al., 1998) caspase activated DNase (CAD) (Enari et al., 1998; Sakahira et al., 1998) and in hematopoietic cells NUC70 (Urbano et al., 1998). DFF40 and CAD are present in normal cells as inactive heterodimers with the inhibitor proteins DFF45 (Liu et al., 1997) and ICAD (inhibitor of CAD) (Sakahira et al., 1998). These enzymes are selectively activated upon cleavage by caspase 3 (Sakahira et al., 1998; Liu et al., 1997) or by other members of the caspase family (Tang and Kidd, 1998), Exposure of nuclei to activated CAD or DFF40 is sufficient to induce the nuclear morphologic changes typical of apoptosis (Liu et al., 1998: Enari et al., 1998). DNA degradation during apoptosis is a complex. nuclease-mediated process that proceeds through an ordered series of steps, not all of which need be completed (Oberhammer et al. 1993; Zakeri et al. 1993; Rusnak et al., 1996). DNA degradation begins with the generation of highmolecular-weight fragments of ~300 kb, which are converted to ~ 50-kb fragments which, in turn, give rise to 10-40-kb fragments. The latter give rise to the **oligosomal** DNA fragments, detectable as the characteristic " DNA ladders" on conventional agarose gels.

1.6.4 Bcl-2 family proteins

The Bcl-2 family of proteins are central regulators of apoptosis because they integrate diverse suvival and detah signals that are generated outside and inside the cell (Adams & Cory 2001, Strasser ef *al.*, 2000). The family is subdivided into two classes: anti-apoptotic members such as Bcl-2 and **Bcl-x**_L (the **Bcl-2** like survival factors) which protects cells from apoptosis, and proapoptotic members such as Bax and Bak (the Bax like death factors) and the large group of only BH3 only death proteins (Antonsson, 2001; Huang *et al.*, 2000) which trigger or sensitize for apoptosis. They reside predominantly in the outer **mitochondrial** membrane, **endoplasmic reticulum**, and the outer nuclear envelope. Mutual interactions between pro- and anti-apoptotic members set the threshold that determines whether a cell should die or not. Thus, Bcl-2 family members act like check points through which survival and death signals must pass before they determine the cell's fate.

Bcl-2 family members interact with each other to regulate apoptosis

One of the unique features of Bcl-2 family proteins is **hetero-dimerization** between anti-apoptotic and pro-apoptotic proteins, which is considered to inhibit the biological activity of their partners (Oltvai *et al.*, **1993**; Yang *et al.*, **1995**). This heterodimerization is mediated by the insertion of a BH3 region of a pro-apoptotic protein into a hydrophobic cleft composed of BH1, BH2 and BH3 from an anti-apoptotic protein.

How Bcl-2 family members act to regulate apoptosis is of central importance, and one approach taken by many in the field has been to identify cellular proteins that interact with members of the Bcl-2 family. The first Bcl-2 associated protein to be identified was Bax (Oltvai *et al.* 1993). Bax is homologous to Bcl-2 in sequence and **coimmunoprecipitates** with Bcl2 in cell extracts and *in vitro* (Oltvai *et al.*, **1993**). In functional assays Bax suppresses the ability of Bcl-2 to block apoptosis. Thus, not all Bcl-2 family members are inhibitors of apoptosis, but instead some may regulate apoptosis by functional

antagonism through the formation of **heterodimers**. The overall theme that emerges is that protectors and promoters of cell death interact with each other and the outcome that prevails depends on the ratio of the death promoter to the death suppressor. A model whereby Bcl-2 family members regulate apoptosis by forming **homodimers** and heterodimers has been proposed (Oltvai *et al.* 1993), although it is still not clear which Bcl-2 family member is the antagonist and which is the effector. One hint that Bax may be a death effector, that is functionally sequestered by Bcl-2 comes from the observation that BH1 mutants of Bcl-2 fail to associate with Bax and suppress apoptosis but are still capable of forming Bcl-2 homodimers (Yin *et al.*, 1994). The observation that Bax and Bak can act as both inducers and inhibitors of apoptosis suggests that the cellular context of expression may be a determining factor (Kiefer *et al.*, 1995, Knudson and **Korsmeyer** *et al.*, 1997).

1.6.5 c-Myc

c-Myc is a member of the Myc- family of transcription factors, which also include N-Myc, L-Myc, and the viral v-Myc proteins (Nau *et al.*, 1985; Schwab *et al.*, 1985; Sheiness and Bishop 1979; Sheiness *et al.*, 1978). The *c-myc* gene is **evolutionarily** conserved but absent from the genomes of yeast and *C.elegans*. The human *c-myc* can encode three polypeptides of molecular weights 45-50 [c-MycS (Spotts *et al.*, 1997), 64, and 67 kDa], the 64-kDa protein being the major product of the gene (Hann *et al.*, 1988). The 64-kDa c-Myc has several structural and functional domains. The nuclear localization signal directs c-Myc to the nucleus (Dang and Lee, 1988), the C-terminal basic-helix-loop-helix-leucine zipper (bHLHZip)-domain is required for protein-protein interactions and binding

Introduction

to DNA (Landschulz ef a/., 1988; **Murre** et a/., 1989), and the **N-terminal** transactivation domain (TAD) mediates the activation of the basal transcription machinery (Kato et a/., **1990**).

The *c-myc* protooncogene is an important regulator of growth promotion, differentiation and apoptosis. A deregulated expression of this gene is often observed in tumour cells (Nesbit *et al.*, 1999). *c-myc* mainly acts as a transcription factor and its biological activity in proliferation, malignant transformation and apoptosis is dependent on its binding to DNA in a sequence-specific manner in association with Max protein (Blackwood and **Eisenman**, 1991; Facchini and Penn, 1998). *c-myc* is an immediate early gene whose transcription correlates directly with **mitogenic** stimulation. In quiescent cells, *c-myc* **mRNA** and the resulting protein are undetectable but *c-myc* expression is rapidly induced by **mitogen** or serum stimulation to reach a transient maximum which is followed by a gradual decline to a detectable steady-state level in proliferating cells (Thompson *et al.*, **1985**).

Apoptosis induced by c-Myc: In addition of being a regulator of cell growth and differentiation, c-Myc can also cause cells to undergo apoptosis. Interestingly, both under- and overexpression of c-Myc can be apoptotic depending on the circumstances. For example, the ability of some **lymphocytic** cells to undergo apoptosis induced by various treatments is dependent on reduction in c-Myc expression (Fischer *et al.*, **1994**; Wang ef *al.*, **1999**; Wu *et al.*, **1996**). If the level of c-Myc is manipulated to remain high, apoptosis can be prevented. On the other hand, also an increased expression of c-Myc can lead apoptotic cells into the apoptotic route. This has been shown in several cell lines including CHO

(Wurm *et al.*, 1986), fibroblats (Evan *et al.*, 1992; Wyllie *et al.*, 1987), and myeloid 32D cells (Askew *et al.*, 1991). Also, apoptosis in **T-cells** can be prevented by the administration of c-Myc antisense oligonucleotides (Shi *et al.*, 1992).

Currently, the mechanism(s) by which c-Myc induces apoptosis is elusive. Being a transcription factor, one obvious way for c-Myc to influence the survival of cells would be via **transcriptional** regulation of target genes. Such potential target genes mediating apoptosis induced by c-Myc include **odc**, idh A, and cdd25A, as the expression of these three genes has been shown in certain circumstances to lead into apoptosis (Galaktionov *et al.* 1996; **Packham** and Cleveland **1994**; Shim *et al.*, **1998**). However, also other mechanisms need to be investigated, as it has been shown that c-Myc can induce apoptosis without transcnptional activation (Evan *et al.*, 1992). Further, c-MycS, a shorter translational product of c-Myc which lacks an intact **N-terminal** TAD, is able to induce apoptosis (Xiao *et al.*, **1998**).

1.6.6 Protein kinase C

Protein phosphorylation and dephosphorylation are important processes in the regulation of protein function. Phosphorylation occurs on serine, threonine, and tyrosine residues and is catalysed by protein kinases thereby mediating various cellular signaling events that can be associated with human diseases. Protein kinase C (PKC) is a family of serine-threonine kinases with important roles in cellular functions such as growth, differentiation, tumor promotion and apoptosis. There are atleast **11** isozymes that are classified on the basis of their cofactor requirements: conventional (a, βI , $\beta I I$, γ), novel (8, ε , η , θ , μ), and typical (ξ,ι). Members of PKC family consists of a single polypeptide, comprised of an Nterminal regulatory region (approximately 20-40 kDa) and a C-terminal catalytic region (approximately 45 kDa).

PKC is a calcium-dependent and phospholipids dependent protein kinase. It is an integral part in cell signaling machinery. Receptor mediated hydrolysis of phophatidyl inositol is a common mechanism involved in transmembrane signaling through which inositol 1,4,5 triphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol are generated in the cell (Berridge and Irvine, 1984; Nishizuka, 1984). Diacylglycerol in the presence of calcium, released from intracellular stores by IP₃, and thus initiating the reactions that change the biochemical state in the cell.

1.6.7 Heat shock proteins

Heat shock proteins (Hsps) are the set of conserved proteins induced in prokaryotes and eukaryotes by elevated temperatures and a number of other types of cellular stress conditions. (Lindquist, 1986). Hsps are classified according to the apparent molecular weight, intracellular location, and main inducer (Craig *et a*/., 1989, **Pelham**, 1986). In general, five classes of chaperone proteins have been distinguished: Hsp60, Hsp70, Hsp90, **Hsp100** and small Hsp. Members of the Hsp70, Hsp60 and **Hsp100** families have been identified in mitochondria. Hsps act as molecular chaperones and are involved in protein folding, refolding, transport, and translocation (**Beckmann** *et a*/., 1992; Gething and **Sambrrok**, 1992; **Itoh** *et a*/., 1995).

Hsp60 is the eukaryotic homolog of the bacterial chaperonin GroES. Hsp60 contains 14 identical subunits of relative molecular mass 58 kDa that are assembled as two **heptameric** rings stacked back to back. These are mitochondrial matrix proteins induced by stress and form, within the mitochondria, the chaperonin complex that is important for mitochondrial protein folding and function. Preferential substrates for Hsp60 are folding intermediates that have not acquired their native structure. The important role of Hsp60 in mitochondrial biogenesis was initially identified by the analysis of temperature sensitive mutants. Null mutations of Hsp60 in *S.cerevisiae* are inviable due to the severe defects in folding of mitochondrial proteins. Conditional mutants accumulate unfolded proteins in the matrix that are not able to assemble into active enzyme complexes. So, the mitochondrial chaperonins, Hsp60 are likely to be important in the process of apoptosis.

1.7 Telomerase

Telomeres are tandem repeats of hexanucleotide sequences (TTAGGG), associated with specific proteins, located at the end of eukaryotic chromosomes (Moyizis *et al.*, 1988; Blackburn, 1991). This is required to maintain chromosomal physiology, and loss of these **telomeric** sequences or mutations of **telomere**binding proteins trigger a series of events including chromosomal fusions and genomic instability that ultimately compromise cell proliferative capacity and/ or viability (Depinho, 2000; Blackburn, 2000) (Fig .9). In normal somatic cells, **telomere** shortening occurs *in vitro*, with each cell division and *in vivo* with age, reflecting the cumulative effect of cell divisions (Harley *et al.*, 1990, Allsupp *et al.*, 1992, Vaziri *et al.*, 1994). This telomere shortening has been attributed to the end-replication defect of DNA polymerase and single DNA strands incompletely replicated, would lead to a loss of terminal telomeric repeats after each cell



Fig. 9: Telomerase and Cancer

division. Telomerase is a ribonucleoprotein complex responsible for de novo telomere synthesis and addition of **telomeric** repeats to existing telomeres (Greider, 1998).

Telomerase is active in 70-90 % of malignant tissues and many immortal cell lines. Most somatic cells have no detectable telomerase activity, with the exception of certain stem cells, lymphocytes and germline cells (Liu *et al.*, 1999). Telomere activation doesnot seem to cause carcinogenesis but it allows a cell to continue division and attain immortality, a necessary achievement for a cancerous cell to be successful. The fundamental components of telomerase are **RNA** subunit (hTR), telomerase RNA component (TERC) that provides the template for the telomere synthesis reaction and a rate-limiting catalytic protein subunit (telomerase reverse transcriptase, TERT), and the telomerase **associated protein (TEP1) (Meyerson** et al., **1** 997; Kirkpatrick and Mokbel, 2001; Liu *et al.*, 1999). Of these TERC and **TEP1** are expressed ubiquitously in both normal and cancerous tisuue (Meyerson *et al.*, 1997), whereas hTERT is detectable in tumor cells but not in normal somatic cells (Kirkpatrick and Mokbel, 2001; Liu *et al.*, 1999).

As telomerase is overexpressed in a large number of tumors and is not expressed in most somatic cells, gives a rationale for evaluation of telomerase as a target for new anticancer drugs. Telomerase activity can be measured *in vitro* by using telomere repeat amplification protocol (TRAP) assay that uses a **polymerase** amplification step after telomerase extension of a primer. (Kim *et al.*, 1994).

31

Purpose of the study

Many natural products as well as synthetic compounds have been shown to be potent cancer protective or preventive agents against chemical-induced carcinogenesis in animal models. Many of these **chemopreventive** agents which interfere with the process of cancer development or carcinogenesis are promising since they are generally non-toxic substances. Although substantial progress has been made in the basic understanding of carcinogenesis, the precise molecular and cellular targets for effective chemoprevention are largely unknown. Furthermore, the cellular signal transduction events related to these molecular targets elicited by many of these agents are not well characterized and are poorly understood, more specifically **COX-2** inhibitors.

A number of studies have shown that NSAIDs induce apoptosis in cancer cell lines. In an effort to gain insight into the biochemical mechanism underlying COX-2 inhibitor induced apoptosis, in the present study we have evaluated the effects of C-PC (a natural COX-2 inhibitor) and Celecoxib (a synthetic COX-2 inhibitor) on growth and multiplication of human chronic myeloid leukemia K562 cell line. Also the molecular mechanisms involved in C-PC induced cellular effects were investigated.

32

The specific objectives of the present study are:

- > To study the comparative effect of C-PC, a natural COX-2 inhibitor and Celecoxib, synthetic COX-2 inhibitor on growth and multiplication of chronic myeloid leukemia cells.
- > To study the external and internal structural deformities in C-PC induced cell death.
- > To understand the molecular mechanism of action of C-PC.
- > To elucidate the upstream and downstream signaling pathways involved in C-PC - induced cellular effects in K562 cells.

2.1 Materials

The human chronic **myeloid** leukemia cell line, K562, was provided by National Centre for Cell Science (NCCS), Pune, India.

Phosphate buffered saline (PBS), RPMI 1640, Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS), Penicillin, Gentamycin and Streptomycin were purchased from GIBCO, Ltd. (BRL Life Technologies, Inc., Grand Island, NY). DEAE-cellulose, Poly-L-lysine, glutaraldehyde, MTT [3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide]. DAPI (4. 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole). Proteinase K. RNase A. Propidium iodide, Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), Leupeptin, Aprotinin, Pepstatin A. Trypsin, Tween-20, Triton X-100, Ponceau S. Igepal CA-630, Sodium orthovanadate, Sodium Bicarbonate, EDTA and Calcium chloride were purchased from Sigma Chemical Company (St.Louis, USA), Low fat milk powder was purchased from E-Merck. Nitrocellulose membranes and the enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) kit were purchased from Amersham Life Science (Amersham, Bucks, UK). X-ray film and development solutions were from Kodak. Mouse monoclonal antibodies against cytochrome c and Bax were purchased from Santa Cruz, CA, USA. Polyclonal antibodies of Bcl-2 and PARP were purchased from R&D systems Inc, USA. FITC conjugated anti rabbit IgG was purchased from Molecular Probes Europe (Leiden, The Netherlands).

Acrylamide, N, N'-Methylene-bis-acrlylamide, Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate, Ammonium persulfate, β-Mercaptoethanol and Bromophenol blue were purchased from Bio-Rad Laboratories (Richmond, USA).

C-PC was kindly provided by Green India Natural Products Ltd., Madurai, India, and Celecoxib was a generous gift from Unichem Laboratories Ltd., Mumbai, India.

2.2 Cell culture and treatment

The human chronic **myeloid** leukemia K562 cells were grown in suspension in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 **IU/ml** penicillin, 100 μ g/ml streptomycin and 2mM L-glutamine. Cultures were maintained in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO₂ at 37°C. The cultured cells were passed twice each week, seeding at a density of about 2X10⁵ cells/ml. For treatment exponentially growing K562 cells were collected and resuspended in fresh culture medium. Stock solutions of C-PC in PBS and Celecoxib in DMSO were freshly prepared for each experiment. The final concentration of DMSO in all the cultures was 0.1%. Cell viability was determined by the trypan blue dye exclusion method.

2.3 Cell proliferation assay

Cell proliferation was assessed using the 3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) staining as described by Mosmann (1983). Since the MTT colorimetric technique was developed, it has been applied to the quantitation of **antitumor** activity mediated by **macrophages**. LAK cells and NK cells against tumor cell targets as well as cell proliferation and drug sensitivity to tumor cells. The advantages which it offers include sensitivity, simplicity, rapidity and the avoidance of radioactivity. The MTT assay is based on the reduction of the tetrazolium salt, MTT, by viable cells. The dehydrogenases using NADH or

NADPH as coenzyme can convert the yellow form of the MTT salt to insoluble, purple **formazan** crystals (Liu *et al.*, 1997). **Formazan** solution is read **spectrophotometrically** after the crystals are dissolved by organic solvent **(DMSO)**. K562 cells (**5X10³** cells/well) were incubated in **96-well** plates in the presence or absence of C-PC and Celecoxib (10, 25, 50, 100 μ M) for 24, 48, 72, 96 h in a final volume of **100** μ I. At the end of the treatment, 20 μ I of MTT (5 mg/mI in PBS) was added to each well and incubated for an additional 4 hours at 37°C. The purple-blue MTT formazan precipitate was dissolved in 100 μ I of DMSO. The activity of the mitochondria, reflecting cellular growth and viability, was evaluated by measuring the optical density at 570 nm on μ Quant Bio-tek Instruments, **Inc microtiter** plate reader. Each concentration was tested in three different experiments run in four replicates. Means and standard deviations were calculated and reported as the percentage of growth vs control. The viable cells were counted by the trypan blue exclusion assay with a **hemocytometer**.

2.4 Morphological differentiation

K562 cells were incubated with C-PC and Celecoxib ($50\mu M$). The appearance of morphological differentiation was assessed after 48 h. The cells were viewed on a phase contrast inverted microscope and photographed with Nikon F-601 AF Camera.

2.5 Analysis of nuclear morphology

After treatment of cells with C-PC and Celecoxib (25 $\&50 \ \mu$ M) for 48 hours, cells were harvested and washed with ice cold PBS and fixed in a solution of **methanol**: acetic acid (3:1) for 30 **min** after which staining was carried with

DAPI (1 mg/ml). Stained cells were placed on slides and assessed for morphological signs of apoptosis under a fluorescence microscope (Olympus BH2RFC). Apoptotic cells were defined on the basis of nuclear morphology changes such as chromatin condensation and fragmentation (bead-like formation). Apoptotic cells were photographed under high magnification and counted on atleast four independent slides. Each experiment was repeated atleast three times.

2.6 Scanning Electron Microscopy

After treatment cells were collected, washed with PBS and concentrated to 1X10⁵ cells/ ml, one drop of such suspension was placed onto a plastic cover slip previously coated with 1% **poly-L-lysine** (Sigma, St.Louis, MO, USA) in water. The cover slip was then allowed to stand in a small Petri dish at room temperature for 15-30 **min** to facilitate the cells to adhere to the cover slip. Fixative (15% glutaraldehyde in 0.01 **mol/L** phosphate buffer, **pH** 7.4) was added to the Petri dish to cover the slip and the cells were fixed for 1 h at 40°C. The cover slip was then taken through graded alcohols for dehydration and dried by the critical-point technique (EMS850 critical point drier Electron Microscopy Sciences). After trimming, mounting, and coating with gold-platinum (JFC 1600 JEOL Co auto fine sputter coater), the specimens were observed with SEM (JSM-5600, JEOL Co).

2.7 Transmission Electron microscopy

Electron microscopy was performed to confirm that the ultrastructural features of apoptosis were present in cells exposed to C-PC. In the present

study, K562 cells treated with C-PC at 50 μ M for 24 hours were fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde (pH 7.3) buffered with 0.1 mol/L sodium cacodylate overnight at **4°C** and then washed with 0.1 mol/L sodium cacodylate buffer for 15 minutes before post- fixation with 1% osmium tetroxides buffered with 0.1 mol/L sodium cacodylate for 1 hour on ice. After another wash with 0.1 mol/L sodium cacodylate buffer for 15 minutes, cells were dehydrated with increasing concentrations of alcohol (30%, 50%, 70%, 80%, 90%, and 100%; three times at each concentration) for 10 minutes each. Next, cells were infiltrated with propylene oxide for 15 minutes, followed by 1:1 propylene oxide: epoxy resin for 2 hours, and finally 100% epoxy resin for 2 hours. Cells were embedded with fresh epoxy resin into molds and placed in a 60° C oven for 2 hours. **Semithin** sections were examined to confirm proper cross-sectional orientation before ultrathin sectioning. Ultrathin sections (Leica ultracut CUT) were stained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate and were examined with TEM (H7500 Hitachi Co).

2.8 DNA fragmentation assay

Cells were treated with vehicle alone or C-PC or Celecoxib (10, 25 & 50 μM) for 48 h. DNA laddering was detected by isolating fragmented DNA using the SDS/ Proteinase K/ RNase A extraction method, which allows the isolation of only fragmented DNA without contaminating genomic DNA (Hermann *et al.*, 1994). Five million cells were pelleted, washed in cold PBS and lysed in a buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 1 mM EDTA, 0.2 % Triton X-100 for 20 min at 4°C. After centrifugation at 14,000 g for 15 minutes, the supernatant was treated with Proteinase K (0.5 mg/ml) and 1% SDS for 1 hour at 50° C. DNA was

extracted twice with buffered phenol and precipitated with 140mM NaCl and 2 volumes of ethanol at -20° C overnight. DNA precipitates were washed in 70% ethanol, dissolved in TE, and treated for 1 hour at 37° C with RNase A. Fifteen microliters of DNA was mixed with 3ul DNA sample buffer (0.25 % bromophenol blue, 0.25 % xylene cyanol and 30 % glycerol), and DNA was resolved in 1 % agarose gel in TBE (44.6 **mM** Tris, 44.5 **mM** boric acid and 1 **mM** EDTA) using 100 bp ladder as DNA standard. DNA fragmentation was visualized upon staining gel with ethidium bromide (0.5 **mg/ml**) and exposed to UV light. The presence of apoptosis was indicated by the appearance of a ladder of **oligonucleosomal** DNA fragments that are approximately **180–200** bp multiples.

2.9 Quantification of apoptosis by flow cytometry

One of the major characteristics, which is used to assess apoptosis, is the state and content of nuclear DNA. The later is readily assessed by flow cytometric quantitation of red fluorescence from fixed propidium iodide-stained, RNase-treated cells. Apoptotic activity is heralded by sub-G1 events on DNA histograms, as described by Nicoletti *et at.* (1991). The advantage of flow cytometry is that it permits measurements on a large number of cells within a short time period. Flow cytometry has been used to analyze numerous features of the apoptotic process (Gorczyca, 1999; **Vermes** *et at.*, 2000; Lecoeur *et al.*, 2002). Apoptosis starts with cell shrinkage expressed by changes in light - scatter signals. The FS-SSC pattern obtained by flow cytometry was used to detect the changes in size and granularity induced by the apoptotic process. The FS-SSC histogram was used to divide the cells into separate populations, differing in size and granulation. Gates were set on the populations and the

staining of the cells in the gates and of all cells, respectively, was measured as mean fluorescence intensity (MFI), peak position of fluorescence intensity or relative number of positive cells (%), depending on the agent.

To quantitate apoptosis, a flow cytometric analysis using propidium iodide was performed as described previously. Cells which were less intensively stained than G1 cells (sub- G1 cells) in flow cytometric histograms were considered apoptotic cells. DNA analysis of the aforesaid samples by flow cytometry was performed to evaluate the percentage of apoptotic cells. As is generally accepted, apoptotic cells can be recognized by their diminished stainability with DNA specific fluorochromes, which could be attributed to DNA degradation and its subsequent leakage from the cell. The method for DNA labeling was as described previously (Reddy et al., 2003) with minor modifications. Briefly, K562 cells were treated with C-PC and Celecoxib (25 & 50 **uM**) for 48 h. After treatment, cells were prepared as single cell suspension in 200 µl PBS, fixed with 2 ml of ice-cold 70 % ethanol, and maintained at 4 ° C overnight. The cells were harvested by centrifugation at 500X g for 10 min. resuspended in 500 µI PBS supplemented with 0.1 % Triton X-100 and RNase A (100 ug/ml), incubated at 37 ° C for 30 min, and stained with 50 ug/ml propidium iodide (PI) in the dark at 4° C for 30 min. The red fluorescence of individual cells was measured with a FACS Calibur flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson, San Jose, CA, USA). A minimum of 10,000 events was collected per sample. The relative DNA content per cell was obtained by measuring the fluorescence of PI that bound stoichiometrically to DNA.

2.10 Preparation of whole cell extracts and immunoblot analysis

The protocol was based on Sambrook et a/. (1989). To prepare the whole cell extract, cells were washed with PBS and suspended in a lysis buffer (20 mM Tris, 1 mM EDTA, 150 mM NaCl, 1%NP 40, 0.5% deoxy cholic acid, 1mM palvcerophosphate. 1mM sodium orthovanadate. 1mM PMSF. 10 ug/ml leupeptin. 20 µg/ml aprotinin). After 30 min of shaking at 4°C, the mixtures were centrifuged (10,000X g) for 10 min, and the supernatants were collected as the whole-cell extracts. The protein content was determined according to the Bradford method (Bradford, 1976). An equal amount of total cell lysate was resolved on 8-12 % SDS-PAGE gels along with protein molecular weight standards, and then transferred onto Nitrocellulose membranes. The membranes were blocked with 5% w/v nonfat dry milk and then incubated with the primary antibodies (COX-1, COX-2, Cytochrome c, PARP, Bcl-2, Bax, c-Myc, Hsp60) in 10 ml of antibodydiluted buffer (1X Tris-buffered Saline and 0.05% Tween with 5% milk) with gentle shaking at 4°C for 8-12 hours and then incubated with peroxidase conjugated secondary antibodies. Signals were detected using an ECL Western blotting detection kit.

2.11 Detection of cytochrome c release

Release of cytochrome *c* from mitochondria to cytosol was measured by Western blot as previously described (Chandra *et al.*, 1998) with some modifications. Cells were washed twice with ice cold PBS and sonicated (3 X 5 sec on ice) in buffer containing 20 mM HEPES (pH 7.2), 10 mM KCl, 1.5 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 250 mM sucrose and protease inhibitors. The homogenates were centrifuged at 750X g for 5 min, and the supernatant was then centrifuged at **10,000X** g for another 5 min. The supernatant was subjected to further ultracentrifugation at **100,000X** g for 60 min. The resulting supernatant represented the cytosolic fraction. Following the quantification, proteins were separated on polyacrylamide gel, transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane and probed with antibody against cytochrome c followed by incubation with a secondary antibody conjugated with horseradish peroxidase. Detection was performed using the ECL kit.

2.12 Measurements of PKC activity

K562 cells were treated with C-PC and Celecoxib (25 uM & 50 uM) for 15 and 30 min. After treatment cells were harvested washed twice with ice cold PBS and pelleted by centrifugation at 100 x g for 5 min at 4°C. Cells were resuspended in 50 mM Tris-HCI (pH 7.5) containing 0.3 % (w/v) pmercaptoethanol, 1.0 mM EDTA, 2.5 mM EGTA, 50 ug/ml of phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride and 10 mM benzamidine. The cells were disrupted by sonication and the homogenates were cleared by centrifugation at 135,000 x g for 45 min. Total cellular PKC activity in sonicates was examined by measuring the rate of phosphate incorporation into a peptide corresponding to the phosphorylation site domain of myelin basic protein [QKRPSQRSKYL, MBP4-14] substrate. PKC isozyme activities were measured using an assay (75 µl) consisting of 50 mM Tris/HCI (pH 7.40), 10 µg/ml phosphatidylserine vesicles and CaCl₂ (0.1 mM), MBP4-14 (50 AM), DAG. After thermal equilibration to 30°C, assays were initiated by the simultaneous addition of the sample along with 5 mM Mg² + 100 uM ATP. 0.3 uCi $[\gamma^{32}P]$ ATP and terminated after 30 min 42

with 100 ul of 175 **mM** phosphoric acid. Following this, 100 ul was transferred to P81 filter papers, which were washed three times in 75 **mM** phosphoric acid. Phosphorylated peptide was quantitated by scintillation counting.

2.13 Extraction, Purification and characterization of C-PC

2.13.1 Preparation of crude extract

Approximately 1g of algal extract was dissolved in 20 ml of 10 mM potassium phosphate buffer pH 7.0 and centrifuged at 10000 g for 30 min, and a C-PC containing clear blue supernatant was collected.

2.13.2 Separation and purification of C-PC

The blue supernatant was fractionated with ammonium sulfate at 0-30 % and 30-50%. The precipitate from 0-30% (w/v) ammonium sulfate was discarded. The precipitate from the 30-50% (W/V) ammonium sulfate was dissolved in a known volume of sodium phosphate buffer pH-7.0 and dialyzed against the same buffer. The dialyzed sample of C-PC was **chromatographed** on a DE-52 anion exchange column. The C-PC containing sample was eluted with **NaCI** solution of a linear increasing ionic concentration (0-0.5 M, 100 ml) at 1 ml min⁻¹. The fractions were collected using 1 ml glass tube.

2.13.3 Spectroscopic measurements

All visible and UV spectra of C-PC samples were measured on a Shimadzu 2001 spectrophotometer. The maximum absorption wavelength for C-PC is 620 nm. The purity was evaluated according to the absorbance ratio A₆₂₀/A₂₈₀ (Boussiba and Richmond 1979).

2.13.4 SDS-PAGE analysis

SDS-PAGE analysis of protein fractions was carried out on vertical slab gels according to the method of Laemmli (1970). Samples containing 5ug of protein were dissolved in sample buffer containing 1% SDS (W/V), 5% (3-mercaptoethanol (V/V), 0.003% bromophenol blue (W/V) and 12% glycerol (V/V), in 0.063 M Tris-HCI, pH-6.8. The samples were boiled at 100° C for 5 minutes and subjected to electrophoresis. The stacking gel contained 4.5% polyacrylamide in 0.125 M Tris-HCI, pH-6.8 and the resolving gel contained 10% polyacrylamide in 0.375 M Tris-HCI pH-8.8. The ratio of acrylamide to N, N, N', N' - methylene bis acrylamide was 29.2: 0.8. Proteins were electrophoresed at constant potential difference (80 volts) with an electrode buffer containing 0.025 M Tris-HCI, 0.192 M glycine and 0.1 % SDS with pH-8.5. Molecular weight markers were run simultaneously with the samples.

2.13.5 Native -PAGE analysis

To check the molecular weight and intactness of the protein polyacrylamide gel under non-denaturing conditions was done. The separating gel was cast on vertical slabs. The acrylamide to **bis-acrylamide** ratio was 29.2: 0.8 and they were polymerized in Tris - HCl, pH-8.8. The protein samples were dissolved in sample buffer containing 10% sucrose and 0.003% bromophenol blue in Tris-HCl buffer, pH-6.8 and loaded onto the stacking gel. The proteins were separated using 60 V at **4**⁰ C. Resolved proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. After 1 hour of incubation with the blocking solution containing 5% low-fat milk in TBS (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH-7.5 and 0.9% NaCl), the

44

membranes were washed twice with TBST (TBS containing 0.05% Tween 20). After being washed with in TBS-T, the blots were incubated with the primary antibody (anti -C-PC) at a dilution of 1:1000 in blocking solution for 1 hour at room temperature. After being washed in TBS-T, the blots were incubated with horseradish peroxidase- conjugated anti-rabbit **IgG (1:2000)** for 1 hour, washed for three times, and the proteins were detected using enhanced **chemiluminiscence** system (Amersham).

2.13.6 Silver staining

The silver staining procedure was carried according to the procedure of Blum *et* a/ (1987). After completion of electrophoresis, the gel was incubated in the fixative (50 % methanol, 12% acetic acid and 0.05% formaldehyde) for one hour followed by three washings in 50% ethanol for twenty minutes each. Gels were next treated in Sodium thiosulphate (2mg/100 ml) for one minute and then washed in double distilled water thrice. Gels were then stained in 0.2% silver nitrate containing 0.05% formaldehyde for 30 minutes. The gels after being washed with double distilled water thrice, 20 seconds each were developed with 6% sodium carbonate containing 0.075% formaldehyde. Reaction was stopped with 1% acetic acid solution and stored in 50% methanol after thorough washing.

2.13.7 Raising of polyclonal antibodies

To study the mode of action of C-PC polyclonal antibodies were raised against C-PC. The antibodies were raised by injecting C-PC into rabbits (New Zealand variety) subcutaneously after mixing with Freunds complete adjuvant and **emulsification**. Prior to immunization, the lateral ear vein was bled to collect

pre-immune serum. After two weeks a booster injection of protein emulsified with Freund's incomplete adjuvant was given. The second booster injection was given after a week of first booster injection and finally the blood was collected after 10 days of the second booster injection. The collected blood was left overnight at 4°C for clotting and the serum was collected by centrifuging at 7000 rpm for 20 minutes. The serum was aliquoted and stored at -20° C after adding 0.01% azide.

2.13.8 Immunolocalization of C-PC by Confocal microscopy

After treatment cells were washed with PBS and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde pH-7.4 for 20 min at 4°C. After fixation cells were washed twice with PBS. The cells were permeabilized for 5 min at RT in 0.2% saponin, PBS, 0.03M sucrose, 1 % BSA. After permeabilization cells were washed with PBS and blocked for 60 minutes in blocking solution comprising 0.5% NP-40, 5% normal goat antiserum in PBS. The cells were washed with PBS and incubated with primary antibody at a dilution of 1:200 (in blocking solution) for 60 min at RT . The cells were washed with PBS thrice and incubated with secondary antibody, FITC-conjugated anti-rabbit IgG (1:1000 dilution in blocking solution) for 30 min at RT. The cells were then washed twice with PBS and once with distilled water, and cells were observed on Meridian ULPIMA confocal microscope with the use of a mounting medium for fluorescence.

2.14 Assay for telomerose activity

Telo TAGGG telomerase PCR **ELIS** ^{PLUS} kit is an extension of the original method described by Kim *et al.* (1994). It allows highly specific amplification of

telomerase-mediated elongation products combined with non-radioactive detection following an ELISA protocol. Furthermore, because telomerase has an essential RNA component, aliquots of samples were treated with RNase to assess the specificity of the reaction. In brief, K562 cells were treated with C-PC (1, 3, 5, 10 pM) for 5 days. After treatment cells were harvested, washed with PBS and lysed with 200 ul of ice-cold lysis buffer (10 mM Tris-HCI [pH 7.5], 1 mM EGTA, 0.5 % CHAPS, 10 % [v/v] glycerol, 5 mM ft-mercaptoethanol, and 0.1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride) and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. Cell lysate was centrifuged at 13.000X g for 20 minutes at 4°C. Supernatant was carefully removed and transferred to a fresh tube and the protein concentration was determined using the Bradford method. TRAP assay was performed using the Telo TAGGG telomerase PCR ELIS PLUS kit (Roche Diagnostic GmbH Mannheim, Germany) and the procedures were followed from the manufacturer's protocol. In brief, supernatant of the cell extracts was split into two aliquots before performing the assay: one was used to prepare a negative control by heat inactivation of telomerase for 10 min at 80 ° C, the other one was used to evaluate the telomerase mediated adding of telomeric sequence. For PCR amplification, 2 ul of supernatant and 25 µl of reaction mixture were transferred into a suitable tube, then sterile water was added to a final volume of 50 µl. An amplification reaction was carried out by the following protocol: mixture was kept at 25°C for 30 min, 94°C-30 s. 50°C-30 s. 72 °C-90 s (30 cycles), and at 72°C for 10 min. The 2.5 µ amplification product was mixed with 10 µ of denaturation reagent and incubated at room temperature for 10 min.

47

An aliquot of 100 ul of hybridization buffer was added and mixed thoroughly, then 100 ul of mixture per well was transferred into the precoated **MTP** modules and incubated at 3 °C on a shaker for 2 h. Anti-DIG-HRP working solution (100 ul) was added and incubated at room temperature for 30 min with shaking. The solution was removed completely and the precipitate was rinsed five times with 250 µl of washing buffer per well for a minimum of 30 s. After removing the washing buffer, 100 ul of **TMB** substrate solution was added and incubated for color development at room temperature for 20 min with gentle shaking. Finally, 100 ul of stop reagent was added to each well to stop color development. The amount of TRAP products was determined by the measurement of the absorbance at 450 and 690 nm (Fig. 10).

The relative **telomerase** activity (RTA) was obtained using the following formula:

Where A_S is the absorbance of sample; A_{S0} , absorbance of heat inactivated sample; A_{TS8} , absorbance of control template; A_{TS8} , o, absorbance of lysis buffer; and A_{TS8} , IS. is the absorbance of internal standard of the control template.

2.15 Statistical analysis

The results were expressed as mean \pm SEM of data obtained from three independent experiments. Statistical analysis of differences was carried out by analysis of variance (ANOVA). The level of significance was set at P< 0.05.

Fig. 10: Telomerase Activity Assay – TRAP ELISA Method


Results

3.1 Effects of C-PC and Celecoxib on gowth of K562 cells

Recent studies have shown the potential use of selective COX-2 inhibitors in the treatment and prevention of colon cancer (Fournier and Gordon, 2000; Dempke et a/., 2001). Growth inhibition and apoptosis have been observed in several other cancer cell lines by COX-2 inhibitors (Everts et a/., 2000: Buttar and Wang, 2000; Fournier and Gordon 2000; Fosslien, 2000; Dempke et a/., 2001). To test the effects of C-PC (a natural COX-2 inhibitor) and Celecoxib (a synthetic COX-2 inhibitor), human chronic myeloid leukemia cell line, K562, cultured in RPMI 1640 medium was incubated with different concentrations of C-PC and Celecoxib and the viability was examined by MTT assay. Cells were cultured in 10% FBS containing medium with or without C-PC or Celecoxib (10-100 µM) for 24, 48, 72, 96 h and cell proliferation was evaluated by the MTT assay. Under these experimental conditions a dose dependent decrease in K562 cell proliferation was observed until 48 hours after C-PC (Fig.11) and Celecoxib (Fig. 12) treatment with maximum decrease in cell proliferation being at 50 µM where the percent inhibition was 49% and 53% respectively. Since the maximum inhibition was observed in cells exposed to 50 µM C-PC / Celecoxib for 48 h, further experiments were carried under these conditions.

3.2 Effect of C-PC and Celecoxib on COX-1 and COX-2 protein expression levels

K562 cell line, cultured in RPMI 1640 medium was incubated with C-PC (25 & 50 uM) and Celecoxib (25 & 50 uM) for 48 h and the expression of COX-1 and COX-2 was monitored by Western blot analysis, with the whole cell lysate made from C-PC and Celecoxib treated cells. The results presented in Fig. 13

Fig. 11: Effect of C-PC on cell proliferation in K562 cells (MTT assay)





K562 cells were treated with 10, 25, 50, 100 uM of C-PC and the cell survival was determined after 24, 48, 72 and 96 h by MTT assay. The % viable cells were calculated in comparison to untreated cells. The number of cells in the control were taken as 100 %. Each data point represent the mean \pm SD of four replicates.

Fig. 12: Effect of Celecoxib on cell proliferation in K562 cells (MTT assay)



Hours of treatment

K562 cells were treated with increasing concentrations (10, 25, 50, 100 μ) of Celecoxib and the cell survival was determined after 24, 48, 72 and 96 h by MTT assay. The % viable cells were calculated in comparison to untreated cells. The number of cells in the control were taken as 100 %. Values are the means ± SD of four replicates.

Fig. 13: Western blot analysis showing the effects of C-PC and Celecoxib on COX-1 protein expression in K562 cells



Whole cell lysates (50 ug) were separated on 10 % SDS-PAGE, the proteins on the gel were transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed with affinity purified goat polyclonal anti-COX-1 antibodies. Lane 1: COX-1 protein positive control (from ram seminal vesicles) Lane 2: K562 control cells Lane 3: K562 cells treated with C-PC 25 µM Lane 4: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 µM

Lane 6: K562 cells treated with Celecoxib 50 µM

showed no significant changes in COX-1 (lanes 3-6) protein levels in C-PC and Celecoxib treated cells compared to control cells (lane 2). These results indicate that C-PC and Celecoxib have no effect on the protein levels of COX-1 in K562 cells. The results in western blot analysis of COX-2 in cells treated with C-PC/Celecoxib were presented in figure 14. As shown in figure, COX-2 in K562 cells showed a molecular weight of 90 kDa (lanes 1-5) as against the COX-2 positive control (lane 6). Also the results showed increase in COX-2 protein levels in C-PC (lane 2 & 3) and Celecoxib (lane 4 & 5) treated cells compared to that of untreated cells (lane 1).

3.3 Morphological and ultrastructural changes

3.3.1 Phase contrast microscopy

Phase contrast microscopy pictures of K562 cells treated with C-PC and Celecoxib (50 uM) for 48 h were taken to observe the altered morphological features. Cells grown in complete medium in the absence of C-PC or Celecoxib were round in shape with characteristic features of lymphoid cells (Fig. 15A). However, after 48 h of incubation with C-PC (Fig.15B) Celecoxib (Fig. 15C) showed decrease in cell number with cytoplasmic shrinkage and marked convolution of cellular surfaces. Many cells displayed protuberances of the plasmamembrane that would eventually separate into membrane-bound apoptotic bodies.

3.3.2 Fluorescence microscopic studies

A distinguishing feature of apoptosis is the condensation and fragmentation of nuclear chromatin, which can be monitored by fluorescence

Fig. 14: Western blot analysis showing the effects of C-PC and Celecoxib on COX-2 protein expression in K562 cells



, !

Whole cell lysates (50 ug) were separated on a 10 % SDS-PAGE. After electrophoresis, proteins on the gel were transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed with affinity purified goat polyclonal anti-COX-2 antibodies.

- Lane 1: K562 control cells
- Lane 2: K562 cells treated with C-PC 25 uM
- Lane 3: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM
- Lane 4: K562 cells treated with Celecoxib 25 uM
- Lane 5: K562 cells treated with Celecoxib 50 uM
- Lane 6: COX-2 positive control (rh COX-2)

Fig. 15: Phase contrast photomicrographs showing the effect of C-PC and Celecoxib in K562 cells

A. Control



B. C-PC 50







K562 cells were treated with C-PC (50 uM) and Celecoxib (50 μ M) for 48 h and cells were photographed under phase contrast microscopy (Magnification 400 X). Arrows indicate a typical apoptotic cell with apoptotic bodies.

Results

microscope. K562 cells were exposed to various concentrations of C-PC and Celecoxib (25 & 50 uM) for 48 h, and then assessed for morphological signs of apoptosis by staining with **DAPI**. Nuclear condensation and apoptotic bodies, a hallmark of apoptosis, were observed in cells treated with C-PC (Fig 16 B & C) and Celecoxib (Fig. 16 D &E). Also the number of apoptotic cells increased with the increasing concentration of C-PC/ Celecoxib. **Chromatin** of apoptotic cells was segregated and compacted into sharply delineated masses, very close to the nuclear envelope, as indicated by the arrows.

3.3.3 Ultrastructural changes - SEM & TEM

In the light of changes observed under phase contrast and fluorescence microscopes, further studies were undertaken for detailed analysis of morphological and ultrastructural changes on SEM and TEM. To determine whether the antiproliferative effects of C-PC were associated with apoptosis, we examined the ultrastructural changes of K562 cells treated with 50 uM C-PC / Celecoxib for 48h. Apoptotic cell death was confirmed by scanning and transmission electron microscopy, which revealed characteristic ultrastructural features of apoptosis. SEM studies of C-PC and Celecoxib treated cells revealed the presence of membrane blebbing, which might be due to a deep cytoskeleton rearrangement, causing progressive changes in cell shape, organelle distribution, cell shrinkage and severing junctions with its neighbours and loss of microvilli (Fig. 17B). TEM gives the qualitative bidimensional image of the sectioned samples. The cell volume of the C-PC/Celecoxib treated cells was reduced, which indicated shrinkage of cytoplasm, while the plasma membrane remained well defined. The cells showed typical nuclear fragmentation and condensed

Fig. 16: Fluorescence microscopic studies showing C-PC and Ceiecoxib induced nuclear DNA fragmentation in K562 cells stained with DAPI



Nuclear morphology of K562 cells was observed under a fluorescence microscope (Olympus BH2RFC) after treatment with C-PC & Ceiecoxib for 48 h. The arrows are pointed to the apoptotic cells. (Magnification 400X).

- A: K562 control cells
- B: K562 cells treated with C-PC 25 uM
- C: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM
- D: K562 cells treated with Ceiecoxib 25 µM
- E: K562 cells treated with Ceiecoxib 50 uM

Fig. 17: Scanning electron micrographs showing C-PC treated K562 cells



A. Control

B. C-PC 50 µM



Ultra structural morphology in K562 cells treated with C-PC (50 μ M) for 48 h. A. Control cells with occasional microvilli B.C-PC treated cells showing clumping and shortening of microvilli, cell shrinkage and membrane blebbing, holes and cytoplasmic extrusions.

chromatin with the formation of apoptotic bodies (Fig. 18 B & C). However in the control cells, the nuclei are intact with high nucleus/cytoplasm ratio (Fig. 18A).

3.3.4 C-PC and Celecoxib induced DNA fragmentation in K562 cells

In addition to morphological evaluation, apoptosis induction by C-PC and Celecoxib was ascertained by using an assay developed to measure DNA fragmentation, a biochemical hallmark of apoptosis. During later satges of apoptosis internucleosomal cleavage of cellular DNA by endonucleases to 180 bp or **oligomers** of 180 bp fragments could be detected by extraction of nuclear DNA and agarose gel electrophoresis. As illustrated in (Fig. 19), agarose gel electrophoresis of DNA extracted from K562 cells treated with C-PC and Celecoxib at concentrations of 10, 25 and 50 uM for 48 h revealed a progressive increase in the non-random fragmentation into a ladder of 180-200 bp (lanes 2-7). The degree of nuclear DNA fragmentation was directly proportional to the concentration of C-PC/Celecoxib. Such а pattern corresponds to internucleosomal cleavage, reflecting the endonuclease activity characteristic of apoptosis. Control cells did not show any internucleosomal DNA fragmentation (lane 1).

3.4 DNA content assay by fluorescence activated cell sorter (FACS)

The induction of apoptosis in C-PC and Celecoxib treated cells was further verified by flow **cytometric** analysis of DNA content. Loss of DNA is a typical feature of apoptotic cells. **Propidium** iodide (PI) staining of DNA, which is taken up into the nucleus of apoptotic and necrotic cells, was used to measure the relative numbers of dead cells (Pullen *et al.*, **1981**). Furthermore, since

Fig. 18: Transmission electron micrographs of C-PC and Celecoxib treated K562 cells



A. Control (x 8240)

B. C-PC 50 µM (X 4740)



C. Celecoxib 50 µM (x 9450)



Ultrastructural changes induced by C-PC & Celecoixb (50 uM) in K562 cells. Cells were harvested, fixed in 2.5 % glutaraldehyde and analyzed by transmission electron microscopy. Chromatin condensation and nuclear fragmentation is clearly seen in C-PC and Celecoxib treated cells. Control cells showed distinguishable diffused interchromatin.

Fig. 19: Agarose gel electrophoresis showing internucleosomal DNA fragmentation induced by C-PC and Celecoxib in K562 cells



Agarose gel electrophoresis of DNA extracted from K562 cells treated with C-PC and Celecoxib for 48 h. After treatment cells were lysed and total cellular DNA was extracted and electrophoresed on a 1% agarose gel containing 0.05 mg/ml ethidium bromide at 5 V/cm. The gels were then photographed under UV illumination.

- Lane 1: K562 control cells
- Lane 2: K562 cells treated with C-PC 10 uM
- Lane 3: K562 cells treated with C-PC 25 uM
- Lane 4: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM
- Lane 5: K562 cells treated with Celecoxib 10 µM
- Lane 6: K562 cells treated with Celecoxib 25 uM
- Lane 7: K562 cells treated with Celecoxib 50 uM
- Lane 8: 100 bp ladder

apoptosis, but not necrosis, involves degradation of DNA, the staining pattern obtained with PI was used to establish whether cell death was due to apoptosis or necrosis. Two different ways of staining with PI are generally observed: PI in the presence of a permeabilising and fixing agent results in the staining of DNA in living, apoptotic and necrotic cells; and PI in a physiological buffer, stain cells that are dead due to apoptosis or necrosis. In the present study K562 cells treated with C-PC/ Celecoxib (25 & 50 µM) for 48 h were taken for FACS analysis. Fig. 20 illustrates the DNA content histograms obtained after PI staining of permeabilized cells that had been treated with C-PC and Celecoxib (25 & 50 uM) for 48 h. In agreement with DNA fragmentation results, a typical sub-diploid apoptotic peaks were observed in K562 cells treated with 25 μ M and 50 μ M C-PC (Fig. 20 B & C) and Celecoxib (Fig 20 D & E) for 48 h. The FACS analysis of control cells, on the other hand, showed prominent G1, followed by S and G2/M phases (Fig. 20 A). Only 2.97 % of these cells showed hypodiploid DNA (sub G0/G1 peaks). This value of 2.97 % hypodiploid DNA in control cells increased to 14.11 % and 20.93 % cells in C-PC (25 & 50 uM) treated cells (Fig.20 B& C) and 15.86% and 20.95 % in Celecoxib (25 & 50 uM) treated cells (Fig 20 D &E). These studies thus reveal increase of hypodiploid apoptotic cells in response to C-PC and Celecoxib treatment in a concentration-dependent manner and the decrease of the cells at S and G2 phase of cell cycle. This result suggested a possibility that C-PC induced apoptosis occurs at S and G2 phase of the cell cycle.

53

Fig. 20: Quantification of apoptosis by flow cytometric analysis (FACS)



Celecoxib for 48 h were determined using propidium iodide staining by flow cytometry.

- A. Control
- B. K562 cells treated with C-PC (25 uM)
- C. K-562 cells treated with C-PC (50 uM)
- D. K-562 cells treated with Celecoxib (25 uM)
- E. K-562 cells treated with Celecoxib (50 uM)

Results

3.5 Signal transduction pathways

3.5.1 C-PC and Celecoxib treatment evokes cytochrome c release

One of the major apoptotic pathways is activated by the release of apoptogenic protein, cytochrome c, from mitochondria into the cytosol. The release of cytochrome c, one of the most important respiratory-chain proteins, from the mitochondria into the cytosol is the hallmark of cells undergoing apoptosis (Liu *et al.*, 1996; Martinou *et al.*, 2000). To specify the molecular basis of apoptosis the release of cytochrome c into the cytosol was measured in K562 cells treated with C-PC and Celecoxib, by Western blot analysis employing mouse monoclonal cytochrome c antibodies. As shown in Fig. 21 untreated cells cytochrome c (lane 1) was not detectable in the cytoplasm, whereas the levels of cytosolic cytochrome c significantly increased after C-PC (lanes 2 & 3) and Celecoxib treatment (lanes 4 & 5). As shown in Fig.22 the levels of cytochrome c in the cytosol were elevated within 6 hours after treatment with C-PC (lanes 2 & 3) and the levels were further increased by 12 hours (lanes 4 & 5) with later stabilization (lanes 6 & 7).

3.5.2 PARP cleavage in response to C-PC and Celecoxib treatment

PARP, poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase, has been implicated in many cellular processes including apoptosis and DNA repair. PARP is primarily found in the nucleus and is activated by DNA strand breaks. PARP is a 116-kDa protein, which converts nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD) to nicotinamide and protein-linked ADP-ribose polymers. The DNA repair enzyme, PARP has been recognized as a representative death substrate that is cleaved and

Fig. 21: Western blot analysis showing C-PC and Celecoxib induced release of cytochrome c into the cytosol in K562 cells



K562 cells were treated with C-PC and Celecoxib for 48 h, cytosolic proteins (50 ug) were separated on a 15 % SDS-PAGE, and after electrophoresis, proteins on the gel were transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed with mouse monoclonal cytochrome-c antibodies.

Lane 1: K562 control cells

Lane 2: K562 cells treated with C-PC 25 µM

Lane 3: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM

Lane 4: K562 cells treated with Cele 25 uM

Lane 5: K562 cells treated with Cele 50 uM

Fig. 22: Western blot analysis showing release of cytochrome c into the cytosol in K562 cells treated with C-PC for different time periods



K562 cells were treated with C-PC (0-24 h), cytosolic proteins (50 ug) were separated on a 15 % SDS-PAGE, and after electrophoresis, proteins on the gel were transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed with mouse monoclonal cytochrome-c antibodies.

- Lane 1: K562 control cells (0 h)
- Lane 2: K562 cells treated with C-PC 25 µM (6 h)
- Lane 3: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM (6 h)
- Lane 4: K562 cells treated with C-PC 25 uM (12 h)
- Lane 5: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM (12 h)
- Lane 6: K562 cells treated with C-PC 25 uM (24 h)
- Lane 7: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM (24 h)

inactivated by down-stream caspases. In response to growth factor withdrawal or on exposure to a variety of **chemotherapeutic** compounds (Shah *et al.*, 1996), PARP is cleaved to generate 85 and 23 kDa fragments. To determine whether PARP is cleaved in C-PC and Celecoxib induced cell death, we treated K562 cells with 25 & 50 μ M C-PC and Celecoxib for 48 h and PARP cleavage was monitored with PARP antibodies, which specifically recognizes the 23 kDa fragment of the cleaved PARP and uncleaved **116** kDa PARP. Fig. 23 illustrates the gradual increase in the proportion of the **M**_r 23,000 cleavage product and decrease in the proportion of **116** kDa uncleaved PARP with increasing concentrations of C-PC (lanes 2 & 3) and Celecoxib (lanes 4 & 5). In the control cells, however, no fragment of PARP was observed, except the uncleaved **116** kDa protein (lane 1). The extent of PARP Cleavage in C-PC treated cells (lanes 3 & 4), however, was much higher than the same in Celecoxib treated cells (lanes 4 & 5).

3.5.3 Bcl-2/ Bax ratio modulation

Different proteins of the Bcl-2 family have been implicated in triggering or preventing apoptosis. Bax and Bcl-2 are the proteins associated with the mitochondrial membrane and their ratio is crucial for cell survival. In light of the recent reports that attributed **COX-2** inhibitor-induced apoptosis to bcl-2 downregulation (Liu *et al.*, **1998**; Sheng *et al.*, **1998**), studies were undertaken to test whether Bcl-2 expression is affected after C-PC/Celecoxib treatment in K562 cells. Changes in the expression of cellular anti-apoptotic proteins, Bcl-2 and of the pro-apoptotic protein Bax, following C-PC and Celecoxib treatment (25 & 50 uM) for 48 h were examined by Western blotting. As shown in Fig. 24 untreated

Fig. 23: Western blot analysis showing the cleavage of PARP in cell extracts of C-PC and Celecoxib treated cells



Whole cell lysates from K562 cells treated with C-PC and Celecoxib for 48 h, were fractionated on a 12 % SDS-PAGE. After electrophoresis, proteins on the gel were transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and the proteins were probed with anti-PARP antibodies. This antibody recognizes both uncleaved PARP (116 kDa) and the cleaved fragment (23 kDa).

Lane 1: K562 control cells

Lane 2: K562 cells treated with C-PC 25 uM

Lane 3: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM

- Lane 4: K562 cells treated with Celecoxib 25 uM
- Lane 5: K562 cells treated with Celecoxib 50 uM

Fig. 24: Immunoblot analysis of Bcl-2 expression in K562 cells treated with C-PC and Celecoxib



K562 cells were treated with C-PC and Celecoxib (25 & 50 uM) for 48 h, and the whole cell lysates (50 ug) were separated on a 15 % SDS-PAGE and the proteins on the gel were transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed with affinity purified goat polyclonal anti-Bcl-2 antibodies.

- Lane 1: K562 control cells
- Lane 2: K562 cells treated with C-PC 25 uM
- Lane 3: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM
- Lane 4: K562 cells treated with Celecoxib 25 uM
- Lane 5: K562 cells treated with Celecoxib 50 uM

Results

cells expressed high levels of Bcl-2 protein (lane 1) where as in cells treated with C-PC (lane 2 & 3) and Celecoxib (lane 4 & 5) the expression of Bcl-2 protein is down regulated in a dose dependent manner. Bax protein levels, however, were not altered on C-PC and Celecoxib treatment (Fig. 25). As a result of decreased Bcl-2 with no change in Bax, the ratio of **Bcl-2/Bax** reduced significantly during C-PC and Celecoxib treatment.

3.5.4 c-Myc expression and modulation

Myc proteins are known to be critical regulators of apoptotic mechanisms. To examine the possible contribution of c-Myc to the C-PC and Celecoxib induced cell death, Western blot analysis was performed in K562 cells with specific antibodies. Under conditions of exponential growth, continuous exposure to C-PC (lanes 2 & 3) and Celecoxib (lanes 4 & 5) produced a marked increase in c-Myc expression in a dose dependent manner (Fig. 26).

3.5.5 Effect of C-PC and Celecoxib on PKC activity

Protein kinase C (PKC) is a Ca²⁺ and phospholipid-dependent serine/threonine protein kinase with fundamental importance in cellular growth control. Alterations in PKC have been linked to the increased cell proliferation in response to tumor promotion. Therefore measurements were carried out as function of time of exposure inorder to assess the effect of C-PC and Celecoxib on PKC activity. After treatment with C-PC and Celecoxib PKC activity decreased in a dose dependent manner (Fig.27), indicating desensitization of PKC upon treatment. This study suggests that antiproliferative effects of C-PC and Celecoxib might be mediated through PKC pathway.

Fig. 25: Immunoblot analysis of Bax expression in C-PC and Celecoxib treated K562 cells



K562 cells were treated with C-PC and Celecoxib for 48 h, and the whole cell lysates (50 ug) were separated on a 12 % SDS-PAGE and the proteins on the gel were transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed with mouse monoclonal anti-Bax.

- Lane 1: K562 control cells
- Lane 2: K562 cells treated with C-PC 25 uM
- Lane 3: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM
- Lane 4: K562 cells treated with Celecoxib 25 uM
- Lane 5: K562 cells treated with Celecoxib 50 uM

Fig. 26: Immunoblot analysis of c-Myc expression in C-PC and Celecoixb treated K562 cells



K562 cells were treated with C-PC and Celecoxib for 48 h, and the whole cell lysates (50 ug) were separated on a 10 % SDS-PAGE and the proteins on the gel were transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed with affinity purified rabbit polyclonal anti c-Myc.

- Lane 1: K562 control cells
- Lane 2: K562 cells treated with C-PC 25 uM
- Lane 3: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM
- Lane 4: K562 cells treated with Celecoxib 25 uM
- Lane 5: K562 cells treated with Celecoxib 50 uM





K562 cells were treated with C-PC and Celecoxib (25 uM & 50 uM) for 15 min. PKC activity was determined using MBP (4-14) as described in materials and methods and percent of total PKC activity (bars) from three experiments performed in duplicate were calculated. Results are the mean \pm SD of three experiments performed in duplicate.

Fig.27 B: Effect of C-PC and Celecoxib on PKC activity (at 30 min)



K562 cells were treated with C-PC and Celecoxib (25 uM & 50 uM) for 30 min. PKC activity was determined using MBP(4-14) as described in materials and methods and percent of total PKC activity (bars) from three experiments performed in duplicate were calculated. Results are the mean \pm SD of three experiments performed in duplicate.

3.6. Purification of C-PC from Spirulina platensis

Purification of C-PC from Spirulina platensis was achieved by a combination of salt precipitation and ion-exchange chromatography, C-PC was precipitated from Spirulina extract by ammonium sulfate (0-30% initially and 30-50 % later). The 30-50 % ammonium sulfate precipitate was used for further purification on DE-52 column. The dialyzed ammonium sulfate extract was loaded on to DE-52 column. The bound C-PC was eluted with a linear increasing salt concentration (0-0.5 M NaCl, 100 ml) at 1 ml/min (Fig.28). The sample is considered pure, if the ratio of A620/A280 is above 4.0(Boussiba & Richmond, 1979). In the ion-exchange column chromatography only fractions having A620/A280 ratio above 4.0 were pooled and scanning spectrum of the pooled samples were taken. Fig.29 presents the typical visible scanning spectrum of highly purified C-PC, showing absorbance maximum at 620 nm. Details of the purification steps are given in Table 3. As shown in Table 3, the absorbance ratios for the C-PC increased at each step of purification. From one gram of dry Spirulina cells, 60-70 mg pure C-PC was isolated. The vield was sacrificed for the sake of purity.

The homogeneity of the purified protein was checked by electrophoresis under non-denaturing (Native-PAGE) and denaturing (SDS-PAGE) conditions. Native PAGE revealed the presence of a single band at 39 kDa (Fig.30 A) and SDS-PAGE performed under denaturing conditions showed the presence of two bands corresponding to a (19 kDa) and p subunits (20 kDa) (Fig.30 B). In order to study the mode of action of C-PC, polyclonal antibodies were raised against



Anion exchange chromatography of C-PC on DEAE-Cellulose (DE-52) column: 30-50 % ammonium sulfate fractionated proteins were loaded on to pre equilibrated DE-52 column and after washing the column bound proteins were eluted with linear salt gradient (0-0.5 M NaCl). The eluted fractions were checked for absorbance at 280 and 620 nm.

Fig.29: Visible scanning spectrum of C-PC purified from *Spirulina platensis*



SCANNING SPECTRUM OF C-PC

Table. 3: Purification profile of C-PC from *Spirulina platensis*

Step of purification	Absorbance ratios (A ₆₂₀ /A ₂₈₀)
Crude extract	1.08
Precipitation with (NH ₄) ₂ SO ₄ (0-15%)	0.45
Precipitation with $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ (30-50%)	2.98
DE-52	4.8







15% NATIVE PAGE

15% SDS-PAGE

Results

purified C-PC. Western blotting with increasing concentration of C-PC confirmed that the antibody is specific to protein of interest (Fig.31).

3.7 Effects of C-PC -mechanistic studies

3.7.1 Immunolocalization

The subcellular distribution of C-PC was determined in K562 cells using laser scanning confocal microscopy. Polyclonal antibodies of C-PC were used to determine its *in situ* localization in C-PC treated cells. This was done by using fluorescence labeled anti-rabbit antisera and monitoring the cells exposed to anti-Phycocyanin **antiserum** on confocal microscopy. These studies showed a strong **immunofluorescence** signal in the cytosol with no signal in the nuclear compartment (Fig.32) of C-PC treated cells. Native-PAGE analysis confirmed the intactness of the protein in C-PC treated cells (Fig.33). As shown in figure, there is time dependent increase in the uptake of C-PC into the cells, reaching maximum by 24 h exposure. Since the size of the protein is equal to that of the positive control (lane 6), it is assumed that the whole C-PC is entering the cells. These studies thus demonstrate the entry of intact C-PC into the cells and then probably showing effects on K562 cells.

3.7.2 Expression of stress proteins

Hsp60, the eukaryotic **homolog** of the bacterial chaperonin, is the mitochondrial matrix protein induced by stress and form within the mitochondria. This chaperonin complex that is important for mitochondrial protein folding and function. Apoptosis is closely linked to mitochondrial dysfunction such as reduction in mitochondrial **transmembrane** potential or release of **cytochrome** c

Fig. 31: Western blot analysis of C-PC



Various fractions collected during C-PC purification were separated on 15 % SDS-PAGE and after electrophoresis, proteins on the gel were transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed with anti-C-PC antibodies raised against pure C-PC in rabbit.

- Lane 1: Crude
- Lane 2: Pellet (8000 rpm)
- Lane 3: Supernatant (8000 rpm)
- Lane 4: 0-30 % (NH₄)₂SO₄ supernatant
- Lane 5: 30-50 % (NH₄)₂SO₄ pellet
- Lane 6: DE-52 fraction

Fig.32: Immunolocalization of C-PC by confocal microscopy



Confocal image showing the localization of C-PC in K562 cells fixed in paraformaldehyde using C-PC polyclonal antibodies. After treatment cells were permeabilized, washed with PBS, incubated with rabbit polyclonal anti C-PC antibodies and then with incubated with anti rabbit FITC conjugated secondary antibody. Cells were washed and were observed under Meridian ULPIMA laser scanning confocal microscope with the use of mounting medium for fluorescence.

- A: Control K-562 cells
- B: K-562 cells treated with C-PC (50 uM)

Fig. 33: Immuno-localization of C-PC in K562 cells (Native-PAGE)



Whole cell lysates of K562 cells treated with 50 uM C-PC for different time intervals were separated on 15 % native - PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed with rabbit polyclonal anti-C-PC.

- Lane 1: K562 control cells
- Lane 2: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM (0 h)
- Lane 3: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM (12 h)
- Lane 4: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM (24 h)
- Lane 5: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM (48 h)
- Lane 6: + ve control C-PC
into the cytosol. Therefore in the present study it is evaluated whether **mitochondrial** Hsp60 is involved in the apoptosis induced by C-PC. As shown in the Fig 34 a dose-dependent and time dependent increase in the levels of mitochondrial stress protein, Hsp60, was observed in the cytosolic extracts of C-PC (lanes 2-7) treated cells, when compared to the untreated control samples (Lane 1).

3.7.3 C-PC suppressing telomerase activity of K562 cells

The disruption of the **telomeric** structure and/or function by drugs interacting with the telomerase enzyme has evolved into a promising way of anticancer drug development. To assess the effects of C-PC on telomerase activity of K562 cells, TRAP (Telomerase repeat amplification protocol) assay was employed. After 5-day incubation of cells with different concentrations of C-PC (1-10 uM), telomerase activity of K562 cells was measured. As shown in Fig.35, the telomerase activity of K562 cells decreased in a concentration-dependent manner.

Fig. 34: Effect of C-PC on Hsp60 protein expression by immunoblot analysis



K562 cells were treated with C-PC and cytosolic extracts were separated on 10 % SDS-PAGE. After electrophoresis, proteins on the gel were transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed with mouse monoclonal anti-hsp60 antibodies.

- Lane 1: K562 control cells
- Lane 2: K562 cells treated with C-PC 25 µM (6 h)
- Lane 3: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM (6 h)
- Lane 4: K562 cells treated with C-PC 25 uM (12 h)
- Lane 5: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM (12 h)
- Lane 6: K562 cells treated with C-PC 25 uM (24 h)
- Lane 7: K562 cells treated with C-PC 50 uM (24 h)

Fig. 35: Effect of C-PC on Telomerase Activity (TRAP-ELISA Method)



Detection of telomerase activity in K562 cells treated with C-PC for 5 days. Telomerase activity was determined using the TRAP - **ELISA** method as described in materials and methods. Values are the mean + SD of data from at least three independent experiments.

Chemoprevention, the use of drugs or natural substances to inhibit carcinogenesis, is an important and rapidly evolving subject of cancer research. There has recently been a surge of interest in marine bioresources, particularly seaweeds, as sources of bioactive substances. Several preparations of seaweeds such as polysaccaharide, peptide and phycobiliproteins were shown to affect the multiplication of tumor cells (Schwartz *et al.* 1988; Noda ef *al.* 1989; Riou *et al.*, 1996). Aqueous extracts of green, brown and red algae were shown to possess bioactivity against murine immunocytes (Sadnori *et al.*, 1993). C-Phycocyanin (C-PC) from *Spirulina platensis* was shown to reduce the viability of mouse myeloma cells after irradiation by 300 J cm⁻² at 514 nm for 3 days (Morcos ef *al.*, 1988).

C-PC is one of the major water-soluble biliprotein present in *Spirulina platensis*. This water-soluble protein pigment is gaining a lot of importance these days because of its various biological and pharmacological properties. C-PC is extensively used as a food colorant and in cosmetics because of its blue colour and its strong fluorescence in the visible region. **It** is also **non-carcinogenic**. However, most of its pharmacological properties are not known except a few. Morcos ef *al.* (1988 & 1992) have shown its photodynamic properties and its use in cancer treatment. They have shown that, C-PC specifically binds to cancer cells, and thus can be used for anatomical imaging of tumors *in vivo* (Morcos ef *al.*, 1988). Recently its hepatoprotective (Vadiraja ef *al.*, 1998), anti-oxidant (**Romay** ef *al.*, 1998 a), radical scavenging (Vadiraja and Madyastha, 2000) and anti- inflammatory properties have been demonstrated (Romay ef *al.*, 1998 b). Earlier studies from the laboratory revealed that C-PC is a selective inhibitor of

COX-2 (Reddy ef a/., 2000) and induces apoptosis in mouse macrophage cell line, RAW 264.7 induced with LPS (Reddy ef a/., 2003) and in rat histiocytoma cell line, AK5 (Pardhasaradhi ef a/., 2003).

Epidemiological studies showed that use of **non-steroidal** antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) was associated with a reduced risk of developing several malignant diseases including colorectal cancer (Giardiello ef a/., 1993; Giovannucci ef a/., 1994; 1995; Hanif ef a/., 1996; Barnes and Lee, 1998; **Kawamori** ef a/., 1998; Reddy ef a/., 1993; 2000). Selective **COX-2** inhibitors cause fewer serious adverse effects than traditional NSAIDs. The improved safety profile of selective COX 2 inhibitors makes it realistic to consider their long-term use in individuals at low to moderate risk of cancer. Earlier studies from the laboratory revealed that C-PC is a selective inhibitor of COX-2 (Reddy ef a/., 2000). Similar to other NSAIDs, C-PC is known to exhibit anti-cancer properties (Liu ef a/., 2000). When compared to the toxicities associated with the currently available **COX-2** selective anti-inflammatory drugs, C-PC would likely provide safer therapeutic alternative since it is as efficacious as currently used NSAIDs, if not more. But most importantly, this water-soluble biliprotein is from a natural source with least toxic effects.

In an effort to gain insight into effects of C-PC on other cancer cell lines and tounderstand the biochemical mechanism underlying COX-2 inhibitor induced apoptosis, in the present study we have evaluated the effects of C-PC (a natural COX-2 inhibitor) and Celecoxib (a synthetic COX-2 inhibitor) on the proliferation and apoptosis of chronic myeloid leukemia cells (K562 cells). The effects of C-PC and Celecoxib on the viability of K562 cells were evaluated after 24, 48, 72, 96 h in culture. These studies have clearly shown the inhibition in the growth of K562 cells in a dose and time dependent manner. A dose dependent decrease in K562 cell proliferation was observed until 48 hours after C-PC (Fig. 1) and Celecoxib (Fig.2) treatment with maximum decrease in cell proliferation being at 50 μ Mwhere the percent inhibition was 49% and 53% respectively. This reduction in the growth of K562 cells in the presence of C-PC / Celecoxib could be due to either apoptosis or necrosis. In order to test the factors responsible for reduced growth of K562 cells, further studies were undertaken on the characteristic markers of apoptosis.

Although a clinical significance of COX-2 inhibitors is well established, the mechanism of the **chemopreventive** action of these compounds is largely unknown. As COX-2 inhibitors such as Celecoxib and **Nimesulide** are already in use in several clinical trials, it will be tremendously important to decipher and understand the pathways that underlie the apoptosis promoting activities of these compounds. Indeed, there is accumulating evidence suggesting that the antineoplastic effect of NSAIDs may not be solely mediated by the inhibition of COX-2 activity and a subsequent decrease of prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂) synthesis, but by other cellular targets besides COX-2. This assumption is largely based on the observation that significantly higher concentrations of NSAIDs are necessary to inhibit cell growth and to induce apoptosis than those required for the inhibition of prostaglandin production (Tegeder *et al.*, 2001). Furthermore, NSAIDs reduced cell survival not only in COX-2 expressing cells, but also in COX-2 deficient cell lines (Elder *et al.*, 1997; Zhang *et al.*, 1999; Grosch *et al.*, 2001). In

62

COX-2 expression in K562 cell line. Both C-PC and Celecoxib showed significant reduction in growth only at very high concentrations i.e 50 μ M, while their COX-2 IC50 values are in 0.18 and 0.26 uM range. It is to be noted at this juncture, that both C-PC and Celecoxib inhibit COX-1 also at high concentrations employed in the present study. COX-1 IC₅₀ for C-PC and Celecoxib are 4.5 and 16.3 uM respectively (Reddy *et al.*, 2000). The concentrations of C-PC and Celecoxib required for inducing apoptosis in K562 cells is much higher compared to the IC50 values obtained for *in vitro* inhibition of enzyme. The present data indicate that the effects of C-PC and Celecoxib on K562 cells may not necessarily be related to inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis. However, the effective concentrations of C-PC and Celecoxib available in the cells for inhibition of COX-1 and COX-2 is to be evaluated in the present study.

Recent accumulating evidence suggests that defects in the process of apoptosis may be closely associated with carcinogenesis and that many cancer cells have defective machinery for self-destruction (Yano ef a/., 1994). It is the susceptibility to apoptosis-inducing suggested that effects of chemotherapeutic drugs may depend on the intrinsic ability of tumor cells to respond to apoptosis (Yano et a/., 1994; Tseng ef a/., 2002). It has been reported that sulindac sulfide can induce apoptosis in promyelocytic leukemia cell line HL-60, which suggests that nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) have anti-leukemic effect (Shiff et a/., 1995). Recently, it has been shown that aspirin and salicylate induce apoptosis of B-CLL cells (Bellosillo ef a/., 1998). The present study demonstrates the induction of apoptosis in K562 cells treated with C-PC and Celecoxib, the selective COX-2 inhibitors. Apoptosis is a specific mode

of cell death recognized by a characteristic pattern of morphological, biochemical, and molecular changes. C-PC and Celecoxib treated cells showed pronounced morphological changes like cell shrinkage, formation of membrane blebs, and **micronuclei** characteristic of apoptosis as evidenced by fluorescence and electron microscopic studies. A ladder-like DNA fragmentation pattern, a biochemical marker of apoptosis (cleavage of DNA into **nucleosomal** size fragments of 180-200 bp) was observed in K562 cells treated with C-PC and Celecoxib. The flow **cytometer** has recently become the instrument of choice for analysis of cell kinetics and offers a mean for the rapid and accurate analysis of a large population of individual cells. Flow **cytometric** analysis of treated cells showed the increase of hypodiploid apoptotic cells in a concentration-dependent manner and the decrease of the cells at S and G2 phase of cell cycle. This result is similar to that found by **Hanif** *et al.* **(1996)** in the study of colon cancer cells for NSAIDs.

In mitochondria, cytochrome c is required as an electron carrier in oxidative phosphorylation, a process which generates the majority of intracellular ATP (Hatefi, 1985). Cytochrome c resides in the space between the outer and inner membranes of mitochondria, where it snuggles up to the cytochrome c oxidase complex located in the inner membrane. Several apoptosis inducing agents are known to trigger mitochondrial uncoupling leading to the rupture of outer membrane. This inturn causes the release of pro-apoptotic factors such as apoptosis inducing factor (AIF), cytochrome c and the apoptosis protease-activating factor (Apaf-1) into the cytosol. In cytoplasm, cytochrome c is known to

get associated with caspase-9. Apaf-1 and dATP to form the apoptosome complex (Li et a/., 1997), which inturn activates caspase-9, 3 and 7. Caspase activation leads to the cleavage of cellular substrates and apoptosis. The molecular mechanism responsible for the translocation of cytochrome c from mitochondria to cytosol is at present unknown. A principal hypothesis for how cytochrome c exits mitochondria during apoptosis is that the permeability transition pore in the mitochondrial IM (inner membrane) opens, causing mitochondrial swelling and rupture of the mitochondrial OM (outer membrane) (Szabo and Zoratti, 1991; 1992; Von Ashen et al., 2000). The anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 acts on mitochondria to stabilize membrane integrity and prevent the opening of the megachannel (Yang et al., 1997; Susin et al., 1998; Tsujimoto and Shimizu, 2000). In the present study, it is examined whether cytochrome c is released or not into the cytosol in response to C-PC and Celecoxib treatment by employing Western blot analysis. These studies have shown the release of cvtochrome c after treatment of C-PC and Celecoxib treatment. Cvtochrome c release was observed as early as 6 h after treatment with C-PC, with later increase upto 24 h. In this report, we show that the release of cytochrome c from mitochondria to cytosol is an early event in the apoptotic process, preceding morphological signs of apoptosis. This is in support with the earlier finding that C-PC indced apoptosis in RAW 26.7cells through cytochrome c release into the cytosol (Reddy ef al., 2003). NS-398, the selective inhibitor of COX-2, was also shown to induce apoptosis in colon cancer cells by cytochrome c dependent pathway (Li et al., 2001).

65

In the present model a biochemical evidence is provided for cellular damage in the from of activation of potential substrates for an ICE/CED 3 like proteases during apoptosis called, Poly (ADP) ribose polymearse (PARP). Activation of caspases leads to cell demise (Nicholson and Thornberry, 1997) via cleavage of cellular substrates, such as actin (Mashima et a/., 1997), fodrin (Martin et a/., 1995), PARP (Lazebnik et a/., 1994) and gelsolin (Kothakota et a/., 1997). By processes that are not altogether clear, poly (ADP) ribosylation of variety of proteins facilitates DNA repair. Activation of PARP by DNA damage depletes energy stores and thus may prevent apoptosis. PARP cleavage, on the other hand, seems to be important to preserve the energetic substrates for apoptotic events. In the present study, C-PC and Celecoxib accelerated the cleavage of PARP leading to the formation of a 23 kDa product. This cleavage of PARP might then preclude the catalytic domains of PARP being recruited to the sites of DNA damage, and presumably disable PARP from coordinating subsequent repair and maintain genome integrity. Also PARP is known to negatively regulate the Ca^{+2} and Mg^{+2} dependent endonucleases (Yoshihara et al., 1975; Yoshihara et a/., 1974; Tanaka et a/, 1984). Since C-PC and Celecoxib are promoting the PARP cleavage in K562 cells, it may result in activation of Ca⁺² and Ma+2 dependent endonucleases, which would eventually cleave DNA into oligonucleosomal fragments. Caspase-3 cleavage product was not detected in the present study, although PARP cleavage was observed. It is possible that the amount of caspase-3 cleavage was too low to be detected by Western blot analysis or, alternatively, that other caspases may be participating in C-PC induced apoptosis.

Bcl-2 belongs to a growing family of proteins, which can either inhibit (Bcl-2, Bcl-X_L Bcl-2w, Mcl-1, Bfl-1, A1 etc.) or favor (Bax, Bcl-X_S, Bad, Bak, Bik etc.) apoptosis, which in cells reside predominantly in the outer mitochondrial membrane, endoplasmic reticulum, and the outer nuclear envelope (Adams and Cory 1998; Zamzami et a/., 1996). Bcl-2 is known to protect cells against apoptosis triggered by a wide range of factors. Activated bcl-2 gene could prevent apoptosis induced by c-Myc (Bissonnette et al., 1992), and Bax, another bcl-2 family gene was observed to be increased when c-Myc was overexpressed (Sakamuro et a/., 1995). Enhanced expression of Bcl-2 or of its apoptosisinhibitory homologs is involved in the pathogenesis of numerous human cancers. Overexpression of Bcl-2 is correlated with the progression of prostate carcinoma (McDonnell et a/., 1992). Ectopic expression of Bcl-2 was shown to impair apoptotic signaling by inactivating c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase, leading to apoptosis (Herrmann et a/., 1997). Bcl-2 regulates apoptosis atleast inpart, due to their capacity to act on mitochondria, perhaps as an endogenous inhibitor of the pore forming protein Bax (Antonsson et a/., 1997). Bcl-2 proteins regulate the translocation of mitochondrial ions or proteins (cytochrome c) into the cytoplasm (Kluck ef a/., 1997). Bax might function as a death effector molecule that is neutralized by Bcl-2. However, the inhibitory effect of Bcl-2 on apoptosis is determined by the interaction with Bax, a 21 kDa protein with a degree of homology to Bcl-2. Bcl-2 can form heterodimers with Bax and lose its protective effect. When Bcl-2 is present in excess, cells are protected from apoptosis. However, when Bax is in excess and the homodimers of Bax dominate, cells are susceptible to programmed cell death. So, it appears to be the relative ratios of

Bcl-2 and Bax that determine the fate of a cell, rather than the absolute concentrations of either (Oltvai ef *al.*, 1993). C-PC induced apoptosis in AK5 cells through the down regulation of Bcl-2 (Pardhasaradhy *et al.*, 2003). To determine whether the cell death induced by C-PC and Celecoxib in K562 cells has any relation to the expression of Bcl-2, C-PC and Celecoxib treated cells were analyzed for changes in the levels of Bcl-2 protein. Bcl-2 and Bax are expressed in cultured K562 cells. However, the changes in these two proteins induced by C-PC and Celecoxib were different. The level of Bcl-2 in K562 cells decreased with increasing C-PC and Celecoxib concentrations. In contrast to the decreased Bcl-2 levels, the expression of Bax showed no apparent changes after treatment with C-PC and Celecoxib at various concentrations. The net effect resulted in a lowered ratio of Bcl-2/Bax, which might be responsible for C-PC and Celecoxib induced apoptosis in K562 cells. Similar operation was reported in Indomethacin induced apoptosis in chronic myeloid leukemia cells (Zhang *et al.*, 2000).

Apoptosis is modulated by the expression of a number of regulatory genes, especially some oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes, such as p53, *bcl-2, bax* and *c-myc* (Staunton and Gaffney, **1998**). The *c-myc* proto-oncogene has two coupled functions: proliferation and apoptosis. These opposing roles of *c-myc* require the interaction with other gene products to determine the final outcome of cells. A candidate for such a modifying gene is *bcl-2* (Reed, 1994). The interaction between the proto-oncogene *c-myc* and members of the Bcl-2 family may play an important role in the control of cell apoptosis (Bissonnette *et al.*, 1992). Myc proteins are known to be critical regulators of apoptotic mechanisms (Furhmann ef *al.*, 1999; Thompson, 1998). Among various

proapoptotic factors, Myc oncoprotein has been reported to promote apoptotic responses as well as proliferative activity, although the precise mechanism by which Myc regulates both unlinked pathways remains obscure (Shi et al., 1992; Sakamuro et al., 1995; Evan and Littlewood, 1998). Constitutive c-Myc expression in an II-3 dependent myeloid cell line suppresses cell cycle arrest and accelerates apoptosis (Askew et al., 1991). The present results have demonstrated an increase in the expression of c-Myc in response to C-PC and Celecoxib treatment. Recent experiments have demonstrated that c-Myc-induced sensitization to apoptotic stimuli is mediated by changes in the mitochondrial membrane resulting in the release of cytochrome c into cytoplasm (Juin ef al., 1999). The translocation of mitochondrial cytochrome c into the cytoplasm observed in the present study supports such a possibility. The expression of other regulatory proteins, with which c-Myc complexes, in response to C-PC/ Celecoxib treatment might be responsible for driving the cells towards apoptosis (Morris ef al., 2003). Further studies, however, are required to elucidate the mechanism(s) of c-Myc- induced apoptosis in the present study, and explain how c-Myc can promote both cell growth and cell death and what are the factors influencing that decision.

Overexpression of PKC is associated with carcinogenesis, whereas inactivation of PKC is associated with tumor suppression, cell cycle arrest, decreased proliferation, and apoptosis. Inhibitors of PKC have been studied as potential anticancer agents precisely because they are effective in inducing apoptosis (Caponigro et *al*, 1997). C-PC and Celecoxib inhibited PKC activity in K562 cells, suggesting that the antiproliferative signal from C-PC and Celecoxib

may be partially transmitted through PKC. However, the target of **PKC-mediated** suppression of proliferation in K562 cells is not known. Also the present data demonstrating the induction of apoptosis is preceded by arrest of cells in the S and G2 phase of the cell cycle suggesting that C-PC and Celecoxib probably interact with components of the cell cycle engine such as cyclin-dependent kinases and phosphorylation events regulated by other kinases.

Mode of action of C-PC

C-PC has been shown to induce apoptosis in mouse **macrophage** cell line (RAW264.7) stimulated with LPS (Reddy *et a*/., 2003). In addition to inducing apoptosis, this biliprotein is known to have anti-inflammatory (**Romay** *et a*/., **1998** b), anti-oxidant (Romay ef a/., **1998** a) properties with potent inhibition of COX-2 activity (Reddy *et a*/., 2000). It is not clear whether any of these activities contribute to the ability of C-PC to induce apoptosis.

To understand the biochemical properties and to raise **polyclonal** antibodies to C-PC it was necessary to have pure C-PC. C-PC from *Spirulina platensis* was isolated and purified to homogeneity and the procedure involved precipitation with ammonium sulfate (30-50 % saturation), and ion exchange column **chromatography** on a **DEAE-cellulose** column. As reported earlier, the A620/280 ratio of C-PC can be used to check the purity of C-PC preparation and if the A620/280 ratio is >4, it is considered as pure. So peak fractions having A620/A280 ratio above > 4.0 were pooled. The **UV-Visible** spectrum exactly matches the reported spectra of C-PC from *Spirulina platensis* (Boussiba, s 1979). The native PAGE and SDS-PAGE data indicate that, the C-PC is pure and contains two subunits, a (17 kDa) and (3 (20 kDa). In order to study the mode

of action of C-PC, polyclonal antibodies were raised against purified C-PC in rabbits. Western blot analysis with increasing concentrations of C-PC confirmed that the antibody is specific to protein of interest.

Heat shock proteins are a family of highly conserved molecules involved in protein folding in both prokaryotic and eukaryotic cells. Hsp60 strictly interacts in a two-step folding mechanism in normal prokaryotic and eukaryotic cells. The role of Hsps during carcinogenesis was postulated and investigated in vivo in many sites, as lung (Koomagi et al., 1996), breast (Yano et al., 1996), esophageal (Nakajima et a/., 2002) and ovarian (Yamamoto et al., 2001) melanoma (Protti et al., 1994), lymphoblastic leukemia and nephroblastoma (Stammler and Volm, 1996). Mitochondria, that can release pro-apoptotic factors such as cytochrome-c and pro-caspase, are central regulators of the apoptosis. It has been suggested that the activation of caspase-3 and -6, key components of the apoptotic machinery forms a part of a multiprotein complex which contains the mitochondrial Hsp60, and pro-caspase-3 was activated and dissociated from the Hsp60 complex following induction of apoptosis, suggesting that Hsp60 may serve as positive regulator of caspases during apoptosis (Samali et al., 1999; Xanthoudakis et al., 1999). Heat shock proteins are known to modulate apoptotic cell death induced by various stimuli and would modulate the balance between cell death and survival (Ciocca et al., 1992; Jaattela, 1999). Recent results from several laboratories have made it clear that cytoplasmic Hsp70 and Hsp27 prevent apoptosis induced by several anticancer drugs as well as other apoptotic stimuli, suggesting that these heat shock proteins have anti-apoptotic action and thus limit the efficacy of cancer therapy (Dix ef al., 1996; Creagh and

Cotter 1999; **Mosser** et a/, 1999). In contrast, mitochondrial heat shock proteins such as Hsp60 and mtHsp70 were upregulated by the treatment of anticancer drug in HeLa cells (Kim ef a/., 1999). Also, it has been revealed that Hsp60 accelerates the maturation of pro-caspase-3 by upstream activator proteases during apoptosis in Jurkat cells (**Samali** *et* a/., 1999; Xanthoudakis *et al.*, 1999). The present study also demonstrated an increase in mitochondrial Hsp60 levels in a dose and time dependent manner during C-PC induced apoptosis.

Telomerase activation and telomerase catalytic subunit gene (hTERT) are correlated with the deregulation of apoptosis. Telomerase is active in stabilizing telomeres of certain self-renewing cell populations and most malignant cells and. in humans, telomeres in these cells are maintained at about 15 kilobase pairs (kbp). In contrast, telomerase is not expressed in most normal human somatic cells, and telomere length is significantly shorter (Greider, 1998). The telomere hypothesis postulates stabilization of telomere length and telomerase activation as key events in cellular immortalization and carcinogenesis (Hayakawa et a/., 1999). Accordingly, telomerase could be a novel and highly selective target for antitumor drug design, a number of reports have examined factors believed to inhibit telomerase (Boklan ef a/., 2002). The present study indicates a decrease in telomerase activity in K562 cells with C-PC treatment for up to 5 days suggesting that this biliproetin from Spirulina platensis could be a candidate for cancer therapy. The positive correlation was also detected between hTERT or telomerase activation and Bcl-2 expression (Wang ef a/., 2000). Recently, it is shown that down-regulation of Bcl-2 and telomerase is considered to play an important role in drug-induced apoptosis (Lyu ef a/., 2002; Ji ef a/., 2002). It is

reported that telomerase activity in the colorectal carcinomas with expression of **Bcl-2** is higher than in the carcinomas without expression of **Bcl-2**, suggesting that expression of Bcl-2 is importantly associated with telomerase activity. In this study, C-PC decreased the expression of anti-apoptotic gene, Bcl-2 suggesting that C-PC exerts an inhibitory effect on the cell growth of K562 cells through down regulation of Bcl-2, but not the Bax gene mediated pathway.

Immunological studies employing C-PC polyclonal antibodies and fluorescent *in situ* hybridisation on confocal microscope suggest that intact C-PC enters into the K562 cells and is concentrated in the cytosol. However, it is not clear whether the entry of C-PC into the cells is mediated by any cell surface receptors or by other mechanisms. It was demonstrated earlier that C-PC is specifically taken up by actively proliferating cancer cells (**Morcos** *et at.*, 1988), suggesting such a possibility in K562 cells also.

In summary, this work presents evidence that COX-2 inhibitors C-PC and Ceiecoxib, induce apoptosis in human chronic **myeloid** leukemia cells. Both C-PC and Ceiecoxib induced ultrastructural changes such as cell shrinkage, formation of membrane blebs, and **micronuclei** characteristic of cells undergoing apoptosis. This induction of apoptosis in K562 cells by C-PC and Ceiecoxib appears to be mediated by **cytochrome** c release, PARP cleavage, Bcl-2 down regulation, c-**Myc** upregulation, overexpression of Hsp60 and inhibition of PKC activity., and by inhibiting PKC activity. Since very high concentrations of C-PC and Ceiecoxib (much higher than IC₅₀ values for COX-2) are required to induce apoptosis in these cells, it is suggested that COX-2 independent pathways also may be operating in inducing apoptosis. Howevr, it is not clear at this juncture that how

much of C-PC/ Celecoxib supplied to K562 cells is available for action. The present study also demonstrated that C-PC, being a protein of 39 kDa enters into the K562 cells. However, the mechanism of its entry is quite unclear. The overall signal transduction mechanism involved in C-PC induced apoptosis in K562 cells is presented in Fig. 36.

Since C-PC being a natural pigment and a component of edible Spirulina extracts, it forms a good alternative to highly toxic chemotherapeutic products in the market. Also it can form a good candidate for enhancing the sensitivity of cancer cells to conventional anticancer drugs and thus ultimately reducing their toxic side effects. However, further studies are required to test the efficacy of C-PC and Celecoxib on **CML** and other **leukemias** in animal models.



Summary

' `Summary

C-Phycocyanin (C-PC) is a **notice water soluble** phycobiliprotein pigment isolated from *Spirulina platensis*. This water- soluble protein pigment is of greater importance because of its various biological and pharamacological properties. C-PC is reported to have anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, and antiarthritic properties. Recent studies have shown that C-PC selectively inhibits **cyclooxygenase-2** (COX-2) and also induces apoptosis in RAW 264.7 cells stimulated with LPS, and AK5 rat **histiocytoma** cell line. Celecoxib was the first **COX-2** inhibitor approved for use in U.S.A. In addition to the analgesic, antipyretic and anti-inflammatory activity, it has **chemopreventive** properties against colon cancer. Celecoxib significantly reduces the number of colon polyps in patients with familial **adenomatous** polyposis (FAP) and was recently approved by FDA for the treatment of FAP patients. Celecoxib was recently shown to induce apoptosis in COX-2 expressing androgen responsive (LNCap) and nonresponsive (PC3) prostate cancer cells.

Prostaglandins (PGs) are a family of intercellular and intracellular messengers derived from arachidonic acid. These mediators exert a wide range of effects on processes such as smooth muscle tone, vascular permeability, cellular proliferation and inflammatory/immune function. The initial step in the synthesis of PGs from arachidonic acid is mediated by cyclooxygenases (COX also known as prostaglandin H synthase or prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase), of which two **isoforms** are recognized. **COX-1** is expressed constitutively in most cell types, and prostanoids derived from **COX-1** are thought to be important in gastric and renal **homeostasis**. COX-2 is the product of immediate early gene and is rapidly expressed only after exposure of cells to

Summary

hormones, **mitogenic** stimuli, bacterial lipopolysaccharides and inflammatory mediators. The induction of **COX-2**, with the resultant production of prostanoids can contribute to parturition, inflammation, pain, fever and certain types of cancer.

NSAIDs are used to treat acute and chronic inflammatory disorders. This anti-inflammatory mechanism of NSAIDs is due to a reduction of PG synthesis by the direct inhibition of cyclooxygenase. Since COX-2 is responsible for the production of prostaglandins at the site of inflammation, the selective inhibition of COX-2 results in potent anti-inflammatory effect. Unlike the non-specific NSAIDs, the selective COX-2 inhibitors have lesser gastrointestinal and other side effects. In addition to the role of COX-2 in inflammation, a number of studies have shown its role in cancer. A strong correlation has been established between the use of NSAIDs and the decreased incidence of colorectal, breast and lung cancers.

In view of involvement of cyclooxygenases in the mediation of cancers, particularly COX-2 which is over expressed in many cancers and inhibition of **COX-2** leads to a markedly reduced tumor growth & block angiogenesis, the therapeutic role of COX-2 inhibitors towards a variety of cancers appear promising. Hence in the present study it is proposed to test the effect of COX-2 inhibitors on the growth and multiplication of **CML** cell line in K562. For this study C-PC a natural COX-2 inhibitor, and Celecoxib, a synthetic COX-2 inhibitor in the market, were employed. An attempt also was made to understand the mechanism(s) of C-PC induced cell death and to correlate the same with Celecoxib.

76

Summary

The present study demonstrates that C-PC (natural COX-2 inhibitor) and Celecoxib (synthetic COX-2 inhibitor) induce apoptosis in chronic myelogenous leukemia cells (K562 cells). The results indicate that C-PC and Celecoxib reduced the growth and multiplication of K562 cells. Phase contrast microscopic studies also revealed the presence of cells with web like activated membrane structure and also decrease in cell number. Ultrastructural changes, like membrane blebbing and nuclear condensation, typical of apoptosis, were observed by Scanning and Transmission electron microscopy.

In the present study the effect of C-PC and Celecoxib was monitored on **COX-1** and COX-2 expression in K562 cell line. Both C-PC and Celecoxib showed significant reduction in growth only at very high concentrations i.e. 50 uM, while their **COX-2** IC₅₀ values are in 0.18 and 0.26 uM range. It is to be noted at this juncture, that both C-PC and Celecoxib inhibit **COX-1** also at high concentrations employed in the present study. **COX-1** IC₅₀ for C-PC and Celecoxib are 4.5 and 16.3 uM respectively (Reddy *et al.*, 2000). The concentrations of C-PC and Celecoxib required for inducing apoptosis in K562 cells is much higher compared to the IC50 values obtained for *in vitro* inhibition of enzyme. The present data indicate that the effects of C-PC and Celecoxib on K562 cells may not necessarily be related to inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis. However, the effective concentrations of C-PC and Celecoxib available in the cells for inhibition of COX-1 and COX-2 is to be evaluated in the present study.

The enzymatic cleavage at the DNA linker region renders a "classical laddering" of DNA, regarded as a marker of apoptosis, was clearly detected in cells treated with C-PC and Celecoxib. Flow cytometric analysis of the K562

cells treated with C-PC and Celecoxib showed 14-21 % of cells in sub G0/G1 phase. Flow **cytometric** analysis of treated cells showed the increase of hypodiploid apoptotic cells in a concentration-dependent manner and the decrease of the cells at S and G2 phase of cell cycle. This result suggested a possibility that C-PC and Celecoxib induced apoptosis occurs at S and G2 phase of the cell cycle.

Cytochrome c is known to be an essential factor in the mitochondrial respiratory chain and is released in response to various stimuli that elicit apoptosis. The precise mechanism for cytochrome c translocation is still unclear. Western blot analysis showed that cytochrome c is released significantly in the treated cells as early as 6 h compared to the control cells. **Poly-ADP-Ribose-Polymerase** (PARP), a **116-kDa** protein that binds specifically at DNA strand breaks, is also a substrate for certain caspases (for example, caspase 3 and 7) activated during early stages of apoptosis. These proteases cleave PARP to fragments of approximately 85 kDa and 23 kDa. Detection of the 23 kDa PARP fragment with anti-PARP antibodies thus serves as an early marker of apoptosis. In the present study, a dose dependent increase in PARP cleavage was observed in cells treated with C-PC as well as Celecoxib.

Bcl-2 prevents the release of apoptosis inducing factor and cytochrome c from mitochondria, which is considered to be a key event during apoptosis. The present studies revealed a down regulation of Bcl-2 in K562 cells treated with C-PC and Celecoxib. Bcl-2 can form **heterodimers** with Bax protein, a Bcl-2 associated protein, which antagonizes Bcl-2 action and induces apoptosis. In this study no influence was seen on Bax protein levels in K562 cells treated with C-

Summary

PC and Celecoxib. The resulting net effect could thus lead to a lowered ratio of **Bcl-2/Bax**, which might be responsible for the C-PC and Celecoxib induced apoptosis in K562 cells. The interaction between the proto-oncogene *c-myc* and members of the **Bcl-2** family may play an important role in the control of cell apoptosis. Among various proapoptotic factors, **Myc** oncoprotein has been reported to promote apoptotic responses. The present studies have demonstrated an increase in the expression of c-Myc in response to C-PC and Celecoxib treatment. C-PC and Celecoxib inhibited PKC activity in K562 cells, suggesting that the antiproliferative signal from C-PC and Celecoxib may be partially mediated through PKC. Also the present data demonstrating the induction of apoptosis is preceded by arrest of cells in the S and G2 phase of the cell cycle engine such as cyclin-dependent kinases and phosphorylation events regulated by other kinases.

Heat shock proteins are known to modulate apoptotic cell death induced by various stimuli and would modulate the balance between cell death and survival. The present study also demonstrated an increase in **mitochondrial** Hsp60 levels during C-PC and Celecoxib induced apoptosis. It was reported that **telomerase** activation and **telomerase** catalytic subunit gene (*hTERT*) are correlated with the deregulation of apoptosis. The telomere hypothesis postulates stabilization of telomere length and telomerase activation as key events in cellular immortalization and carcinogenesis. Accordingly, telomerase could be a novel and highly selective target for **antitumor** drug design. The present studies indicate an apparent decrease in telomerase activity in K562 cells with C-PC treatment for upto 5 days and hence this biliprotein from *Spirulina platensis* could be a candidate for cancer therapy. **Immunological** studies employing C-PC polyclonal antibodies and fluorescent *in situ* hybridisation on confocal microscope suggest that C-PC enters into the K562 cells and is concentrated in the cytosol. However, it is not clear whether the entry of C-PC into the cells is mediated by any cell surface receptors or by other mechanisms.

In conclusion our studies reveal that C-PC, a naturally occurring biliprotein from *Spirulina platensis* and a known COX-2 inhibitor, induces apoptosis in chronic myeloid leukemia K562 cells and is comparable with Celecoxib, a known COX-2 inhibitor and a chemopreventive agent. This is confirmed by MTT assay, nuclear condensation assay (DAPI staining), electron microscopic studies (SEM & TEM), DNA fragmentation, PARP cleavage and FACS analysis. The induced apoptosis is accompanied by the release of cytochrome c into the cytoplasm and downregulation of Bcl-2 expression, c-Myc overexpression, and downregulation of PKC activity. The overall signal transduction mechanism of C-PC induced apoptosis in K562 cells is presented in Fig.36. Being a natural compound and having characteristic stability and solubility in aqueous solution, C-PC could form a more acceptable chemo preventive and/or chemotherapeutic agent for CML patients. Further in depth studies on CML patients, however, are required to test this possibility.

References

- 1. Adams JM, Cory S. Life-or-death decisions by the Bcl-2 protein family. Trends Biochem Sci 26:61-66,2001.
- Adams JM, Cory S. The Bcl-2 protein family: arbiters of cell survival. Science 281: 1322-13266, 1998.
- Alnemri ES, Litwack G. Activation of internucleosomal DNA cleavage in human CEM lymphocytes by glucocorticoid and novobiocin. Evidence for a non- Ca²⁽⁺⁾ requiring mechanism(s). J Biol Chem 265: 17323-17333, 1990.
- Amos TA, Lewis JL, Grand FH, Gooding RP, Goldman JM and Gordon MY. Apoptosis in chronic myeloid leukemia:normal responses by progenitor cells to growth factor deprivation, X-irradiation and glucocorticoids. Br J Hematol 91: 387-393,1995.
- Anderson GD, Hauser SD, McGarity KL, Bremer ME, Isakson PC, Gregory SA. Selective inhibition of cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 reverses inflammation and expression of COX-2 and interleukin 6 in rat adjuvant arthritis. J Clin Invest 97: 2672-2679, 1996.
- Antonsson B, Conti F, Ciavatta A, Montessuit S, Lewis S, Martinou I, Bernasconi L, Bernard A, Mermod JJ, Mazzei G, Maundrell K, Gambale F, Sadoul R, Martinou JC. Inhibition of Bax channel-forming activity by Bcl-2. Science 277:370-372, 1997.
- Antonsson B. Bax and other pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family "killer-proteins" and their victim the mitochondrion. Cell Tissue Res 306: 347-361, 2001.
- Armitage P, Doll R.The age distribution of cancer and a multi-stage theory of carcinogenesis. Br J Cancer 8: 1-12, 1954.
- Askew DS, Ashmun RA, Simmons BC, Cleveland JL.Constitutive c-myc expression in an IL-3-dependent myeloid cell line suppresses cell cycle arrest and accelerates apoptosis. Oncogene 6: 1915-1922,1991.
- Ayehunie S, Belay A, Baba TW, Ruprecht RM. Inhibition of HIV-1 replication by an aqueous extract of *Spirulina platensis (Arthrospira platensis)*. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 18: 7-12, 1998.
- Barnes CJ, Lee M. Chemoprevention of spontaneous intestinal adenomas in the adenomatous polyposis coli Min mouse model with aspirin. Gastroenterology. 114: 873-877, 1998
- Baron JA. Epidemiology of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and cancer. Prog Exp Tumor Res 37: 1-24, 2003.

- Beckmann RP, Lovett M, Welch WJ. Examining the function and regulation of hsp 70 in cells subjected to metabolic stress. J Cell Biol 117:1137-1150, 1992.
- Bedi A, Zehnbauer B, Barber JP, Sharkis SJ, Jones RJ. Inhibition of apoptosis by BCR-ABL in chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 83: 2038-2044,1994.
- Bellosillo B, Pique M, Barragan M, Castano E, Villamor N, Colomer D, Montserrat E, Pons G, Gil J.Aspirin and salicylate induce apoptosis and activation of caspases in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. Blood. 92:1406-1414, 1998.
- Berridge MJ, Irvine RF. Inositol trisphosphate, a novel second messenger in cellular signal transduction. Nature 312: 315-321, 1984.
- Bissonnette RP, Echeverri F, Mahboubi A, Green DR. Apoptotic cell death induced by c-myc is inhibited by bcl-2. Nature 359: 552-554, 1992.
- Blackburn EH. Structure and function of telomeres. Nature 350: 569-573, 1991.
- 19. Blackburn EH. Telomere states and cell fates. Nature 408:53-56, 2000.
- Blackwood EM, Eisenman RN. Max: a helix-loop-helix zipper protein that forms a sequence-specific DNA-binding complex with Myc. Science 251: 1211-127,1991.
- Blum H, Beier H, Gross HJ. Improved silver staining of plant proteins, RNA, DNA in polyacrylamide gels. Electrophoresis 8: 93-97, 1987.
- Boklan J, Nanjangud G, MacKenzie KL, C. May C, Sadelain M, Moore MA, Limited proliferation and telomere dysfunction followingtelomerase inhibition in immortal murine fibroblasts. Cancer Res 62: 2104-2114, 2002.
- Boussiba S and Richmond AE. Isolation and Characterization of Phycocyanins from the Blue-green Alga Spirulina platensis. Arch Microbiol 120: 155-159, 1979.
- Bradford MM. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantification of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principal of protein dye binding. Anal Biochem 72: 248-254, 1976.
- 25. Brown PH, Lippman SM. Chemoprevention of breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 62:1-17, 2000.

- Buttar NS, Wang KK. The "aspirin" of the new millennium: cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors. Mayo Clin Proc 75:1027-1038, 2000.
- Caponigro F, French RC, Kaye SB. Protein kinase C: a worthwhile target for anticancer drugs? Anticancer Drugs 8: 26-33, 1997.
- Carlo-stella C, Dotti G, Mangoni L, Regazzi E, Garau D, Bonati A, Almici C, Sammarelli G, Savoldo B, Rizzo MT, Rizzoli V. Selection of myeloid progenitors lacking BCR/ABL mRNA in chronic myelogenous patients after *in vitro* treatment with the tyrosine kinase inhibitor genistein. Blood 88: 3091-3100,1996.
- Casciola-Rosen L, Nicholson DW, Chong T, Rowan KR, Thornberry NA, Miller DK, Rosen A. Apopain/CPP32 cleaves proteins that are essential for cellular repair: a fundamental principle of apoptotic death. J Exp Med 183: 1957-1964, 1996.
- Caspersson T, Gahrton G, Lindsten J and Zech I. Identification of the Philadelphia chromosome as a number 22 by quinacrine mustard fluorescence analysis. Exp Cell Res 63: 238-240, 1970.
- 31. Chamorro G, Salazar M, Favila L, Bourges H. Pharmacology and toxicology of *Spirulina alga* **Rev Invest Clin** 48: 389-399,1996.
- 32. Chan TA. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, apoptosis, and coloncancer chemoprevention. Lancet Oncol 3:166-174, 2002.
- Chandra J, Niemer I, Gilbreath J, Kliche KO, Andreeff M, Freireich EJ, Keating M, McConkey DJ, Proteasome inhibitors induce apoptosis in glucocorticoid-resistant chronic lymphocytic leukemic lymphocytes, Blood 92: 4220-4229, 1998.
- Chang HY, Yang X.Proteases for cell suicide: functions and regulation of caspases. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 64: 821-846, 2000.
- Chen F, Zhang Q. Inhibitive effects of spirulina on aberrant crypts in colon induced by dimethylhydrazine. Zhonghua Yu Fang Yi Xue Za Zhi 29:13-17,1995.
- Chinnaiyan AM. The apoptosome: heart and soul of the cell death machine. Neoplasia 1: 5-15,1999.
- Ciocca DR, Fuqua SA, Lock-Lim S, Toft DO, Welch WJ, McGuire WL. Response of human breast cancer cells to heat shock and chemotherapeutic drugs. Cancer Res 52: 3648-3654, 1992.

- Cohen GM. Caspases: the executioners of apoptosis. Biochem J 326: 1-16, 1997.
- Cortez D, Reuther G, Pendergast AM. The BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase activates mitogenic signaling pathways and stimulates G1-S-phase transition in hematopoietic cells. Oncogene 15:2333-2342, 1997.
- 40. Coussens LM, Werb Z. Inflammation and cancer. Nature 420: 860-867, 2002.
- Craig EA, Kramer J, Shilling J, Werner-Washburne M, Holmes S, Kosic-Smithers J, Nicolet CM. SSC1, an essential member of the yeast HSP70 multigene family, encodes a mitochondrial protein. Mol Cell Biol 9: 3000-3008,1989.
- Creagh EM, Cotter TG. Selective protection by hsp 70 against cytotoxic drug-, but no tFas-induced T-cellapoptosis. Immunology 97: 36-44, 1999.
- Crofford LJ, Wilder RL, Ristimaki AP, Sano H, Remmers EF, Epps HR, Hla T.Cyclooxygenase-1 and -2 expression in rheumatoid synovial tissues. Effects of interleukin-1 beta, phorbol ester, and corticosteroids. J Clin Invest 93: 1095-1101, 1994.
- Daley G, Van Etten RA, Baltimore D. Induction of chronic myelogenous leukemia in mice by the p210 bcr-abl gene of the Philadelphia chromosome. Science 247: 824-830, 1990.
- Dang CV, Lee WM. Identification of the human c-myc protein nuclear translocation signal. Mol Cell Biol 8: 4048-4054,1988.
- Dempke W, Rie C, Grothey A, Schmoll HJ. Cyclooxygenase-2: a novel target for cancer chemotherapy? J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 127: 411-417,2001.
- 47. DePinho RA. The age of cancer. Nature 408: 248-254, 2000
- Denecker G, Vercammen D, Declercq W, Vandenabeele P. Apoptotic and necrotic cell death induced by death domain receptors. Cell Mol Life Sci 58:356-370,2001.
- Desagher S, Martinou JC. Mitochondria as the central control point of apoptosis. Trends Cell Biol 10: 369-377, 2000.
- DeWitt DL, Meade EA, Smith WL. PGH synthase isoenzyme selectivity: the potential for safer nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs. Am J Med 95: 40S-44S. 1993.

- DeWitt DL, Smith WL. Primary structure of prostaglandin G/H synthase from sheep vesicular gland determined from the complementary DNA sequence. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85: 5056,1988.
- Didenko VV, Hornsby PJ. Presence of double-strand breaks with singlebase 3' overhangs in cells undergoing apoptosis but not necrosis. J Cell Biol 135:1369-1376, 1996.
- Dix DJ, Allen JW, Collins BW, Mori C, Nakamura N, Poorman-Allen P, Goulding EH, Eddy EM. Targeted gene disruption of Hsp70-2 results in failed meiosis, germ cell apoptosis, and male infertility. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93: 3264-3268, 1996.
- Eaves AC, Cashman JD, Gaboury LA, Kalousek DK and Eaves CJ. Unregulated proliferation of primitive chronic myelogenous leukemia progenitors in the presence of normal marrow adherent cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83. 5306-5310,1986.
- Eberhart CE, Coffey RJ, Radhika A, Giardiello FM, Ferrenbach S, DuBois RN. Up-regulation of cyclooxygenase 2 gene expression in human colorectal adenomas and adenocarcinomas. Gastroenterology 107: 1183-1188,1994.
- Elder DJ, Halton DE, Hague A, Paraskeva C. Induction of apoptotic cell death in human colorectal carcinoma cell lines by a cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2)-selective nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug: independence from COX-2 protein expression. Clin Cancer Res 3. 1679-1683, 1997.
- Enari M, Sakahira H, Yokoyama H, Okawa K, Iwamatsu A, Nagata S. A caspase-activated DNase that degrades DNA during apoptosis, and its inhibitor ICAD.Nature 391: 43-50, 1998.
- Evan G, Littlewood T. A matter of life and cell death. Science 281:1317-1322, 1998.
- Evan GI, Wyllie AH, Gilbert CS, Littlewood TD, Land H, Brooks M, Waters CM, Penn LZ, Hancock DC. Induction of apoptosis in fibroblasts by c-myc protein. Cell 69:119-128,1992.
- Everts B, Wahrborg P, Hedner T. COX-2-Specific inhibitors-the emergence of a new class of analgesic and anti-inflammatory drugs. Clin Rheumatol 19: 331-343, 2000.
- Facchini LM, Penn LZ.The molecular role of Myc in growth and transformation: recent discoveries lead to new insights. FASEB J 12:633-651,1998.

- Fialkow PJ, Jacobson RJ and Papayannopoulou T. Chronic myelocytic leukemia:clonal origin in a stem cell common to the granulocyte, erythrocyte, platelet and monocytes/macrophage. Am J Med 63: 125-130, 1997.
- Fischer G, Kent SC, Joseph L, Green DR, Scott DW. Lymphoma models for B cell activation and tolerance. X. Anti-mu-mediated growth arrest and apoptosis of murine B cell lymphomas is prevented by the stabilization of myc. J Exp Med 179: 221-228,1994.
- Fosslien E. Biochemistry of cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 inhibitors and molecular pathology of COX-2 in neoplasia. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 37: 431-502, 2000.
- 65. Fournier DB, Gordon GB. **COX-2** and colon cancer: Potential targets for chemoprevention. J Cell Biochem 77: 97-102, 2000.
- Fuhrmann G, Rosenberger G, Grusch M, Klein N, Hofmann J, Krupitza G. The MYC dualism in growth and death. Mutat Res 437: 205-217, 1999.
- Galaktionov K, Chen X, Beach D. Cdc25 cell-cycle phosphatase as a target of c-myc. Nature 382: 511-517,1996.
- Gething MJ, Sambrook J. Protein folding in the cell. Nature 355: 33-45, 1992.
- Giardiello FM, Hamilton SR, Krush AJ, Piantadosi S, Hylind LM, Celano P, Booker SV, Robinson CR, Offerhaus GJ. Treatment of colonic and rectal adenomas with sulindac in familia ladenomatous polyposis. N Engl J Med 328: 1313-1316, 1993.
- Giovannucci E, Egan KM, Hunter DJ, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Willett WC, Speizer FE. Aspirin and the risk of colorectal cancer in women. N Engl J Med 333:609-614,1995.
- Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Ascherio A, Willett WC. Aspirin use and the risk for colorectal cancer and adenoma in male health professionals. Ann Intern Med 121:241-246, 1994.
- 72. Glazer AN.Light guides. Directional energy transfer in a photosynthetic antenna. J Biol Chem 264:1-4,1989.
- Gonzalez de Rivera C, Miranda-Zamora R, Diaz-Zagoya JC, Juarez-Oropeza MA. Preventive effect of Spirulina maxima on the fatty liver induced by a fructose-rich diet in the rat, a preliminary report. Life Sci 53: 57-61,1993.

- Gonzalez R, Rodriguez S, Romay C, Ancheta O, Gonzalez A, Armesto J, Remirez D, Merino N. Anti-inflammatory activity of phycocyanin extract in acetic acid-induced colitis in rats. Pharmacol Res 39: 55-59,1999.
- 75. Gorczyca W. Cytometric analyses to distinguish death processes. Endocr Relat Cancer 6:17-19, 1999.
- Gradwohl G, Menissier de Murcia JM, Molinete M, Simonin F, Koken M, Hoeijmakers JH, de Murcia G. The second zinc-finger domain of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase determines specificity for single-stranded breaks in DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87: 2990-2994, 1990.
- Greider CW. Telomerase activity, cell proliferation, and cancer, Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95: 90–92, 1998.
- Groffen J, Stephenson JR, Heisterkamp N, de klein A, Bartram CR and Grosveld G. Philadelphia chromosomal breakpoints are clustered with in a limited region, bcr on chromosome 22. Cell 36: 93-99,1984.
- Grosch S, Tegeder I, Niederberger E, Brautigam L, Geisslinger G. COX-2 independent induction of cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in colon cancer cells by the selective COX-2 inhibitor celecoxib. FASEB J 15: 2742-2744. 2001.
- Hanif R, Pittas A, Feng Y, Koutsos MI, Qiao L, Staiano-Coico L, Shiff SI, Rigas B. Effects of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs on proliferation and on induction of apoptosis in colon cancer cells by a prostaglandinindependent pathway. Biochem Pharmacol 52: 237-245,1996.
- Hann SR, King MW, Bentley DL, Anderson CW, Eisenman RN. A non-AUG translational initiation in c-myc exon 1 generates an N-terminally distinct protein whose synthesis is disrupted in Burkitt's lymphomas. Cell 52: 185-195,1988.
- Hara A, Yoshimi N, Niwa M, Ino N, Mori H. Apoptosis induced by NS-398, a selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, in human colorectal cancer cell lines. Jpn J Cancer Res 88: 600-604,1997.
- 83. Harley CB, Futcher AB, Greider CW. Telomeres shorten during ageing of human fibroblasts. Nature 345: 458-460, 1990.
- 84. Hatefi Y. The mitochondrial electron transport and oxidative phosphorylation system. **Annu Rev Biochem** 54:1015-1069, 1985.
- 85. Hayakawa N, Nozawa K, Ogawa A, Kato N, Yoshida K, Akamatsu K, Tsuchiya M, Nagasaka A, Yoshida S. Isothiazolone derivatives selectively

inhibit telomerase from human and rat cancer cells in vitro. Biochemistry 38: 11501–11507,1999.

- Hayashi K, Hayashi T, Kojima I. A natural sulfated polysaccharide, calcium spirulan, isolated from Spirulina platensis: in vitro and ex vivo evaluation of anti-herpes simplex virus and anti-human immunodeficiency virus activities. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 12: 1463-1471, 1996.
- Hayashi O, Hirahashi T, Katoh T, Miyajima H, Hirano T, Okuwaki Y.Class specific influence of dietary *Spirulina platensis* on antibody production in mice. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 44: 841-851,1998.
- Hayashi O, Katoh T, Okuwaki Y. Enhancement of antibody production in mice by dietary *Spirulina platensis*. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 40: 431-441,1994.
- Hayashi T, Hayashi K, Maeda M, Kojima I. Calcium spirulan, an inhibitor of enveloped virus replication, from a blue-green alga *Spirulina platensis*. J Nat Prod 59: 83-87, 1996.
- Heisterkamp N, Stephenson JR, Groffen J, Hansen PF, de Klein A, Bartram CR, and Grosveld G. Localization of the c-abl oncogene adjacent to a translocation break point in chronic myeloytic leukemia. Nature 306: 239-242, 1983.
- Herceg Z, Wang ZQ.Functions of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) in DNA repair, genomic integrity and cell death. Mutat Res 477: 97-110, 2001.
- Hermann M, Lorenz HM, Voll R Grunke M, Woith W, Kalden JR, A rapid and simple method for the isolation of apoptotic DNA fragments. Nucleic Acids Res 22: 5506-5507, 1994.
- Herrmann JL, Beham AW, Sarkiss M, Chiao PJ, Rands MT, Bruckheimer EM, Brisbay S, McDonnell TJ.Bcl-2 suppresses apoptosis resulting from disruption of the NF-kappa B survival pathway. Exp Cell Res 237: 101-109, 1997.
- Huang DC, Tschopp J, Strasser A. Bcl-2 does not inhibit cell death induced by the physiological Fas ligand: implications for the existence of type I and type II cells. Cell Death Differ 7: 754-755, 2000.
- Itoh H, Kobayashi R, Wakui H, Komatsuda A, Ohtani H, Miura AB, Otaka M, Masamune O, Andoh H, Koyama K, et al. Mammalian 60-kDa stress protein (chaperonin homolog). Identification, biochemical properties, and localization. J Biol Chem 1270: 13429-13435, 1995.
- Iwata K, Inayama T, Kato T. Effects of Spirulina platensis on plasma lipoprotein lipase activity in fructose-induced hyperlipidemic rats. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo). 36:165-171,1990.
- Jaattela M. Heat shock proteins as cellular lifeguards. Ann Med 31: 261-271, 1999.
- Jackson LM, Hawkey CJ. COX-2 selective nonsteroidal anti-Inflammatory drugs: do they really offe rany advantages? Drugs 59:1207-1216,2000.
- 99. Jeggo PA. DNA repair. PARP another guardian angel? Curr Biol 8:R49-51,1998.
- Ji ZN, Ye WC, Liu GQ, Huang Y.Inhibition of telomerase activity and bcl-2 expression in berbamine-induced apoptosis in HL-60 cells. Planta Med 68: 596-600, 2002.
- 101. Juin P, Hueber AO, Littlewood T, Evan G. **c-Myc-induced** sensitization to apoptosis is mediated through **cytochrome** *c* release. **Genes Dev** 13:1367-1381, 1999.
- 102. Jung TM, Dailey MO. A novel and inexpensive source of allophycocyanin for multicolor flow cytometry. J Immunol Methods 121: 9-18, 1989.
- Karim A, Tolbert D, Burton E. SC-58635 (celecoxib): a highly selective inhibitor of cyclooxygenase-2 disposition kinetics in man and identification of its major CYP450 isozyme in its biotransformation. Pharm Res 14:S-617 Abstract 3469,1997.
- Kato M, Toguchida J, Honda K, Sasaki MS, Ikenaga M, Sugimoto M, Yamaguchi T, Kotoura Y, Yamamuro T, Ishizaki K. Elevated frequency of a specific allele of the L-myc gene in male patients with bone and softtissue sarcomas. Int J Cancer 45: 47-49,1990.
- 105. Kato T, **Takemoto** K. Effects of spirulina on **hypercholesterolemia** and fatty liver in rats. **Japan Nutr Foods Assoc Journal.** 37: 323, 1984.
- Kawamori T, Rao CV, Seibert K, Reddy BS. Chemopreventive activity of celecoxib, a specific cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, against colon carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 58: 409-412,1998.
- 107. Kidd VJ, Lahti JM, Teitz T. Proteolytic regulation of apoptosis. Semin Cell Dev Biol.11: 191-201, 2000.
- Kiefer MC, Brauer MJ, Powers VC, Wu JJ, Umansky SR, Tomei LD, Barr PJ. Modulation of apoptosis by the widely distributed Bcl-2 homologue Bak. Nature 374: 736-739, 1995.

- Kim HM, Lee EH, Cho HH, Moon YH. Inhibitory effect of mast cellmediated immediate-type allergic reactions in rats by spirulina. Biochem Pharmacol 55: 1071-1076, 1998.
- Kim SH, Kim D, Jung GS, Urn JH, Chung BS, Kang CD. Involvement of c-Jun NH(2)-terminal kinase pathway in differential regulation of heat shock proteins by anticancer drugs. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 262: 516-522, 1999.
- 111. Kim NW, Piatyszek MA, Prowse KR, Harley CB, West MD, Ho PL, Coviello GM, Wright WE, Weinrich SL, Shay JW. Specific association of human telomerase activity with immortal cells and cancer. Science 266:2011-2015, 1994.
- 112. Kishimoto Y, Takata N, Jinnai T, Morisawa T, Shiota G, Kawasaki H, Hasegawa J. Sulindac and a cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, etodolac, increase APC mRNA in the colon of rats treated with azoxymethane. Gut 47: 812-819, 2000.
- **113.** Kirkpatrick KL, Mokbel K.The significance of human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) in cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol 27:754-760, 2001.
- Kluck RM, Bossy-Wetzel E, Green DR, Newmeyer DD. The release of cytochrome c from mitochondria: a primary site for Bcl-2 regulation of apoptosis. Science 275:1132-1136, 1997.
- 115. Knudson CM, Korsmeyer SJ. Bcl-2 and Bax function independently to regulate cell death. Nat Genet 16: 358-363,1997.
- Koomagi R, Stammler G, Manegold C, Mattern J, Volm M. Expression of resistance-related proteins in tumoral and pentumoral tissues of patients with lung cancer. Cancer Lett 110:129-136, 1996.
- 117. Kothakota S, Azuma T, Reinhard C, Klippel A, Tang J, Chu K, McGarry TJ, Kirschner MW, Koths K, Kwiatkowski DJ, Williams LT. Caspase-3-generated fragment of gelsolin : effector of morphological change in apoptosis. Science 278: 294-298, 1997.
- 118. Kuppers R, Dalla-Favera R. Mechanisms of chromosomal translocations in B-cell lymphomas. Oncogene 20: 5580-5594, 2001.
- 119. Kurumbail RG, Stevens AM, Gierse JK, McDonald JJ, Stegeman RA, Pak JY, Gildehaus D, Miyashiro JM, Penning TD, Seibert K, Isakson PC, Stallings WC. Structural basis for selective inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 by anti-inflammatory agents. Nature 384: 644-648, 1996.

- 120. Laemmli UK. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophageT4. Nature 227.680-685, 1970.
- Landschulz WH, Johnson PF, McKnight SL.The leucine zipper: a hypothetical structure common to a new class of DNA binding proteins. Science 240:1759-1764,1988.
- Landschulz WH, Johnson PF, McKnight SL.The leucine zipper: a hypothetical structure common to a new class of DNA binding proteins. Science 240: 1759-1764, 1988.
- Lazebnik YA, Kaufmann SH, Desnoyers S, Poirier GG, Earnshaw WC. Cleavage of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase by a proteinase with properties like ICE. Nature 371: 346-347, 1994.
- 124. Lecoeur H. Nuclear apoptosis detection by flow cytometry: influence of endogenous endonucleases. Exp Cell Res 277:1-14, 2002.
- 125. Levitzki A, Gazit A.Tyrosine kinase inhibition: an approach to drug development. Science 267:1782-1788. 1995.
- 126. Levitzki A. Signal-transduction therapy. A novel approach to disease management. Eur J Biochem 226: 1-13,1994.
- Levitzki A. Tyrphostins: tyrosine kinase blockers as novel antiproliferative agents and dissectors of signal transduction. FASEB J 6: 3275-3282, 1992.
- 128. Levitzki A. Tyrphostins-potential antiproliferative agents and novel molecular tools. **Biochem Pharmacol** 40: **913-918**, 1990.
- Levitzki A.Signal transduction interception as a novel approach to disease management. Ann N Y Acad Sci 766: 363-388,1995.
- Li P, Nijhawan D, Budihardjo I, Srinivasula SM, Ahmad M, Alnemri ES, Wang X. Cytochrome c and dATP-dependent formation of Apaf-1/caspase-9 complex initiates an apoptotic proteasecascade. Cell 91 :479-489, 1997.
- 131. Li M, Wu X, Xu XC. Induction of apoptosis by cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitor NS398 through a cytochrome C-dependent pathway in esophageal cancer cells. Int J Cancer 93: 218-223, 2001.
- 132. Lindquist S. The heat-shock response. Annu Rev Biochem 55. 1151-1191, 1986.

- Liu X, Kim CN, Yang J, Jemmerson R, Wang X. Induction of apoptotic program in cell-free extracts: requirement for dATP and cytochrome c. Cell 86:147-157, 1996.
- Liu KZ, Schultz CP, Johnston JB, Lee K, Mantsch HH.Comparison of infrared spectra of CLL cells with their ex vivo sensitivity (MTT assay) to chlorambucil and cladribine. Leuk Res 21: 1125-1133, 1997.
- Liu X, Zou H, Slaughter C, Wang X. DFF, a heterodimeric protein that functions downstream of caspase-3 to trigger DNA fragmentation during apoptosis. Cell 89: 175-184, 1997.
- Liu X, Li P, Widlak P, Zou H, Luo X, Garrard WT, Wang X. The 40-kDa subunit of DNA fragmentation factor induces DNA fragmentation and chromatin condensation during apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95: 8461-8466, 1998.
- Liu K, Schoonmaker MM, Levine BL, June CH, Hodes RJ, Weng NP.Constitutive and regulated expression of telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) in human lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96:5147-5152, 1999.
- Liu XH, Yao S, Kirschenbaum A, Levine AC. NS398, a selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, induces apoptosis and down-regulates bcl-2 expression in LNCaP cells. Cancer Res 58: 4245-4249,1998.
- Liu Y, Xu L, Cheng N, Lin L and Zhang C. Inhibitory effect of phycocyanin from *Spirulina platensis* on the growth of human leukemia K562 cells. J Appl Phycology 12: 125-130, 2000.
- 140. Lozzio CB, Lozzio BB.Human chronic myelogenous leukemia cell-line with positive Philadelphia chromosome. Blood. 45:321-34, 1975.
- Luong C, Miller A, Barnett J, Chow J, Ramesha C, Browner MF. Flexibility of the NSAID binding site in the structure of human cyclooxygenase-2. Nat Struct Biol 3: 927-933, 1996.
- 142. Lyu SY, Choi SH, Park WB. Korean mistletoe lectin-induced apoptosis in hepatocarcinoma cells is associated with inhibition of telomerase via mitochondrial controlled pathway independent o fp53. Arch Pharm Res 25:93-101,2002.
- Martin SJ, O'Brien GA, Nishioka WK, McGahon AJ, Mahboubi A, Saido TC, Green DR. Proteolysis of fodrin (non-erythroid spectrin) during apoptosis. J Biol Chem. 270: 6425-6428, 1995.

- 144. **Martinou** JC, Desagher S, Antonsson B. Cytochrome c release from mitochondria: all or nothing. Nat Cell Biol 2: E41-E43, 2000.
- Mashima T, Naito M, Noguchi K, Miller DK, Nicholson DW, Tsuruo T. Actin cleavage by CPP-32/apopain during the development of apoptosis. Oncogene14: 1007-1012, 1997.
- McDonnell TJ, Troncoso P, Brisbay SM, Logothetis C, Chung LW, Hsieh JT, Tu SM, Campbell ML. Expression of the protooncogene bcl-2 in the prostate and its association with emergence of androgen-independent prostate cancer. Cancer Res 52: 6940-6944, 1992.
- McGahon A, Bissonnette R, Schmitt M, Cotter KM, Green DR and Cotter TG. BCR-ABL maintains resistance of chronic myelogenous leukemia cells to apoptotic cell death. Blood 83:1179-1187,1994.
- 148. Menissier de Murcia J, Ricoul M, Tartier L, Niedergang C, Huber A, Dantzer F, Schreiber V, Ame JC, Dierich A, LeMeur M, Sabatier L, Chambon P, de Murcia G. Functional interaction between PARP-1 and PARP-2 in chromosome stability and embryonic development in mouse. EMBO J 22: 2255-2263, 2003.
- Menissier-de Murcia J, Molinete M, Gradwohl G, Simonin F, de Murcia G. Zinc-binding domain of poly(ADP-ribose)polymerase participates in the recognition of single strand breaks on DNA. J Mol Biol 210: 229-233, 1989.
- 150. Meyerson M, Counter CM, Eaton EN, Ellisen LW, Steiner P, Caddie SD, Ziaugra L, Beijersbergen RL, Davidoff MJ, Liu Q, Bacchetti S, Haber DA, Weinberg RA. hEST2, the putative human telomerase catalytic subunit gene, is up-regulated in tumor cells and during immortalization. Cell 90:785-795, 1997.
- Miller NJ, Rice-Evans C, Davies MJ, Gopinathan V, Milner A.A novel method for measuring antioxidant capacity and its application to monitoring the antioxidant status in premature neonates. Clin Sci (London) 84: 407-412,1993.
- Miranda MS, Cintra RG, Barros SB, Mancini Filho J. Antioxidant activity of the microalga Spirulina maxima. Braz J Med Biol Res 31: 1075-1079, 1998.
- 153. Mishima T, Murata J, Toyoshima M, Fujii H, Nakajima M, Hayashi T, Kato T, Saiki I. Inhibition of tumor invasion and metastasis by calcium spirulan (Ca-SP), a novel sulfated polysaccharide derived from a blue-green alga, *Spirulina platensis*. Clin Exp Metastasis 16: 541-550,1998.

- 154. Morcos NC and henry WI. Medical treatments of tumors with phycocyanin. United States patent # 5, 163: 898, 1992.
- Morcos NC, Berns M and Henry WL. Phycocyanin: laser activation, cytotoxic effect, and uptake in human artherosclerotic plaque. Laser Surg Med 8: 10-17, 1988.
- Morris G, DeNardo SJ, DeNardo GL, Leshchinsky T, Wu B, Mack PC, Winthrop MD, Gumerlock PH. Decreased C-MYC and BCL2 expression correlates with methylprednisolone-mediated inhibition of Raji lymphoma growth. Biochem Mol Med 60:108-115, 1997.
- Mosmann T, Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. J Immunol Methods 65: 55-63, 1983.
- **158.** Mosser DD, Caron AW, Bourget L, Denis-Larose C, Massie B. Role of the human heat shock protein hsp70 in protection against stress-induced apoptosis. **Mol Cell Biol** 17: 5317-5327, 1997.
- Moyzis RK, Buckingham JM, Cram LS, Dani M, Deaven LL, Jones MD, Meyne J, Ratliff RL, Wu JR. A highly conserved repetitive DNA sequence, (TTAGGG)n, present at the **telomeres** of human chromosomes. **Proc** Natl Acad Sci USA. 85:6622-6626, 1988.
- Murre C, McCaw PS, Vaessin H, Caudy M, Jan LY, Jan YN, Cabrera CV, Buskin JN, Hauschka SD, Lassar AB, et al. Interactions between heterologous helix-loop-helix proteins generate complexes that bind specifically to a common DNA sequence. Cell 58: 537-544,1989.
- Nakajima M, Kuwano H, Miyazaki T, Masuda N, Kato H. Significant correlation between expression of heat shock proteins 27, 70 and lymphocyte infiltration in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Lett 178: 99-106, 2002.
- Nau MM, Brooks BJ, Battey J, Sausville E, Gazdar AF, Kirsch IR, McBride OW, Bertness V, Hollis GF, Minna JD. L-myc, a new myc-related gene amplified and expressed in human small Icell lung cancer. Nature 318:69-73, 1985.
- 163. Nesbit CE, Tersak JM, Prochownik EV. MYC oncogenes and human neoplastic disease. **Oncogene** 18: 3004-3016,1999.
- 164. Nicholson DW, Thornberry NA. Caspases: killer proteases. Trends Biochem Sci 22: 299-306, 1997.

- Nicoletti I, Migliorati G, Pagliacci MC, Grignani F, Riccardi C. A rapid and simple method for measuring thymocyte apoptosis by propidium iodide staining and flow cytometry. J Immunol Methods 139:271-279, 1991.
- 166. Nishizuka Y. Turnover of inositol phospholipids and signal transduction. Science 225: 1365-1370, 1984.
- Noda H, Amano H, Arashima K, Hashimoto S and Nishizawa K. Studies on the antitumor activity of marine algae. Bull Jap Soc Sci Fish 55:1254-1264, 1989.
- Oberhammer F, Wilson JW, Dive C, Morris ID, Hickman JA, Wakeling AE, Walker PR, Sikorska M. Apoptotic death in epithelial cells: cleavage of DNA to 300 and/or 50 kb fragments prior to or in the absence of internucleosomal fragmentation. EMBO J 12: 3679-3684, 1993.
- Olie RA, Durrieu F, Cornillon S, Loughran G, Gross J, Earnshaw WC, Golstein P. Apparent caspase independence of programmed cell death in Dictyostelium. Curr Biol 8: 955-958,1998.
- Oltvai ZN, Milliman CL, Korsmeyer SJ. Bcl-2 heterodimerizes in vivo with a conserved homolog, Bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. Cell 74:609-619, 1993.
- Oshima M, Dinchuk JE, Kargman SL, Oshima H, Hancock B, Kwong E, Trzaskos JM, Evans JF, Taketo MM. Suppression of intestinal polyposis in Apc delta716 knockout mice by inhibition of cyclooxygenase 2(COX-2). Cell 87:803-809,1996.
- 172. Oshima M, Murai N, Kargman S, Arguello M, Luk P, Kwong E, Taketo MM, Evans JF. Chemoprevention of intestinal polyposis in the Apcdelta716 mouse by rofecoxib, a specific cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor. Cancer Res 61:1733-1740, 2001.
- 173. **Packham** G, Cleveland JL. Ornithine decarboxylase is a mediator of c-Myc-induced apoptosis. **Mol Cell Biol** 14: 5741-5747,1994.
- 174. Pardhasaradhi BW, Mubarak Ali A, Leela Kumari A, Reddanna P, Ashok Khar, Phycocyanin mediated apoptosis in AK-5 tumor cells involves downregulation of Bcl-2 and generation of ROS, Mol. Cancer Ther, 2003 (in press).
- Paredes-Carbajal MC, Torres-Duran PV, Diaz-Zagoya JC, Mascher D, Juarez-Oropeza MA. Effects of dietary Spirulina maxima on endothelium dependent vasomotor responses o f rat aortic rings. Life Sci 61:PL 211-PL219, 1997.

- 176. Pelham HR. Speculations on the functions of the major heat shock and glucose-regulatedproteins. Cell 46: 959-961, 1986.
- 177. Penning TD, Talley JJ, Bertenshaw SR, Carter JS, Collins PW, Docter S, Graneto MJ, Lee LF, Malecha JW, Miyashiro JM, Rogers RS, Rogier DJ, Yu SS, AndersonGD, Burton EG, Cogburn JN, Gregory SA, Koboldt CM, Perkins WE, Seibert K, Veenhuizen AW, Zhang YY, Isakson PC. Synthesis and biological evaluation of the 1,5-diarylpyrazole class of cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors: identification of 4-[5-(4-methylphenyl)-3-(trifluoromethyl)-1H-pyrazol-1-yl] benze nesulfonamide (SC-58635, celecoxib). J Med Chem 40:1347-1365,1997.
- 178. Pettmann B, Henderson CE. Neuronal cell death. Neuron. 20: 633-647, 1998.
- 179. Petit PX, Susin SA, Zamzami N, Mignotte B, Kroemer G.Mitochondria and programmed cell death: back to the future. FEBS Lett. 396:7-13, 1996.
- Pieper AA, Verma A, Zhang J, Snyder SH. Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase, nitric oxide and cell death. Trends Pharmacol Sci 20:171-181, 1999.
- Protti MP, Heltai S, Bellone M, Ferrarini M, Manfredi AA, Rugarli C. Constitutive expression of the heat shock protein 72 kDa in human melanoma cells. Cancer Lett 85: 211-216, 1994.
- 182. Pullen GR, Chalmers PJ, Nind AP, Nairn RC. Criteria of cell killing in vitro. J Immunol Methods 43: 87-93, 1981.
- 183. Rabbits TH. Chromosomal translocations in human cancer. Nature 372:143-149,1994.
- 184. Rao CV, Tokumo K, Rigotty J, Zang E, Kelloff G, Reddy BS. Chemoprevention of colon carcinogenesis by dietary administration of piroxicam, alpha-difluoromethylornithine, 16 alpha-fluoro-5-androsten-17one, and eilagic acid individually and in combination. Cancer Res 51:4528-34, 1991.
- Reddy BS, Hirose Y, Lubet R, Steele V, Kelloff G, Paulson S, Seibert K, Rao CV. Chemoprevention of colon cancer by specific cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, celecoxib, administered during different stages of carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 60: 293-297, 2000.
- Reddy BS, Rao CV, Rivenson A, Kelloff G. Inhibitory effect of aspirin on azoxymethane-induced colon carcinogenesis in F344 rats. Carcinogenesis 14:1493-1497, 1993.

- 187. Reddy CM, Bhat VB, Kiranmai G, Reddy MN, Reddanna P, Madyastha KM. Selective inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 by C-phycocyanin, a biliprotein from *Spirulina platensis*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 277: 599-603, 2000.
- Reddy CM, Subhashini J, Mahipal SVK, Bhat VB, Srinivas Reddy P, Kiranmai G, Madyastha KM, Reddanna P. C-Phycocyanin, a selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, induces apoptosis in lipopolysaccharidestimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 304: 385-392, 2003.
- Reed DW, Bradshaw WS, Xie W, Simmons DL. In vivo and in vitro expression of a non-mammalian cyclooxygenase-1. Prostaglandins 52: 269-284, 1996.
- 190. Reed JC. Bcl-2 and the regulation of programmed cell death. J Cell Biol 124:1-6, 1994.
- 191. Rimbau V, Camins A, Pubill D, Sureda FX, Romay C, Gonzalez R, Jimenez A, Escubedo E, Camarasa J, Pallas M. C-phycocyanin protects cerebellar granule cells from low potassium/serum deprivation-induced apoptosis. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 364: 96-104, 2001.
- Rimbau V, Camins A, Romay C, Gonzalez R, Pallas M. Protective effects of C-phycocyanin against kainic acid-induced neuronal damage in rat hippocampus. Neurosci Lett 276:75-78,1999.
- 193. Riou D, Colliec-Jouaults S, pinczon du Sel D, Bosch S, Siavoshian S, Le Bert V, Tomasoni C, Sinquin C, Durand P and Roussakis C. Antitumor and antiproliferative effects of a fucan extracted from ascophyllum nodosum against a non-small-cell bronchopulmonary carcinoma line. Anticancer Res 16: 1213-1218, 1996.
- Ristimaki A, Honkanen N, Jankala H, Sipponen P, Harkonen M.Expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in human gastric carcinoma. Cancer Res 57:1276-1280, 1997.
- Romay C, Armesto J, Remirez D, Gonzalez R, Ledon N, Garcia I.Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of C-phycocyanin from blue-green algae. Inflamm Res 47: 36-41,1998.
- Romay C, Gonzalez R. Phycocyanin is an antioxidant protector of human erythrocytes against lysis by peroxyl radicals. J Pharm Pharmacol 52:367-368, 2000.

- Romay C, Ledon N, Gonzalez R. Further studies on anti-inflammatory activity of phycocyanin in some animal models of inflammation. Inflamm Res 47: 334-338,1998.
- Rowley JD. A new consistent chromosomal abnormality in chronic myelogenous leukemia idenfied by quinacrine fluorescence and Giemsa staining. Nature 243: 290-293,1973.
- Rowley JD. The role of chromosome translocations in leukemogenesis. Semin Hematol 36:59-72,1999.
- Rusnak JM, Calmels TP, Hoyt DG, Kondo Y, Yalowich JC, Lazo JS. Genesis of discrete higher order DNA fragments in apoptotic human prostatic carcinoma cells. Mol Pharmacol 49: 244-252, 1996.
- Sadnori M, Hiroyoshi M, Kyoko N, Fuminori K. Effect of seaweed preparations on murine immunocytes. J Appl Phycol 5: 629-637, 1993.
- Sakahira H, Enari M, Nagata S. Cleavage of CAD inhibitor in CAD activation and DNA degradation during apoptosis. Nature 391: 96-99, 1998.
- Sakamuro D, Eviner V, Elliott KJ, Showe L, White E, Prendergast GC. c-Myc induces apoptosis in epithelial cells by both p53-dependent and p53independent mechanisms. Oncogene 11: 2411-2418, 1995.
- Salgia R, Li JL, Ewaniuk DS, Pear W, Pisick E, Burky SA, Ernst T, Sattler M, Chen LB and Griffin JD. BCR/ABL induces multiple abnormalities of cytoskeleton function. J Clin Invest 100: 46-57, 1997.
- Samali A, Cai J, Zhivotovsky B, Jones DP, Orrenius S. Presence of a preapoptotic complex of pro-caspase-3, Hsp60 and Hsp10 in the mitochondrial fraction of jurkat cells. EMBO J 18: 2040-2048, 1999.
- 206. Sambrook J, Frotsch CF, Maniatis T. Molecular cloning. Plain view : Coldspring Harbour: 1989.
- Sawaoka H, Kawano S, Tsuji S, Tsuji M, Gunawan ES, Takei Y, Nagano K, Hori M. Cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors suppress the growth of gastric cancer xenografts via induction of apoptosis in nude mice. Am J Physiol 274: G1061-G1067, 1998.
- Schwab M, Varmus HE, Bishop JM. Human N-myc gene contributes to neoplastic transformation of mammalian cells in culture. Nature.316:160-162,1985.

- Schwartz J, Shklar G, Reid S, Trickier D. Prevention of experimental oral cancer by extracts of Spirulina-Dunaliella algae. Nutr Cancer 11:127-134,1988.
- Schwartz J, Shklar G. Regression of experimental hamster cancer by beta carotene and algae extracts. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 45: 510-515,1987.
- Shah GM, Shah RG, Poirier GG. Different cleavage pattern of poly (ADP-Ribose) ploymerase during necrosis and apoptosis in HL60 cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 229: 838-844,1996.
- Sheiness D, Bishop JM. DNA and RNA from uninfected vertebrate cells contain nucleotide sequences related to the putative transforming gene of avian myelocytomatosis virus. J Virol 31: 514-521,1979.
- Sheiness D, Fanshier L, Bishop JM. Identification of nucleotide sequences which may encode the oncogenic capacity of avian retrovirus MC29.
 J Virol. 28: 600-610,1978.
- Sheng H, Shao J, Kirkland SC, Isakson P, Coffey RJ, Morrow J, Beauchamp RD, DuBois RN. Inhibition of human colon cancer cell growth by selective inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2. J Clin Invest 99:2254-2259, 1997.
- Sheng H, Shao J, Morrow JD, Beauchamp RD, DuBois RN. Modulation of apoptosis and Bcl-2 expression by prostaglandin E2 in human colon cancer cells. Cancer Res 58:362-366, 1998.
- Shi Y, Glynn JM, Guilbert LJ, Cotter TG, Bissonnette RP, Green DR. Role for c-myc in activation-induced apoptotic cell death in T cell hybridomas.Science 257: 212-214,1992.
- Shiff SJ, Qiao L, Tsai LL, Rigas B. Sulindac sulfide, an aspirin-like compound, inhibits proliferation, causes cell cycle quiescence, and induces apoptosis in HT-29 colon adenocarcinoma cells. J Clin Invest. 96: 491-503, 1995.
- Shim H, Chun YS, Lewis BC, Dang CV. A unique glucose-dependent apoptotic pathway induced by c-Myc. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95:1511-1516,1998.
- Shimokawa T, Smith WL. Expression of prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase-1 in a baculovirus system. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 183: 975-982, 1992.

- Simon LS and Smith TJ. NSAID mechanisms of action, efficacy, and relative safety. Postgrda Med Special Rep 12-16,1998.
- Smalley WE, DuBois RN. Colorectal cancer and nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs. Adv Pharmacol 39:1-20, 1997.
- Smith WL, Garavito RM, DeWitt DL. Prostaglandin endoperoxide H synthases (cyclooxygenases)-1 and -2. J Biol Chem 271: 33157-33160, 1996.
- Spotts GD, Patel SV, Xiao Q, Hann SR. Identification of downstreaminitiated c-Myc proteins which are dominant-negative inhibitors of transactivation by full-length c-Myc proteins. Mol Cell Biol 17: 1459-1468,1997.
- 224. Stammler G, Volm M. Expression of heat shock proteins, glutathione peroxidase and catalase in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia and nephroblastoma. Cancer Lett 99:35-42, 1996.
- Staunton MJ, Gaffney EF. Apoptosis: basic concepts and potential significance in human cancer. Arch Pathol Lab Med 122: 310-319, 1998.
- Steinbach G, Lynch PM, Phillips RK, Wallace MH, Hawk E, Gordon GB, Wakabayashi N, Saunders B, Shen Y, Fujimura T, Su LK, Levin B. The effect of celecoxib, a cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, in familial adenomatous polyposis. N Engl J Med.26: 1946-1952, 2000.
- Strasser A, Puthalakath H, Bouillet P, Huang DC, O'Connor L, O'Reilly LA, Cullen L, Cory S, Adams JM. The role of bim, a proapoptotic BH3only member of the Bcl-2 family in cell-death control. Ann N Y Acad Sci 917: 541-548, 2000.
- Stryckmans P, Debusscher L and Socquet M. Regulation of bone marrow myeloblast proliferation in chronic myeloid leukemia. Cancer Res 36: 3034-3038,1976.
- Susin SA, Zamzami N, Kroemer G. Mitochondria as regulators of apoptosis: doubt no more. Biochim Biophys Acta 1366:151-165, 1998.
- Snyderman CH, Abbas MM, Wagner R, D'Amico F. Inhibition of growth of a murine carcinoma squamous cell by a cyclooxygenase inhibitor increases leukotriene B4 production. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 121:1017-1020, 1995.
- Szabo C, Dawson VL. Role of poly(ADP-ribose) synthetase in inflammation and chaemia-reperfusion. Trends Pharmacol Sci 19: 287-298, 1998.

- Szabo I, Zoratti M. The giant channel of the inner mitochondrial membrane is inhibited by cyclosporin A. J Biol Chem 266:3376-3379, 1991.
- 233. Szabo I, Zoratti M. The mitochondrial megachannel is the permeability transition pore. J Bioenerg Biomembr 24: 111-117, 1992.
- Takahashi M, Fukutake M, Yokota S, Ishida K, Wakabayashi K, Sugimura T. Suppression of azoxymethane-induced aberrant crypt foci in rat colon by nimesulide, a selective inhibitor of cyclooxygenase2. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 122: 219-222,1996.
- Tanaka Y, Yoshihara K, Itaya A, Kamiya T, Koide SS. Mechanism of the inhibition of Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺-dependent endonuclease of bull seminal plasma induced by ADP-ribosylation. J Biol Chem 259: 6579-6585, 1984.
- Tang D, Kidd VJ. Cleavage of DFF-45/ICAD by multiple caspases is essential for its function during apoptosis. J Biol Chem 273: 28549-28552, 1998.
- 237. Tegeder I, Pfeilschifter J, Geisslinger G. Cyclooxygenase-independent actions of cyclooxygenase inhibitors. **FASEB J 15**: 2057-2072, 2001.
- Thompson CB, Challoner PB, Neiman PE, Groudine M. Levels of c-myc oncogene mRNA are invariant through out the cell cycle. Nature 314: 363-6,1985.
- 239. Thompson EB. The many roles of c-Myc in apoptosis. **Annu Rev Physiol** 60: 575-600, 1998.
- Thornberry NA .Caspases : key mediators of apoptosis. Chem Biol 5: R97-R103, 1998.
- 241. Thornberry NA, Lazebnik Y. Caspases:enemies within. Science 281:1312-1316,1998.
- Thun MJ, Henley SJ, Patrono C. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs as anticancer agents:mechanistic, pharmacologic, and clinical issues. J Natl Cancer Inst 94: 252-266, 2002.
- Thun MJ, Namboodiri MM, Heath CW Jr.Aspirin use and reduced risk of fatal colon cancer. N Engl J Med. 325:1593-1596,1991.
- 244. Thun MJ, Namboodiri MM, Calle EE, Flanders WD, Heath CW Jr. Aspirin use and risk of fatal cancer. Cancer Res 53: 1322-1327, 1993.

- Torres-Duran PV, Miranda-Zamora R, Paredes-Carbajal MC, Mascher D, Diaz-Zagoya JC, Juarez-Oropeza MA. Spirulina maxima prevents induction of fatty liver by carbon tetra chloride in the rat. Biochem Mol Biol Int 44: 787-793,1998.
- Tseng CJ, Wang YJ, Liang YC, Jeng JH, Lee WS, Lin JK, Chen CH, Liu IC, Ho YS. Microtubule damaging agents induce apoptosis in HL 60 cells and G2/M cell cycle arrest in HT 29 cells. Toxicology 175:123-142, 2002.
- 247. Tsujii M, Kawano S, Tsuji S, Sawaoka H, Hori M, DuBois RN. Cyclooxygenase regulates angiogenesis induced by colon cancer cells. Cell 93: 705-716. 1998.
- 248. Tsujimoto Y, Shimizu S. VDAC regulation by the Bcl-2 family of proteins. Cell Death Differ 7:1174-1781, 2000.
- Tucker ON, Dannenberg AJ, Yang EK, Zhang F, Teng L, Daly JM, Soslow RA, Masferrer JL, Woerner BM, Koki AT, Fahey TJ 3rd.Cyclooxygenase-2 expression is up-regulated in human pancreatic cancer. Cancer Res 59: 987-990. 1999.
- Urbano A, McCaffrey R, Foss F. Isolation and characterization of NUC70, a cytoplasmic, hematopoietic apoptotic endonuclease. J Biol Chem 273:34820-34827, 1998.
- 251. Vadiraja BB, Madyastha KM.C-phycocyanin: a potent peroxyl radical scavenger in vivo and in vitro. **Biochem Biophys Res Commun** 275:20-25, 2000.
- Vadiraja BB, Gaikwad NW, Madyastha KM.Hepatoprotective effect of Cphycocyanin: protection for carbon tetrachloride and R-(+)-pulegonemediated hepatotoxicty in rats. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 249: 428-431, 1998.
- 253. Vane JR. COX-2 inhibitors: background knowledge for clinical use. Introduction. Inflamm Res 47: S77, 1998.
- Vaziri H, Dragowska W, Allsopp RC, Thomas TE, Harley CB, Lansdorp PM. Evidence for a mitotic clock in human hematopoietic stem cells: loss of telomeric DNA with age. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91:9857-9860, 1994.
- Vermes I, Haanen C, Reutelingsperger C. Flow cytometry of apoptotic cell death. J Immunol Methods 243. 167-190, 2000.

- Von Ahsen O, Waterhouse NJ, Kuwana T, Newmeyer DD, Green DR. The 'harmless' release of cytochrome c. Cell Death Differ 7:1192-1199, 2000.
- Wang J, Liu X, Jiang W, Liang L. Telomerase activity and expression of the telomerase catalytic subunit gene in non-small cell lung cancer: correlation with decreased apoptosis and clinical prognosis. Chin Med J (England) 113: 985-990, 2000.
- Wang X, Zhang Q, Wang B. Effect of expression of c-myc gene on hyperplasia of smooth muscle cells in vein graft in rat **Zhonghua Yi Xue** Za Zhi. 79:381-383,1999.
- Watson AJ. Chemopreventive effects of NSAIDs against colorectal cancer: regulation of apoptosis and mitosis by COX-1 and COX-2. Histol Histopathol 13 :591-597. 1998.
- Wolff H, Saukkonen K, Anttila S, Karjalainen A, Vainio H, Ristimaki A. Expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in human lung carcinoma. Cancer Res 58:4997-5001,1998.
- Wu M, Arsura M, Bellas RE, FitzGerald MJ, Lee H, Schauer SL, Sherr DH, Sonenshein GE. Inhibition of c-myc expression induces apoptosis of WEHI 231 murine B cells. Mol Cell Biol 16:5015-5025,1996.
- Wurm FM, Gwinn KA, Kingston RE. Inducible overproduction of the mouse c-myc protein in mammalian cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83: 5414-5418,1986.
- Wyllie AH, Rose KA, Morris RG, Steel CM, Foster E, Spandidos DA.Rodent fibroblast tumours expressing human myc and ras genes: growth, metastasis and endogenous oncogene expression. Br J Cancer 56: 251-259, 1987.
- 264. Wyllie AH. Glucocorticoid-induced thymocyte apoptosis is associated with endogenous endonuclease activation. **Nature** 284: 555-556, 1980.
- Xanthoudakis S, Roy S, Rasper D, Hennessey T, Aubin Y, Cassady R, Tawa P, Ruel R, Rosen A, Nicholson DW. Hsp60 accelerates the maturation of pro-caspase-3 by upstream activator proteases during apoptosis. EMBO J 18: 2049-2056, 1999.
- 266. Xiao Q, Claassen G, Shi J, Adachi S, Sedivy J, Hann SR. Transactivation-defective c-MycS retains the ability to regulate proliferation and apoptosis. Genes Dev 12: 3803-3808,1998.

- 267. Yamamoto K, Okamoto A, Isonishi S, Ochiai K, Ohtake Y. Heat shock protein 27 was up-regulated in cisplatin resistant human ovarian tumor cell line and associated with the cisplatin resistance. Cancer Lett 168: 173-181,2001.
- Yang E, Zha J, Jockel J, Boise LH, Thompson CB, Korsmeyer SJ. Bad, a heterodimeric partner for Bcl-XL and Bcl-2, displaces Bax and promotes cell death. Cell 80: 285-291,1995.
- Yang E, Zha J, Jockel J, Boise LH, Thompson CB, Korsmeyer SJ. Bad, a heterodimeric partner for Bcl-XL and Bcl-2, displaces Bax and promotes cell death. Cell 80:285-291, 1995.
- Yang HN, Lee EH, Kim HM. Spirulina platensis inhibits anaphylactic reaction. Life Sci 61:1237-1244,1997.
- Yang J, Liu X, Bhalla K, Kim CN, Ibrado AM, Cai J, Peng TI, Jones DP, Wang X.Prevention of apoptosis by Bcl-2: release of cytochrome c from mitochondria blocked. Science 275:1129-1132, 1997.
- Yano H, Mizoguchi A, Fukuda K, Haramaki M, Ogasawara S, Momosaki S, Kojiro M. The herbal medicine sho-saiko-to inhibits proliferation of cancer cell lines by inducing apoptosis and arrest at the G0/G1 phase. Cancer Res 54 :448-454, 1994.
- Yano M, Naito Z, Tanaka S, Asano G. Expression and roles of heat shock proteins in human breast cancer. Jpn J Cancer Res 87: 908-915, 1996.
- Yin XM. Signal transduction mediated by Bid, a pro-death Bcl-2 family proteins, connects the death receptor and mitochondria apoptosis pathways. Cell Res 10: 161-167, 2000.
- Yin XM, Oltvai ZN, Korsmeyer SJ. BH1 and BH2 domains of Bcl-2 are required for inhibition of apoptosis and heterodimerization with Bax. Nature 369:321-323, 1994.
- Yoshihara K, Tanigawa Y, Koide SS. Inhibition of rat liver Ca2+, Mg2+dependent endonuclease activity by nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide and poly (adenosine diphosphate ribose) synthetase. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 59: 658-665, 1974.
- Yoshihara K, Tanigawa Y, Koide SS. Proceedings: ADP-ribosylation of Ca ²⁺, Mg ²⁺-dependentendonuclease by poly(ADP-ribose) synthetase. J Biochem (Tokyo) 77:10, 1975.
- Yoshimi N, Shimizu M, Matsunaga K, Yamada Y, Fujii K, Hara A, Mori H. Chemopreventive effect of N-(2-cyclohexyloxy-4-nitrophenyl)methane

sulfonamide (NS-398), a selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, in rat colon carcinogenesis induced by azoxymethane. Jpn J Cancer Res 90: 406-412,1999.

- Zakeri ZF, Quaglino D, Latham T, Lockshin RA. Delayed internucleosomal DNA fragmentation in programmed cell death. FASEB J 7:470-478, 1993.
- Zamzami N, Susin SA, Marchetti P, Hirsch T, Gomez-Monterrey I, Castedo M, Kroemer G. Mitochondrial control of nuclear apoptosis. J Exp Med 83:1533-44, 1996.
- 281. Zhang C, Cheng-Wu et al, The Effects of Polysaccharide and Phycocyanin from Spirulina platensis variety on Peripheral blood and Hematopoietic system of Bone Marrow in Mice. Second Asia-Pacific Conference on Alga Biotechnology, April 25-27, 1994, p.58.
- Zhang G, Tu C, Zhang G, Zhou G, Zheng W. Indomethacin induces apoptosis and inhibits proliferation in chronic myeloid leukemia cells. Leuk Res. 24: 385-392, 2000.
- Zhang X, Morham SG, Langenbach R, Young DA. Malignant transformation and antineoplastic actions of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) on cyclooxygenase-null embryo fibroblasts. J Exp Med 190:451-459, 1999.
- Zimmermann KC, Sarbia M, Weber AA, Borchard F, Gabbert HE, Schror K.Cyclooxygenase-2 expression in human esophageal carcinoma. Cancer Res 59: 198-204,1999.